
SPECIAL MEETING AGENDA
Please silence all electronic devices as a courtesy to those in attendance.  Thank you.

a. CALL TO ORDER
b. INVOCATION
c. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
d. ROLL CALL
e. AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS

CLOSED SESSION

1. Government Code Section 54956.9
Conference with Legal Counsel – Anticipated Litigation
Initiation of Litigation Pursuant to Paragraph (4) of Subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9
One Case

1 – STUDY SESSION

SS-1 Review of Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Draft Proposed Budget (Speer)

PUBLIC COMMENT
Public comment will be in accordance with the attached policy. This time is reserved for members of the audience to address 
the City Council on items of interest that are not on the Agenda and are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Council.  It is 
recommended that speakers limit their comments to three (3) minutes each and it is requested that no comments be made during 
this period on items on the Agenda. The Council is prohibited by law from taking any action on matters discussed that are not on the 
Agenda.  Prior to addressing the Council, any handouts for Council will be provided to the City Clerk for distribution to the Council
and appropriate staff. The public will have an opportunity to comment on items on the agenda once the item has been called and the 
Mayor opens the item to the public.

2 – CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION 

No Ceremonies or Presentations. 

3 – DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS 

3-1 Department & City Manager Reports

4 – CONSENT CALENDAR
Items considered routine in nature are placed on the Consent Calendar.  They will all be considered and voted upon in one vote as 

one item unless a Council member or member of the public requests individual consideration.

4-1 Approval – Minutes – Regular Meeting – May 16, 2023
4-2 Approval – Second Reading – Ordinance 2023-02 – Adopting Zoning Map Amendment

No. 2023-01, Changing a Portion of the Zoning Map from Mixed-Use (MU) to Regional 

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA

LEMOORE CITY COUNCIL
COUNCIL CHAMBER 

429 C STREET 
June 19, 2023 

5:30 P.M.

1



Commercial (RC) and Light Industrial (ML) Located at the Northeast Corner of 19th 
Avenue and Iona Avenue in the City of Lemoore 

4-3 Approval – Appointment of Lemoore Parks and Recreation Commissioner 
4-4 Approval – Facility Rental Fee Reduction for the Kings County Elections Office for the 

2024 Election Cycle 
 

5 – PUBLIC HEARINGS 
Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken. 

 
5-1 Public Hearing – Resolution 2023-16 – Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of 

Additional Territories (Tract 820) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the 
City of Lemoore and Confirming the Diagram and Assessment of Annual Levy for 
Fiscal Year 2023-2024 for an Additional Territory Annexed to and Included to Public 
Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 (Reeder) 

5-2 Public Hearing – Resolution 2023-17 – Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of 
Additional Territories (Tract 848) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the 
City of Lemoore and Confirming the Diagram and Assessment of Annual Levy for 
Fiscal Year 2023-2024 for an Additional Territory Annexed to and Included to Public 
Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 (Reeder) 

 
6 – NEW BUSINESS 

Report, discussion and/or other Council action will be taken. 
 
6-1 Approval – Resolution 2023-18 – Establishing Thresholds and Implementation 

Guidelines for Evaluating Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) in the Preparation of  California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Documents for when the City of Lemoore Acts as 
Lead Agency (Brandt) 

 
7 – BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS  

 
7-1 City Council Reports / Requests 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
Upcoming Council Meetings 
 

 City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, June 20, 2023 - Cancelled 
 City Council Special Meeting, Tuesday, June 27, 2023 
 City Council Regular Meeting, Tuesday, July 4, 2023 - Cancelled 

 
Agendas for all City Council meetings are posted at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at the Council Chamber, 429 C Street 
and the Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive. Written communications from the public for the agenda must be 
received by the City Clerk’s Office no less than seven (7) days prior to the meeting date.  The City of Lemoore complies with the 
Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA of 1990). The Council Chamber is accessible to the physically disabled. Should you need 
special assistance, please call (559) 924-6744, at least 4 business days prior to the meeting. 
 

PUBLIC NOTIFICATION 
 

 
I, Marisa Avalos, City Clerk for the City of Lemoore, declare under penalty of perjury that I posted the 
above City Council Agenda for the Special meeting of June 19, 2023 at Council Chamber, 429 C Street 
and Cinnamon Municipal Complex, 711 W. Cinnamon Drive, Lemoore, CA on June 15, 2023. 
 
 
 

          //s//     
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk 

2



CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING
JUNE 19, 2023 @ 5:30 p.m.

The City Council will hold its public meetings in person, with a virtual option for public 
participation based on availability. The City of Lemoore utilizes Zoom teleconferencing 
technology for virtual public participation; however, the City makes no representation or warranty 
of any kind, regarding the adequacy, reliability, or availability of the use of this platform in this 
manner. Participation by members of the public through this means is at their own risk.  (Zoom 
teleconferencing/attendance may not be available at all meetings.)  

The meeting may be viewed through the following Zoom Meeting: 
Please click the link below to join the webinar:
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/89279339781?pwd=MS9aN3oxaVpYSnpXQ1JiNUI1cHZoQT09
Meeting ID: 892 7933 9781 
Passcode: 506819 
Phone: +1 669 900 6833 

If you wish to make a general public comment or public comment on a particular item on the 
agenda, participants may do so via Zoom during the meeting or by submitting public 
comments by e-mail to: cityclerk@lemoore.com.  In the subject line of the e-mail, please state 
your name and the item you are commenting on.  If you wish to submit a public comment on more 
than one agenda item, please send a separate e-email for each item you are commenting on.  Please 
be aware that written public comments, including your name, may become public information. 
Additional requirements for submitting public comments by e-mail are provided below.  

General Public Comments & Comments on City Council Business Items
For general public comments and comments regarding specific City Council Business Items, 
public comments can be made via Zoom during the meeting or all public comments must be 
received by e-mail no later than 5:00 p.m. the day of the meeting.  Comments received by this time 
will be read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such 
comments may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion 
of your comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  
If a general public comment or comment on a business item is received after 5:00 p.m., efforts will 
be made to read your comment into the record.  However, staff cannot guarantee that written 
comments received after 5:00 p.m. will be read.  All written comments that are not read into the 
record will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comments are received prior 
to the end of the City Council meeting. 

Public Hearings 
For public comment on a public hearing, all public comments must be received by the close of the 
public hearing period.  All comments received by the close of the public hearing period will be 
read aloud by a staff member during the applicable agenda item, provided that such comments 
may be read within the normal three (3) minutes allotted to each speaker.  Any portion of your 
comment extending past three (3) minutes may not be read aloud due to time restrictions.  If a 
comment on a public hearing item is received after the close of the public hearing, such comment 
will be made part of the meeting minutes, provided that such comment is received prior to the end 
of the meeting. 
*PLEASE BE AWARE THAT ANY PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED THAT DO NOT SPECIFY A PARTICULAR 
AGENDA ITEM WILL BE READ ALOUD DURING THE GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT PORTION OF THE AGENDA.*

3



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-6708

Staff Report

    Item No: SS-1
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Michelle Speer, Assistant City Manager/Administrative Services Dir.  
Date: June 8, 2023    Meeting Date:    June 19, 2023 
Subject: Review of Fiscal Year 2023-2024 Draft Proposed Budget

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Information Only. 

Subject/Discussion:
City staff will present a draft of the proposed Fiscal Year 2023-2024 annual operating 
budget. The presentation will include an opportunity for City Council and the public to 
review the budget before adoption.

The proposed Fiscal Year 2023-2024 budget can be accessed by clicking the link below:
https://city-lemoore-ca-budget-book.cleargov.com/11087  

Financial Consideration(s):
Not Applicable. 

Alternatives or Pros/Cons:
Not Applicable. 

Commission/Board Recommendation:
Not Applicable. 

4



Staff Recommendation: 
Information Only. 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 6/15/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 6/15/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 6/12/2023 
 Other     Finance 6/13/2023  
 List:  

5



Item 4-1 
May 16, 2023 Minutes 

Lemoore City Council Meeting 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 
At 5:30 p.m., the meeting was called to order. 

 
ROLL CALL: Mayor:  MATTHEWS 
 Mayor Pro Tem:  GORNICK (arrived at 5:35 p.m.) 
 Council Members: GARZA, LYONS, ORTH  
  
City Staff and contract employees present: City Manager Olson; City Attorney Lerner; Public 
Works Director Rivera; Police Chief Kendall; Management Analyst Reeder; City Clerk Avalos. 
 

AGENDA APPROVAL, ADDITIONS, AND/OR DELETIONS 
 
Ceremonies and presentations was moved up on the agenda to take place prior to Study 
Session. 
 

1 – CEREMONIAL / PRESENTATION  
 
1-1 Westlands Water District Scholarship Recipients (Matthews) 
 
City Council recognized the 2023 Westlands Water District High School Scholarship Recipients 
– Chloe Cota, Hailey Couch, and Jenna Nickell.  
 
1-2 Lemoore Hardware Recognition (Matthews) 
 
City Council recognized Lemoore Hardware for 50 years of service in Lemoore.  
 

STUDY SESSION 
 
SS-1 Potential Zoning Ordinance Changes to Encourage Housing Development (Brandt)  
 
Steve Brandt, City Planner discussed potential Zoning Ordinance changes to encourage 
Housing Development which included: 

 Challenge No. 1 
o Work on the grants is to be completed by September 30, 2023 

 Challenge No. 2 
o We are in the middle of a Housing Element update. The Regional Housing Needs 

Assessment to be completed; the Housing Element needs to be adopted by 
January 2024. 

 Challenge No. 3 
o RHNA 
o This represents the number (by income level) of new homes Lemoore must plan 

or in the period of June 30, 2023 through January 31, 2032 (8 years, 7 months) 
o Lemoore – Total Units 2,329 

 Challenge No. 4 
o Make policy and ordinance changes that encourage more housing for all income 

levels while also maintaining Lemoore’s uniqueness and positive attributes.  
 

 

6



PUBLIC COMMENT 
 

Alex Walker provided updates with Lemoore Rotary. Supervisor Doug Verboon spoke at the rotary 
meeting regarding the water and flooding. He invited the Council Members to attend Rotary 
meetings every Tuesday from 12-1pm. Rotary is currently in the process of transitioning to new 
leadership team. Proud to be serving the community. He stated that he proud of Lemoore and 
happy to celebrate and recognize the scholars tonight. He wished them good luck.  
 

2 – DEPARTMENT AND CITY MANAGER REPORTS  
 
Police Chief Kendall stated that the Peace Officer Memorial is being held on May 17th at 10 am 
at the Kings County Government Center. May 31st is the Liberty Middle School graduation. June 
1st is the Lemoore High School graduation. He stated that there will be increased traffic in the 
area. Both events will be heavily staffed. He thanked the Seniors and Senior Center for hosting a 
lunch for the Police Department. It was a great lunch.  
 
City Manager Olson met with Key Writing for grants. The river is down a couple of feet. Looking 
good so far. West Hills College may be a potential site for displaced families. County will be 
meeting with the College to do sandbags and ensure it is a flood free zone. Two Council Members 
are unavailable to attend the June 6th meeting. He asked for consensus to cancel the June 6th 
and June 20th meetings and to schedule special meetings for June 19th and June 27th for the 
budget. The first meeting in July falls on 4th of July. A cancellation will also be posted for that 
meeting due to the holiday. 
 

3 – CONSENT CALENDAR  
 
3-1 Approval – Minutes – Regular Meeting – May 2, 2023 
3-2 Approval – Budget Amendment – CIP 5013 – Bush Street Overlay 
3-3 Approval – Administrative Policy 2023-02 – Donation and Gift Policy 
3-4 Approval – Resolution 2023-13 – To Review and Renew the Declaration of a Local 

Emergency and the Related Declarations and Orders Therein 
3-5 Approval – Local Road Safety Plan (LRSP) 
3-6 Approval – Acceptance of SB 179 - $2 Million Dollar Grant Funding from Senator Hurtado’s 

Office 
3-7 Approval – Resolution 2023-14 – Adopting a List of Projects for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 

Funded by SB 1: The Road and Repair and Accountability Act of 2017 
3-8 Approval – Notice of Completion – Tract No. 921 – Brisbane East – Woodside 06N, LP A 

California Limited Partnership 
 
Items 3-4 and 3-8 were pulled for separate consideration.  
 
Motion by Council Member Lyons, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Gornick, to approve the Consent 
Calendar, except items 3-4 and 3-8.  
 
Ayes: Lyons, Gornick, Garza, Orth, Matthews 
 
3-4 Approval – Resolution 2023-13 – To Review and Renew the Declaration of a Local 

Emergency and the Related Declarations and Orders Therein 
 
Motion by Council Member Lyons, seconded by Council Member Orth, to approve Resolution 
2023-13, to Review and Renew the Declaration of a Local Emergency and the Related 
Declarations and Orders Therin.  
 

7



Ayes: Lyons, Orth, Garza, Gornick, Matthews 
 
3-8 Approval – Notice of Completion – Tract No. 921 – Brisbane East – Woodside 06N, LP A 

California Limited Partnership 
Motion by Council Member Lyons, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Gornick, to approve the Notice 
of Completion for Tract No. 921 – Brisbane East – Woodside 06N, LP A California Limited 
Partnership.  
 
Ayes: Lyons. Gornick, Orth, Matthews 
Abstain: Garza 
 

4 – PUBLIC HEARINGS  
 
4-1 Public Hearing – Resolution 2023-15 – Approving General Plan Amendment No. 2023-

01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01 and 
First Reading of Ordinance 2023-02, Approving Zoning Map Amendment No. 2023-01 
(Brandt) 

 
Public Hearing Opened: 7:39 p.m. 
 
No one spoke. 
 
Public Hearing Closed: 7:39 p.m. 
 
Motion by Council Member Orth, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Gornick, to approve Resolution 
2023-15 – Approving General Plan Amendment No. 2023-01, Conditional Use Permit No. 2023-
01, and Major Site Plan Review No. 2023-01 and First Reading of Ordinance 2023-02, Approving 
Zoning Map Amendment No. 2023-01. 
 
Ayes: Orth, Gornick, Garza, Lyons, Matthews 
 

5 – NEW BUSINESS 
 
No New Business. 
 

6 – BRIEF CITY COUNCIL REPORTS AND REQUESTS 
 
6-1 City Council Reports / Requests 
 
Council Member Garza attended Rockin’ the Arbor on May 5th. He is looking forward to the next 
one. He had an orientation with Mr. Garner for KCAO. His first meeting will be May 17th.He 
attended the City County Coordinating meeting on May 10th with Mayor Matthews, Mayor Pro 
Tem Gornick and City Manager Olson.  
 
Council Member Lyons stated that everything is going well with Commission on Aging. He 
welcomed Mr. Greenlee back to work.  
 
Council Member Orth stated it was awesome to see Ray Greenlee back to work. He went through 
the process of getting a business license from the City. He thanked staff for all their hard work. 
He fears the day for budget. He stated that staff is doing a good job. He plans on attending the 
Rockin’ the Arbor on Friday.  
 

8



Mayor Pro Tem Gornick attended the City County Coordinating meeting. There was a great 
discussion on homelessness. It was great to recognize the Badasci Family. He hopes to do that 
for more businesses. He went on a tour with the SGMA group. Reality hit when he saw the number 
of homes in the island district with sandbags.  
 
Mayor Matthews echoed what her fellow Council Members stated. She attended Hope Grows 
Gala and spoke with someone who deals with the Police Department on a regular basis and 
stated that she had nothing but excellent things to say about the department and officers. It is 
noticed that our officers go above and beyond and care about our community. She attended the 
Captain Peterson’s change of command out at LNAS with City Manager Olson and Council 
Member Orth. CalCities South San Joaquin Meeting will be on Thursday and she will be attending. 
Rockin’ the Arbor is on Friday. June 3rd the Kings Lions will be hosting the Brewfest. Tickets are 
$50. 
 
City Manager Olson stated City Offices will be closed on June 30, July 3, and July 4 due to year-
end close and software implementation. This Saturday from 9-10:30 am there will be a Poker Run 
coming through Lemoore in front of the Veteran’s Hall. The eastbound lane on D Street in front of 
the Veteran’s Hall will be closed for a short period of time. There will be a lot of motorcycles.  
  

7 – CLOSED SESSION 
 
No Closed Session. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 7:47 p.m., Council adjourned. 
 
Approved the 19th day of June 2023. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
             
       Patricia Matthews, Mayor   
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Marisa Avalos, City Clerk    

9



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report

    Item No: 4-2
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: May 30, 2023 Meeting Date:    June 19, 2023
Subject: Second Reading – Ordinance 2023-02 – Adopting Zoning Map 

Amendment No. 2023-01, Changing a Portion of the Zoning Map from 
Mixed-Use (MU) to Regional Commercial (RC) and Light Industrial (ML) 
Located at the Northeast Corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue in the 
City of Lemoore

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve the second reading of Ordinance 2023-02, approving Zoning Map Amendment 
No. 2023-01. 

Subject/Discussion:
After holding a public hearing, the City Council introduced and approved the first reading 
of Ordinance 2023-02 at its regular meeting of May 16, 2023. The Council also approved 
a General Plan Amendment and a conditional use permit for a gas station/minimart.

The project site is a 20.5-acre property located on the northeast corner of 19th Avenue 
and Iona Avenue The project requests a Zone Change/General Plan Amendment from 
Mixed Use to Regional Commercial for an approximately 4.13-acre portion of the site and 
approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for the construction and development of a 
gas station/mini-mart. The first phase of the project would include an 8,952-square-foot 
building with fuel canopies for gas and diesel pumps, as well as service for RV disposal. 
Phase two would add a fast-food restaurant with a drive-through lane and an additional 
set of pumps on the western island.

The 4.13-acre parcel for the development of the Maverik fueling station will be acquired
from Kevin King, the current property owner. The remaining 16.37-acre eastern portion 

10



of the site will continue to be held by the property owner and is proposed to change from 
Mixed Use to Light Industrial, allowing for the future development of an industrial park 
that would accommodate future light industrial uses. The industrial parcel could be divided 
into as many as 23 separate lots with the approval of a commercial parcel map. 

Zoning/General Plan: 
City staff supports the change of zone. The MU zone, while well intended when it was 
added to the Zoning Ordinance as a new zone in 2012 has not resulted in any new 
development. Later this year, Staff will be proposing that all other MU zoned sites be 
rezoned to other zones. 
 
Environmental Assessment: 
The City Council adopted a Mitigated Negative Declaration for the project at its May 16, 
2023, regular meeting after holding a public hearing. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
The alternative to approval is to reject the proposal, which would void the previously 
approved conditional use permit. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission held a public hearing on April 24, 2023, and voted 5-0 to 
recommend approval of the project. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City staff recommends approval of the second reading of Ordinance 2023-02, Approving 
Zoning Map Amendment No. 2023-01. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance: 2023-02   City Attorney 6/15/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 6/15/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 6/12/2023 
 Other     Finance 6/13/2023 

  
  List:   

 

11



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-02 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
ADOPTING ZONING MAP AMENDMENT NO. 2023-01, CHANGING A PORTION OF 
THE ZONING MAP FROM MIXED-USE (MU) TO REGIONAL COMMERCIAL (RC) 

AND LIGHT INDUSTRIAL (ML) LOCATED AT THE NORTHEAST CORNER OF 
19TH AVENUE AND IONA AVENUE IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE. 

 
 
 THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE HEREBY DOES ORDAIN: 

SECTION 1. FINDINGS. 

(a) Kevin King, owner of the parcel located at the northeast corner of 19th  
Avenue and Iona Avenue (APNs 023-310-012 and 023-310-011), has requested Zoning 
Map Amendment No. 2023-01. 

(b) On April 24, 2023, the Planning Commission of the City of Lemoore held a public hearing, 
reviewed the proposal, and recommended approval of the zoning map amendment to the 
City Council. 

(c) This zoning map amendment is consistent with the City of Lemoore General Plan, Lemoore 
Municipal Code, and the Zoning Ordinance and would not be detrimental to the public 
interest, health, safety, convenience, and welfare of the City. 

(d) A Mitigated Negative Declaration has been prepared and adopted in accordance with the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 

SECTION 2.  

The property located at the northeast corner of 19th Avenue and Iona Avenue (APNs 023-310-
012 and 023-310-011) is hereby zoned with the eastern 4.13 acres as Regional Commercial 
(RC) and the remaining 16.37 acres as Light Industrial as depicted in the attached map. 

SECTION 3.  

The official Zoning Map shall be amended to reflect this change. 

 

 

 

 

 

12



 

The foregoing Ordinance was introduced at a regular meeting of the City Council of the City 
of Lemoore held on the 16th day of May 2023 and was passed and adopted at a special meeting 
of the City Council held on the 19th day of June 2023 by the following vote: 

 AYES:  

 NOES:   

 ABSENT:   

 ABSTAIN:  
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
             
Marisa Avalos      Patricia Matthews  
City Clerk      Mayor  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

13



 
 

ZONING MAP AMENDMENT 
No.2023-01 

 

14



 

Existing: MU 
 
Proposed: RC and ML 

15



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744 Fax (559) 924-6708

Staff Report

    Item No: 4-3
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Marisa Avalos, City Clerk / Executive Assistant   
Date: June 7, 2023    Meeting Date:    June 19, 2023 
Subject: Appointment of Lemoore Parks and Recreation Commissioners 

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion: 
Approve the appointment to the Parks and Recreation Commission, as recommended by 
Mayor Matthews. 

Subject/Discussion:
The Recreation Commission currently has one vacancy. The vacancy was posted at City 
Hall, Cinnamon Municipal Complex, and the City website. Three applications were
received. The applicants are:

Racheal Fierro
Juan Limon

Michael Wallace

Mayor Matthews is recommending appointment of Mr. Wallace. 

Concurrence of at least two Council Members is required for the appointments to be 
official.  

Financial Consideration(s):
None. The appointments are volunteer positions.

16



 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Fills vacancies on the Parks and Recreation Commission 
Cons: 

 None noted. 
 
Alternative: 

 Council could choose to discuss other applicants for appointment. 
 

Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
No recommendation. 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 6/15/2023 
 Map    City Clerk  6/15/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 6/12/2023 
 Other     Finance 6/13/2023 
 List:  Applications 

17



18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report

    Item No: 4-4
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From Marisa Avalos, City Clerk
Date: June 8, 2023    Meeting Date:   June 19 ,2023 
Subject: Facility Rental Fee Reduction for the Kings County Elections Office for 

the 2024 Election Cycle

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Approve a reduction in facility rental fees for the Kings County Elections Office for the 
2024 Election cycle. 

Subject/Discussion:
The Lemoore Civic Auditorium has been used in previous elections for Kings County 
residents, and specifically, City of Lemoore residents on numerous occasions. The facility 
has been widely used by residents of the City of Lemoore and is a valued location for the 
Kings County Elections Office.

Lupe Villa, Registrar of Voters, has requested that City Council consider a reduction in 
facility rental fees for the upcoming elections in 2024. The Kings County Elections office 
has requested to book the Civic from February 29, 2024 through March 6, 2024 and 
October 31, 2024 through November 6, 2024 in order to accommodate setting up their 
equipment and keeping their equipment safe during the election period. 

Typically, the master user fee schedule would be used to determine the fees associated 
with rentals, and a charge of $1,000/day would be assessed for an 8 hour rental. 
However, the facility rental charges associated with facilitating an election are charged 
back to the entities who participate in the election. In the case of the March 5, 2024 and 
November 5, 2024 elections, the City of Lemoore and several other local and special 

26



districts will have items on the ballot. As such, the fees charged by the City of Lemoore 
(and likewise for other facilities within the county) will be charged back to every agency 
that has an item on the ballot.  
 
Mr. Villa has expressed that the fee associated with the Lemoore Civic rental, although 
justified, would require that the Elections office charge the fee back to the City of Lemoore 
and other agencies with items on the ballot. As such, he is requesting that City Council 
consider reducing the fee to a flat $500 for the entire duration of the each rental in order 
to effectuate the upcoming election on behalf of the City of Lemoore, and other entities, 
in the best interest of the voting population.  
 
Financial Consideration(s): 
The City of Lemoore may lose rental income for the facility for the duration of the request 
by the Kings County Elections office, however, the magnitude of the loss is difficult to 
quantify. Furthermore, the City will also be charged back for a portion of the fees assessed 
to the Kings County Elections Office, thus causing additional election fees for the City.  
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
The City Council may deny the fee reduction request, at which point the Finance Division 
will invoice the Kings County Elections Office for the full value of the rental pursuant to 
the City Council approved Master User Fee.  
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
N/A 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City staff recommends approval of the reduced rental fee for the Kings County Elections 
Office for facilitation of the 2024 election cycle.  
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution:    Asst. City Manager    
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 6/15/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 6/15/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 6/12/2023 
 Other     Finance 6/13/2023 
 List:  

27



 q                                                                           

      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6700 Fax (559) 924-6708

Staff Report

    Item No: 5-1
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Randon Reeder, Management Analyst   
Date: June 8, 2023    Meeting Date:    June 19, 2023
Subject: Resolution 2023-16 – Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of Additional 

Territories (Tract 820) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in 
the City of Lemoore, and Confirming the Diagram and Assessment of 
Annual Levy for an Additional Territory Annexed to and included to 
Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Adoption of Resolution 2023-16, Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of Additional 
Territories (Tract 820) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of 
Lemoore, and Levy and Collect Annual Assessments in such Annexed Territories for 
Fiscal Year 2023-2024 and Thereafter.

Subject/Discussion:
On May 2, 2023 the City Council approved Resolution 2023-10, declaring the intention to 
annex Tract 820 (Fairway Courtyard GJ Gardner) into Zone 12 of the Public Facilities 
Maintenance District No. 1 (PFMD).

The Zone is generally located west of Golf Link Drive, east of Vine Street and generally 
south of Iona Avenue which is within Zone 08 of Landscaping and Lighting Maintenance 
District No. 1. Willdan Financial Services prepared and filed with the City Clerk a report 
entitled “City of Lemoore Engineer’s Annexation Report, Public Facilities Maintenance 
District No. 1, Annexation of Territory Tract No. 820 as Zone No. 12”. The report contains 
a description of the existing facilities and improvements, the boundaries of the PFMD and 

28



any zones therein, including the boundaries of the territories proposed to be annexed to 
the PFMD in these proceedings, the facilities and improvements proposed for Zone 12 
and the general location and proposed assessments on the assessable lots and parcels 
of land within the Added Territories of PFMD No.1.  
 
The 29 planned single-family residential lots, 4 unassessed parcels including a drainage 
basin, a neighborhood park, a neighborhood park/open space and extra parking. 
Developed by GJ Gardner. At this time, Tract 820 is currently identified on the King’s 
County Assessor’s Parcel Maps as Book 024, Page 390 Parcels 013, 043, and 046 
through 076. GJ Gardner is the sole owner of the property. GJ Gardner has waived the 
45-day waiting period, per petition.  
 
A public hearing will be held on the annexation of Zone 12 of the Public Facilities 
Maintenance District No. 1, the services, and the first annual levy of assessments in the 
Added Territory. If the resolution is approved, a maximum assessment of $634.00 will be 
applied on an annual per lot basis, beginning in fiscal year 2023-2024, and will be applied 
to each lot within the newly Added Territory. 
  
Financial Consideration(s): 
Should the assessment not be approved, maintenance of the street, streetlights and 
common area landscaping will be maintained by the General Fund. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Ensures the benefiting property owners cover the costs of their neighborhood 
infrastructure. 

Cons: 
 Not adopting this resolution would put an unfair burden on the General Fund to 

contribute to the upkeep of the neighborhood. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends City Council hold a public hearing and adopt Resolution 2023-16, 
Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of Additional Territories (Tract 820) in Public Facilities 
Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of Lemoore, and Levy and Collect Annual 
Assessments in such Annexed Territories for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 and Thereafter. 
 
 
 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution: 2023-16   Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 6/15/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 6/15/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 6/12/2023 
 Other     Finance 6/13/2023 

 List: Engineers Report 

29



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
(1) ORDERING ANNEXATION AND INCLUSION OF ADDITIONAL 

TERRITORIES (TRACT 820) IN PUBLIC FACILITIES MAINTENANCE DISTRICT 
NO. 1 IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE, AND  

(2) CONFIRMING THE DIAGRAM AND ASSESSMENT OF ANNUAL LEVY FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 FOR AN ADDITIONAL TERRITORY ANNEXED TO AND 

INCLUDED AS ZONE 12 OF PUBLIC FACILITIES MAINTENANCE DISTRICT NO. 1  
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Lemoore order annexation of Territories to 
City of Lemoore Public Facilities District No. 1 (“PFMD”), as Zone 12 thereof, and to order levy 
and collection of annual assessments in such annexed Territories for fiscal year 2023-24 and 
thereafter, under Chapter 10 of Title 7 of the Lemoore Municipal Code, as enacted by Ordinance 
No. 2006-01 (the “Ordinance”), and according the procedures set forth in the Proposition 218 
Omnibus Implementation Act (Government Code Sections 53750-53753.5, inclusive) (the 
“Implementation  Act”), Article XIIID of the California Constitution (“Proposition 218”) and, to 
the extent not inconsistent with the Ordinance, the procedures specified in the State Landscaping 
and Lighting Act of 1972 (Chapter 2 of Part 2 of Division 15 of the California Streets & Highways 
Code) (the “LLMD Act”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Territories to be annexed to the PFMD (the “Added Territories”) is 
comprised of the real property to be benefited and to be assessed for the maintenance, operation, 
repair and periodic replacement of landscaping, street lights, local street paving, parks and 
appurtenant facilities described as follows: 
 
 Plants, shrubbery, trees, turf, irrigation systems, entry monuments, local street 
maintenance, parks, hardscapes, walls, fencing, street lights and appurtenant facilities in public 
rights-of-way and easements within or appurtenant to the boundaries of the applicable benefit Zone 
of said District; 
 
The Added Territories is generally described in the map(s) attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
incorporated herein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Engineer has prepared and filed with the City Clerk a report entitled 
“City of Lemoore Engineer’s Annexation Report Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1, 
Annexation of Territory as Zone 12” dated January 2023 (the “Engineer’s Report”), to which 
reference is hereby made, which Engineer’s Report contains a description of the existing facilities 
and improvements, the boundaries of the PFMD and any zones therein, the boundaries of the 
Territories proposed to be annexed to the PFMD in these proceedings, the facilities and 
improvements proposed for the Added Territories, and the general location and proposed 
assessments on the assessable lots and parcels of land within the PFMD, including the Added 
Territories; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Engineer’s Report is on file in the office of the City Clerk and is available 
for inspection during regular business hours; 

30



 
 WHEREAS, the City Engineer also has prepared and filed with the City Clerk an amended 
map of the boundaries of the PFMD, incorporating the Added Territories within such boundaries 
as Zone 12, as proposed in these proceedings; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proceeds of the annual assessments to be levied on the parcels within the 
PFMD, including the Added Territories, for fiscal year 2023-24 and for each fiscal year thereafter 
will be used exclusively to finance the expenses for maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the improvements and facilities described in the Engineer’s Report for that fiscal 
year, which maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement will provide direct, particular 
and distinct special benefits to the various parcels assessed, over and above the benefits conferred 
on the public at large; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the amount of the assessment to be levied on each parcel in the PFMD, 
including the Added Territories, for the 2023-24 fiscal year, as proposed in the Engineer’s Report, 
is proportional to and no greater than the special benefits conferred on such parcel from 
maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement of the improvements and facilities 
described in the Engineer’s Report; 
 
 THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Lemoore resolves, finds and determines as 
follows: 
 
1.  All territories within Tract No. 820 whose boundaries are set forth in the Engineer’s Report on 

file with the City Clerk, are annexed to and made part of City of Lemoore Public Facilities 
Maintenance District No. 1 as Zone 12 thereof.   The map of the boundaries of the PFMD, 
prepared by the City Engineer and showing annexation of the Added Territory as Zone 12 
thereof, is hereby approved. 

2.  The Added Territory, whose boundaries are set forth in the Engineer’s Report, will be 
particularly, distinctly and specially benefited, over and above the general benefits conferred 
on such territory and the public at large, from maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the Facilities and Improvements described in the Engineer’s Report. 

3.  The hearing on the annexation of the territory within the Added Territory as Zone 12 of the 
PFMD and the levy of annual assessments therein, commencing with 2023-2024 fiscal year, 
was noticed and held in accordance with law. 

4.  The Engineer’s Report, including the diagram of the Added Territory as Zone 12 of the PFMD 
and the assessment therein of the estimated costs of maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the Facilities and Improvements contained in the Engineer’s Report, and each 
and every part of the Engineer’s Report, is finally adopted, confirmed and approved. 

5.  The assessment diagram showing the lots and parcels of land within the Added Territory as part 
of Zone 12 of the PFMD, all as contained in the Engineer’s Report, is finally approved and 

31



confirmed as the diagram of the lots and parcels within the Added Territory to be assessed to 
pay the costs of maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement of the Facilities and 
Improvements described in the Engineer’s Report. 

6.  The assessment of the total amount of the costs and the individual assessments thereof on the 
lots and parcels within the Added Territory in proportion to the direct special benefits to be 
conferred on each such lot or parcel from maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the Facilities and Improvements, and of the expenses incidental thereto, as set 
forth in the Engineer’s Report, is finally approved and confirmed as the assessment for the 
2023-2024 fiscal year to pay such costs. 

7.  The annexation and inclusion of the Added Territory as Zone 12 of the PFMD, and the levy of 
the annual assessments on all lots and parcels within the Added Territory for fiscal year 2023-
2024, as described in the Resolution of Intention and the Engineer’s Report, are hereby 
ordered. 

8.  The City Clerk is authorized and directed to file the diagram of the PFMD, including the Added 
Territory as Zone 12 thereof, and assessments therein, as approved and confirmed by the 
Council and containing all information and statements required by Section 3114 of the Streets 
& Highways Code, with the Kings County Recorder immediately after adoption of this 
resolution.  The City Clerk is further authorized and directed to record a notice of assessment 
with respect to the Added Territory pursuant to Streets & Highways Code Section 3114.  The 
City Clerk is further authorized and directed to file the amended map of the boundaries of the 
PFMD, incorporating the Added Territory within Zone 12, as approved by the City Council 
and containing all information and statements provided for in Streets & Highways Code 
Sections 3110 and 3113, with the Kings County Recorder not later than 10 days after the date 
this resolution is adopted. 

9.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lemoore at a special 
meeting held on the 19th day of June 2023 by the following vote: 
 
 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTAINING: 

 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
             
Marisa Avalos      Patricia Matthews 
City Clerk      Mayor 
 

33



City of Lemoore
Engineer’s Annexation Report
Public Facilities Maintenance 

District No. 1
ANNEXATION OF TERRITORY AS

ZONE NO. 12
 

Commencing Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Intent Meeting: April 4, 2023

Public Hearing: June 6, 2023

CITY OF LEMOORE
711 W CINNAMON DRIVE

LEMOORE, CA 93245

JANUARY 2023
PREPARED BY
WILLDAN FINANCIAL SERVICES

27368 Via Industria 
Suite 200
Temecula, CA 92590
T 951.587.3500  |  800.755.6864
F 951.587.3510

www.willdan.com

34



 

ENGINEER'S ANNEXATION REPORT AFFIDAVIT

City of Lemoore
Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1

Annexation of Territory (Tract No. 820) as Zone No. 12
Referred to as Annexation No. 2023-2

For Fiscal Year 2023/2024

City of Lemoore,
Kings County, State of California

As part of the Resolution of Intention packet presented for the consideration of the Lemoore City 
Council, this Report and the enclosed budget, diagram, and descriptions outline the proposed 
annexation of Tract No. 820 (hereafter referred to as “Annexation Territory” or “Annexation No. 
2023-2”) to the Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 and the establishment of 
annual assessments related thereto commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024. Said annexation 
includes each of the lots and parcels of land within Tract No. 820. As of the writing of this Report, 
the parcels included in Annexation 2023-2 are identified on the Kings County Assessor’s Parcel 
Maps as Book 024, Page 390 Parcels 013, 043, and 046 through 076.
Reference is hereby made to the Kings County Assessor’s Parcel Maps for a detailed description 
of the lines and dimensions of each parcel within Annexation No. 2023-2. The undersigned
respectfully submits the enclosed Report as directed by the City Council.

Dated this ____________ day of ______________, 2023.

Willdan Financial Services
Assessment Engineer
On Behalf of the City of Lemoore

By: ________________________________
Jim McGuire
Principal Consultant, Project Manager

By: ________________________________
Tyrone Peter 
PE C # 81888

35



 

Table of Contents
................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Introduction .................................................................................1
Proposed Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Annexation ......................................2
Report Content and Proceedings .........................................................3

Report Content............................................................................................................... 4
Ballot Proceedings........................................................................................................ 5

Part I — Plans and Specifications .............................................7
Description of the District .....................................................................7
Zones and Improvements .....................................................................8

Zones 01 Through 09 ............................................................................................. 9
Zone No. 12 - Energy Homes; Annexation No. 2023-2 ...................................... 14

Part II — Method of Apportionment......................................... 16
Legislative Requirements for Assessments......................................16
Benefit Analysis...................................................................................17

Special Benefits ................................................................................................... 17
General Benefit..................................................................................................... 18

Assessment Methodology ..................................................................20
Land Use Classifications..................................................................................... 20

Part III — Estimate of Costs .....................................................23
Calculation of Assessments ...............................................................23
Budgets & Assessment Zone No. 12 (Annexation No. 2023-2) ........24

Zone No. 12 Maximum Assessment Budget ...................................................... 25
Annual Inflationary Adjustment (Assessment Range Formula)....................... 26

Part IV — Annexation Diagram ................................................27

Part V — Assessment Roll .......................................................29

36



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 1

Introduction
The City of Lemoore (“City”), pursuant to Chapter 10 of Title 7 of the Lemoore Municipal Code, 
(“Municipal Code”) as enacted by Ordinance No. 2006-01 (the “Ordinance”), and to the extent not 
inconsistent with the Ordinance, the provisions and procedures of the Landscaping and Lighting 
Act of 1972, Part 2 of Division 15 of the California Streets and Highways Code (“1972 Act”) and 
in compliance with the substantive and procedural requirements of the California State 
Constitution, Article XIIID (“California Constitution”) established the assessment district 
designated as the:

Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1

(hereafter referred to as “District” or “PFMD”). Pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Code, 
the Ordinance, and 1972 Act (hereafter referred to collectively as “City Maintenance District 
Codes”), and in compliance with the substantive and procedural requirements of the California 
Constitution, the City has annually levied special benefit assessments for the PFMD in order to 
fund in whole or in part the maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement of certain 
public improvements including landscaping, street lights, street paving, parks and appurtenant 
facilities that provide special benefits to properties within the District.

The City Council of the City of Lemoore adopted its General Plan with various elements to provide 
guidelines for orderly development of property within the City. The City Council further adopted 
ordinances and regulations governing the development of land providing for the installation and 
construction of certain lighting, landscaping, street paving, parks, and appurtenant facilities to 
enhance the quality of life and to benefit the value of property.

The requirement for the installation of lighting, landscaping, streets, and appurtenant facilities is 
a condition of development provided for in the City's Subdivision Ordinance and is a requirement 
for issuance of a permit for construction of commercial, residential, and planned unit development. 
These improvements generally include street lights and related equipment and fixtures; street 
paving that may also include curbs, gutters and sidewalks; various landscape materials such as 
trees, turf, shrubs, vines, and ground cover; irrigation and drainage systems; structural amenities 
such as monuments, block walls, retaining walls, or other fencing; hardscapes including mulch, 
trail and path surfaces, stamped concrete and pavers; recreational amenities such as benches, 
picnic facilities, play structures; signage, and related appurtenances.

The installation of street pavement, street lights, landscaping and appurtenant facilities is the 
responsibility of the subdivider or other development/applicant, triggered by the approval of a 
tentative subdivision map or other development application. After installation, it is City policy that 
the servicing, operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of the street lighting, landscaping, 
local street paving, parks and appurtenant facilities in turn become the financial responsibility of 
the properties that specially benefit from the facilities. Prior to the establishment of the District, 
the City recognized that the required ongoing maintenance, periodic repair, and replacement of 
the facilities installed in connection with new developments could not feasibly be funded by the 
City and that such maintenance, operation, repair, and replacement should be funded through 
special benefit assessments on properties within the boundaries of the District.

In accordance with the City Maintenance District Codes, the District has been established utilizing 
benefit zones (“Zones”) to address variations in the nature, location, and extent of the 
improvements that provide special benefits to parcels in the District. Within the boundaries of the 
District, parcels are assigned to a Zone, each of which is associated with specific improvements 
that provide special benefit to properties within that Zone.

37



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 2

As of Fiscal Year 2022/2023, the District was comprised of the following Zones and 
developments:
Zone 01 -- The Landing, Phases 1, 2, and 3
Zone 02 -- Liberty, Phases 1 and 2
Zone 03 -- Silva Estates, Phase 10
Zone 04 -- Parkview Estates / Heritage Park – Laredo
Zone 05 -- East Village Park/Aniston Place
Zone 06 -- Heritage Acres
Zone 07 – Capistrano
Zone 08 – Woodside
Zone 09 -- Lennar Homes
Zone 10 – Energy Homes:

Proposed Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Annexation 
By resolution, the City Council has ordered the preparation of this Engineer’s Report (“Report”) in 
connection with the proceedings for the annexation of Tract No. 820 to the Lemoore Public 
Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 and to be designated as:

Annexation No. 2023-2

(hereafter referred to as “Annexation No. 2023-2” or “Annexation Territory”), and the 
establishment of the new maximum annual assessments related thereto, to be levied and 
collected upon properties within the Annexation Territory commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024
for the special benefits each property receives from the maintenance and servicing of the 
improvements to be provided by the City through the District.

Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820) is located on the east side of Vine Street, generally south 
of Iona Avenue and west of Golf Link Drive which is within Zone 08 of Landscaping and Lighting 
Maintenance District No. 1. Annexation No. 2023-2 consists of the lots and parcels of land within 
the planned residential development identified as Tract No. 820 consisting of the twenty-nine (29)
approved single-family residential lots (parcels 024-390-046 through 024-390-066 and parcels 
024-390-068 through 024-390-075) and four (4) unassessed parcels including, a drainage basin 
(parcel 024-390-013), a neighborhood park (parcel 024-390-067), a neighborhood park/open 
space and extra parking (parcel 024-390-076), and dedicated streets within the development 
(parcel 024-390-043).

The parcels included in Annexation 2023-2 as of the writing of this Report are identified on the 
Kings County Assessor’s Parcel Maps as Book 024, Page 390 Parcels 013, 043, and 046 through 
076. The parcels within Annexation No. 2023-2 benefit and will proportionately share in the special 
benefit costs associated with the ongoing annual maintenance and servicing of:

Streetscape landscaping adjacent to the development (perimeter of Tract No. 820) on Vine 
Street;
Streetscape landscaping within the development on the north side of Sandtrap Lane and the
cul-de-sac at the end of Sandtrap Lane;

38



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 3

Landscape maintenance area in and around the drainage basin located at the east end of 
Sandtrap Lane.
A small park site within Tract No. 820 on the north side of Green Lane half way between Vine 
Street and Sandtrap Lane;
A small parking area and adjacent park/open space area within Tract No. 820 at the 
intersection of Green Lane and Sandtrap Lane;
Street pavement and related infrastructure in the street right-of-way for the development; and
Streetlighting installed in connection with the development of properties within Tract No. 820.

To adequately provide and fund the streets, parking, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, street lighting, 
park sites, and other landscaping improvements that are considered special benefits to properties 
within Annexation No. 2023-2, the City Council has determined that it is appropriate and in the 
public’s best interest to annex the properties within Annexation No. 2023-2 to the PFMD as Zone 
No. 12 and to levy annual assessments on the properties therein. These assessments are 
intended to fund the estimated special benefit improvement costs including, but are not limited to 
the regular annual maintenance and servicing of the improvements; incidental expenditures 
related to the operation and administration of the PFMD and the Zone; and the collection of funds 
for operational reserves, capital improvement expenditures, and periodic repairs or rehabilitation 
projects as authorized by the City Maintenance District Codes.

Report Content and Proceedings
This Engineer’s Annexation Report (the “Report”) has been prepared pursuant to the City 
Maintenance District Codes consistent with Chapter 1, Article 4 and Chapter 3 of the 1972 Act, 
and is presented to the City Council for their consideration and approval of the proposed 
improvements and services to be provided within Annexation No. 2023-2 and the levy and 
collection of annual assessments related thereto commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024. This 
Report outlines the annexation territory, the District Zone (Zone No. 12), improvements, and 
proposed assessments to be levied in connection with the special benefits the properties will 
receive from the maintenance and servicing of the District improvements based on the estimated 
maintenance expenses for the improvements to be installed in connection with the development 
of properties within Annexation No. 2023-2. The annual assessments to be levied on properties 
within the District and specifically Annexation No. 2023-2 will provide a source of funding for the 
continued operation, maintenance and servicing of the landscaping, street lights, street paving, 
sidewalks, and appurtenant facilities (improvements) to be provided by the District for the 
properties within the Annexation Territory as Zone No. 12.

Each fiscal year, the City establishes the PFMD assessments for each Zone therein based on an 
estimate of the costs to maintain, operate and service the improvements as well as available 
revenues including fund balances, general benefit contributions and additional City contributions 
and assessment limits. The costs of the improvements and the proposed annual assessments 
budgeted and assessed against properties within the PFMD may include, but are not limited to 
the estimated expenditures for regular annual maintenance and repairs; incidental expenditures 
related to the operation and administration of the District; deficits or surpluses from prior years; 
revenues from other sources; and the collection of funds for operational reserves and/or periodic 
repairs, replacements and rehabilitation projects as authorized by the City Maintenance District 
Codes. The net annual cost to provide the improvements for each Zone are allocated to the 
benefiting properties within that Zone using a weighted method of apportionment (refer to 
Assessment Methodology in Section II, Method of Apportionment) that calculates the proportional 

39



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 4

special benefit and assessment for each parcel as compared to other properties that benefit from 
the District improvements and services. Thus, each parcel is assessed proportionately for only 
those improvements, services and expenses for which the parcel will receive special benefit.
The word “parcel,” for the purposes of this Report, refers to an individual property assigned its 
own Assessment Number (Assessor’s Parcel Number “APN”) by the Kings County Assessor’s 
Office. The County Auditor/Controller uses Assessment Numbers and specific District Fund 
Numbers, to identify on the tax roll, properties assessed for special district assessments. Each 
parcel within Annexation No. 2023-2 shall be assessed proportionately for only those 
improvements for which the parcel receives a special benefit.

Report Content
This Report has been prepared for the annexation of parcels within Annexation No. 2023-2 to the 
District for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, pursuant to a resolution of the City Council and consists of five 
(5) parts:

Part I — Plans and Specifications:
Contains a general description of the District and zones of benefit (“Zones”) within the District,
and specifically addresses the improvements and services that provide special benefits to the 
parcels within Annexation No. 2023-2 to be designated as Zone No. 12 within the PFMD, which 
may include, but not limited to local landscaping, street lights, street paving, sidewalks, curbs, 
gutters, and related amenities including operational expenses and fund balances authorized by 
the City Maintenance District Codes. The plans and specifications contained in this Report 
generally describe the nature and extent of the improvements. In conjunction with these general 
descriptions of the improvements a visual depiction of the improvements is provided in the 
Annexation Diagram contained in Part IV of this Report. The detailed plans and specifications for 
the improvements for the District including Zone No. 12 (Annexation Territory) are on file in the 
Public Works Department of the City of Lemoore and by reference are made part of this Report.

Part II — Method of Apportionment: 
Outlines the special and general benefits associated with the improvements to be provided within 
Zone No. 12 of the District (the Annexation Territory) and the basis upon which the estimated 
costs to provide such improvements has been apportioned to each parcel of land therein in 
proportion to the special benefits to be received by such parcels.

Part III — Estimate of Costs
Identifies the estimated annual funding costs (Budget) required for the maintenance and operation 
of the improvements including, but not limited to, annual maintenance and service expenses, 
utility costs, related incidental expenses, and fund balances authorized by the City Maintenance 
District Codes and deemed appropriate to fully support the improvements. Those improvements 
and/or costs determined to be of general benefit shall be funded by a City contribution. This 
section identifies:

A budget that establishes the proportional estimated expenses and maximum assessment for 
Fiscal Year 2023/2024 to be approved by the property owner(s) of record within the 
Annexation Territory as part of the Ballot Proceeding. Although the budget presented, 
establishes the maximum assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, it is anticipated that all or 
most of the proposed improvements will not be installed for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and/or the 
improvements for Zone No. 12 will be maintained by the owner/developer of Tract No. 820 
through the end of Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and therefore, no annual assessment is anticipated 
to be collected on the tax rolls for Fiscal year 2023/2024. However, at the City Council’s 

40



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 5

discretion, the City Council may still authorize and approve an actual assessment to be levied 
and collected on the County Tax Rolls for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 as part of the annual 
assessment process and approval of the Fiscal year 2023/2024 Engineer’s Report for the 
entire District. In no case, however, will the annual assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024,
exceed the maximum assessment presented herein.

This section also identifies and outlines an Assessment Range Formula (inflationary adjust) 
that provides for an annual adjustment to the maximum assessment rate each fiscal year. 
This Assessment Range Formula establishes limits on future assessments, but also provides 
for reasonable cost adjustments due to inflation.

Part IV — Annexation Diagram
A diagram showing the boundaries of Annexation No. 2023-2 based on the parcels that will
receive special benefits from the improvements to be provided and maintained as part of Zone 
No. 12 and the benefits established herein. The lines and dimensions of each lot, parcel, and 
subdivision of land contained in this diagram are inclusive of the parcel(s) listed in “Part V –
Assessment Roll” of this Report and the corresponding County Assessor’s Parcel Maps for said 
parcel(s) as they existed at the time this Report was prepared and shall include all subsequent 
subdivisions, lot-line adjustments, or parcel changes therein. Reference is hereby made to the 
Kings County Assessor’s maps for a detailed description of the lines and dimensions of each lot 
and parcel of land within Annexation No. 2023-2 as Zone No. 12 of the District.

Part V — Assessment Roll: 
A listing of the proposed maximum assessment amounts for the parcel(s) within Annexation No. 
2023-2. The “Maximum Assessment” amount (Balloted Assessment Amount) for each parcel 
represents that parcel’s maximum assessment amount for fiscal year 2023/2024 and is based on 
the parcel’s calculated proportional special benefit as outlined in “Part II — Method of 
Apportionment”, and calculated assessment rate established by the budget in “Part III —Estimate 
of Costs”.

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, portion, or zone of this Report is, for any 
reason, held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of the Report and each 
section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, portion, zone, or subzone thereof, 
irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, 
portions, zones, or subzones might subsequently be declared invalid or unconstitutional.

Ballot Proceedings
As part of this annexation proceeding, the City shall conduct a property owner protest ballot 
proceeding (“Ballot Proceeding”) for the proposed levy of a new assessment pursuant to the 
provisions of the California Constitution, Article XIIID Section 4. In conjunction with this Ballot 
Proceeding, the City Council will conduct a noticed public hearing to consider public testimonies, 
comments and written protests regarding the annexation, and the levy of the new assessments 
described herein. Upon conclusion of the public hearing, property owner protest ballots received will 
be opened and tabulated to determine whether majority protest exists as defined in Article XIIID of 
the California Constitution.

As specified by the California Constitution, Article XIIID Section 4e:

“A majority protest exists if, upon the conclusion of the hearing, ballots submitted in opposition to 
the assessment exceed the ballots submitted in favor of the assessment. In tabulating the ballots, 

41



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 6

the ballots shall be weighted according to the proportional financial obligation of the affected 
property.”

After completion of the ballot tabulation, the City Council will confirm the results of the balloting. 
If majority protest exists for the proposed assessments, further proceedings to annex the parcels 
with Annexation No. 2023-2 to the District and implementation of the new assessments shall be 
abandoned at this time. If tabulation of the ballots indicate that majority protest does not exist for 
the proposed new assessments and the assessment range formula presented and described 
herein, the City Council by resolution may adopt this Report (as submitted or amended); approve 
the assessment diagram (Annexation Diagram) contained herein; order the annexation of the 
parcels within Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820) to the District and the improvements to be 
made; and confirm the new assessments as outlined in this Report.

The new assessments as approved, may be levied and collected on the County tax rolls 
commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024 together with the assessments for other properties in the 
District. Each subsequent fiscal year, an engineer’s annual levy report for the District shall be 
prepared and presented to the City Council to address any proposed changes to the District, 
including Zone No. 12, as well as any proposed changes to the improvements, budgets, and 
assessments for that fiscal year. The City Council shall hold a noticed public hearing regarding 
these matters prior to approving and ordering the levy of annual assessments for the District.

If in any fiscal year, the proposed annual assessments for parcels within Zone No. 12, exceed the 
maximum assessments described herein, such an assessment would be considered a new or 
increased assessment and must be confirmed through a mailed property owner protest ballot 
proceeding for the affected parcels before that new or increased assessment may be imposed.

42



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 7

Part I — Plans and Specifications
Description of the District
The purpose of the District and specifically Zone No. 12 which is inclusive of all parcels within 
Tract No. 820 as the Annexation Territory, is to provide in part through annual assessments, 
funding for the ongoing operation, maintenance, and servicing of local landscaping; street lighting;
street improvements within the street rights of way; neighborhood parks; and related appurtenant 
facilities and services in specified areas of the City. The territory within the District consists of 
those lots or parcels of land within the City of Lemoore for which the City, through the District 
maintains these local improvements and related amenities installed in connection with the 
development of those properties and for the benefit of those lots and parcels.
As authorized by the City Maintenance District Codes, the improvements provided by the District 
and associated with each Zone incorporate various local improvements and related amenities 
that are maintained and serviced for the benefit of real property within those Zones. The 
maintenance of the improvements may also include various appurtenances including, but not 
limited to block walls, retaining walls or other fencing, trail and path surfaces, stamped concrete,
pavers, mulch or other hardscapes, irrigation and related electrical equipment and drainage 
systems, benches, play structures, picnic or other recreational facilities, monuments, signage, 
ornamental lighting, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, cross gutters, street lighting fixtures, street light 
poles, electrical facilities, and related equipment. The work to be performed within each respective 
Zone of the District may include but is not limited to (as applicable), the personnel, materials, 
equipment, electricity, water, contract services, repair and rehabilitation of the improvements and 
incidental expenses required to operate the District and provide the improvements and services. 
Improvements provided within the District may include but are not limited to:

Landscaping and related facilities and amenities located within designated street medians,
parkway and streetscape side-panels, and entryways within the public right of ways or 
easements adjacent to public right of ways; and within public places including greenbelt areas, 
open spaces, and neighborhood parks within or directly associated with each Zone. These
improvements may include, but are not limited to:

various landscape materials such as trees, turf, shrubs, vines, ground cover, annual or 
perineal plantings; 

irrigation and drainage systems;

structural amenities such as monuments, block walls, retaining walls, or other fencing;

hardscapes including mulch, trail and path surfaces, stamped concrete and pavers;

recreational amenities within the parks or greenbelts that may include benches, play 
structures, picnic or other recreational facilities, signage, and related appurtenances. 

The maintenance of these improvements may include, but is not limited to the regularly 
scheduled mowing, trimming, pruning, fertilization, pest control, weed and graffiti abatement;
installation, replacement and rehabilitation of the landscaping, repair or replacement of 
irrigation or drainage systems; repair or replacement of hardscape improvements and 
recreational amenities. The City Public Works Department shall authorize and schedule such 
maintenance and servicing as need and based on available Zone funding.
Street lighting improvements located in the public right of ways within and on the perimeter of 
the developments and associated with each Zone and the parcels therein. Street light 
improvements include energy costs and maintenance of the lighting facilities including, but 

43



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 8

not limited to the removal, repair, replacement or relocation of light standards, poles, bulbs, 
fixtures, and related equipment and materials. 
Street right of way improvements on the local streets within or adjacent to each respective 
Zone that may include but is not limited to the repair and servicing of street and parking 
surfaces, curbs, gutters, driveway approaches, sidewalks, walkways, delineation, signage or 
other facilities within the street right of ways and designated parking areas. The street paving 
program may include but is not limited to: the repair of potholes, cracks or other failures in the 
asphalt surface; repair or partial segment replacement of curbs, gutters, driveway 
approaches, and sidewalks as needed to ensure pedestrian and vehicle safety or the integrity 
of the street; repair or installation of street signs; slurry sealing, overlays and re-striping of the 
street surfaces and parking areas. The specific activities and timing of various street and road 
maintenance services shall be determined by the City’s Public Works Department as 
necessary to extend the life of the streets or to improve traffic circulation and safety as 
available funding permits. 

Many of the street services and activities described above are not performed on an annual 
basis, but rather on a periodic basis such as slurry sealing or overlaying the asphalt streets. 
The funds necessary for these activities are to be collected in installments as part of the 
annual assessments. The monies collected each year for these services will be accumulated 
in a special fund for each Zone (Reserve Fund or Capital Improvement Fund). The monies 
accumulated for these activities shall be spent when sufficient funds have been accumulated 
to perform the services deemed necessary by the City. This process of accumulating funds 
(installments) shall continue until such time the District or Zone is dissolved; or the City 
determines that such funding procedures require modification. Changes in the process of 
accumulating funds that would result in an increase to the annual assessment rate must be 
presented to the property owners for approval prior to imposing such an increase

Not included as part of the street maintenance program are the costs associated with major 
replacements or reconstruction. Although the District assessments will provide funding for 
regular maintenance of the street improvements and scheduled slurry and resurfacing 
projects on a periodic basis that will extend the useful life of the street improvements, the 
assessments are not intended to fund a full replacement or reconstruction of the street 
surfaces or adjacent improvements such as curbs, gutters, sidewalks, or driveway 
approaches. The costs of extensive replacement or reconstruction activities such as 
replacement of curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and driveway approaches is significantly more than 
the amount that is typically collected annually. When such repairs or activities are deemed 
necessary, the City may consider various financing options including new or increased 
assessments for property owner approval. 

Zones and Improvements
For Fiscal Year 2022/2023 the District included ten (10) designated Zones. In accordance with 
the City Maintenance District Codes, the District utilizes Zones to address variations in the nature, 
location, and extent of the improvements that provide special benefits to parcels in the District. 
Each Zone is associated with specific improvements and/or types of improvements that provide 
special benefit to properties within that Zone. The boundaries of each Zone is based on the 

44



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 9

improvements to be maintained and the relationship and proximity of the developments and 
properties that derive special benefits from those specific improvements. 

Existing Zones 01 through 10
The following is a brief description and summary of the existing Zones and improvement that are 
part of the District but not directly associated with this annexation proceeding.

Zone 01 — The Landing:
Comprised of one hundred twelve (112) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 817 (The 
Landing, Phases 1 and 2). The properties within Zone 01, proportionately share and receive 
special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 31,989 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Thirty-four (34) street lights.
355,598 square feet of pavement surface area.

Zone 02 — Liberty:
Comprised of two hundred forty-two (242) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 821 
(Liberty, Phases 1 and 2). The properties within Zone 02, proportionately share and receive 
special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 113,816 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Ninety-three (93) street lights.
729,025 square feet of pavement surface area.

Zone 03 — Silva Estates, Phase 10:
Comprised of seventy-four (74) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 838 (Silva 
Estates, Phase 10). The properties within Zone 03, proportionately share and receive special 
benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 22,256 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Twenty-six (26) street lights.
Approximately 202,063 square feet of pavement surface area.

Zone 04 — Parkview Estates:
Comprised of thirty-nine (39) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 797 (Parkview 
Estates). The properties within Zone 04, proportionately share and receive special benefit from 
the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 16,581 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Nine (9) street lights.
Approximately 83,581 square feet of pavement surface area.

45



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 10

Zone 05 — East Village Park and Aniston Place North:
Comprised of one hundred twenty (120) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 791
(East Village Park) and Tract No. 910 (Aniston Place North). The properties within Zone 05,
proportionately share and receive special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation 
of:

Approximately 61,882 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas that 
includes the following:

957 square feet of streetscape landscaping (shrubs with trees) on Cantera Avenue;

15,716 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel landscaping located on D 
Street, including approximately 7,005 square feet of shrubs, plants, and/or ground cover 
with trees; and 8,711 square feet of shrubs;

1,034 square feet of streetscape landscaping (shrubs) on Smith Avenue north of Siena 
Way;

1,723 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel landscaping located on Smith 
Avenue between D Street and Siena Way, including approximately 1,300 square feet of 
turf with trees; and 423 square feet of shrubs, plants, and/or ground cover with trees;

42,452 square feet of park improvement area located on Montego Way. This park site 
includes approximately 7,210 square feet of concrete or other hardscape surfaces; 850 
square feet of shrubs and planters; and 34,392 square feet of turf with trees.

Thirty (30) street lights including:

8 street lights on the perimeter of Zone 05 located on D Street and Smith Avenue.

22 street lights within the tracts located on, but not limited to: Cantera Avenue, Firenze 
Street, Montego Way, Portola Street, Siena Way, and Visconti Street;

Approximately 271,905 square feet of pavement surface area which collectively include 
Cantera Avenue, Firenze Street, Montego Way, Siena Way, Visconti Street, and Portola 
Street.

Zone 06 — Heritage Acres:
Comprised of ninety-seven (97) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 872 (Heritage 
Acres, Phases 1 and 2). The properties within Zone 06, proportionately share and receive special 
benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Twenty-seven (27) street lights.
Approximately 370,092 square feet of pavement surface area.

Zone 07 – Capistrano, Phase 5:
Comprised of twenty (20) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 908 (Capistrano, Phase 
5). The properties within Zone 07, proportionately share and receive or will receive special 
benefits from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 5,071 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel landscaping on 
East Bush Street consisting of: 3,125 square feet of shrubs, plants, and/or ground cover 
with trees; and 1,946 square feet of turf with trees. These improvements and the costs 
associated with the maintenance and operation of these improvements are proportionately 
shared by properties within LLMD Zone 06.

46



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 11

Approximately 1,477 square feet of parkway side-panel landscaping on the northeast side 
of Bush Place between East Bush Street and Tract 908, including the entryway 
landscaping at the southeast corner of East Bush Street and Bush Place. These 
improvements and the costs associated with the maintenance and operation of these 
improvements are proportionately shared by properties within LLMD Zone 06.
Approximately 2,341 square feet of parkway side-panel landscaping on the east side of 
Bush Place /Barcelona Drive adjacent to Tract 908.
The median island on Bush Place/Barcelona Drive, just south of East Bush Street leading 
into the development (Approximately 427 square feet). This median and the costs 
associated with the maintenance and operation improvements are proportionately shared 
by properties within LLMD Zone 06.
Eight (8) street lights including:

Two (2) street lights located on Bush place/Barcelona Drive directly adjacent to the 
perimeter of the development and one (1) street light at the southeast corner of East Bush 
Street and Bush Place. These three street lights also benefit properties within LLMD Zone 
06 and are therefore partially funded by other revenue sources.

5 street lights within Tract 908 located on Tuscany Court;
Approximately 26,060 square feet of pavement surface area located on Tuscany Court.

Zone 08 – Woodside:
At the time this Report was prepared, Tract No. 921 which comprises all of Zone 08 (Woodside), 
is identified as a single parcel on the Kings County Assessor’s maps (023-020-095). As Tract No. 
921 is developed, the parcel will be subdivided into sixty-four single-family residential parcels.
The properties within Zone 08, proportionately share and receive or will receive special benefits 
from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 12,206 square foot neighborhood park site located at the corner of Daphne 
Lane and Sydney Way that may include, but is not limited to, turf, shrubs, trees, plants, 
and/or ground cover areas; and concrete paths, play structures, tables, benches, and 
trash receptacles.
Approximately 82,540 square foot drainage basin site located in the southwest portion of 
Tract No. 921 that may include, but is not limited to, approximately 61,436 square feet of 
natural, non-irrigated area (basin floor); approximately 21,104 square feet of perimeter 
landscaping comprised of shrubs, trees, plants, and/or ground cover; and related drainage 
facilities and equipment which may include drainage inlet/outlet structures and pump.
Approximately 4,340 square feet of paved access roads providing access to the drainage 
basin and the Lemoore Canal from Daphne Lane.
Approximately 350 linear feet of block wall on the perimeter of the development along the 
Southern Pacific Railroad right-of-way and the Lemoore Canal.
Nineteen (19) street lights within Tract No. 921 located on Daphne Lane, Melbourne Way, 
Newcastle Street, and Sydney Way.
Approximately 198,416 square feet of pavement surface area located on but not limited to 
Daphne Lane, Melbourne Way, Newcastle Street, and Sydney Way, which also 
incorporates approximately 5,804 linear feet of curb and gutter, and approximately 31,922 
square feet of Sidewalk/Cross Gutter area.

47



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 12

Zone 09 – Lennar Homes:
Comprised of eighty-seven (87) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 920 (Lennar 
Homes, Phase 1). It is anticipated that Phase 2 of the development will eventually be annexed to 
the Zone. The properties within Zone 09, proportionately share and receive or will receive special 
benefits from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 28,193 square feet of perimeter streetscape landscaping:

3,482 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the east side of Liberty Drive north of 
Hana Way, up to the northern lot line of lot 87 (designated as that part of Lot A within 
Phase 1 of Tract No. 920). This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb 
and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

482 square feet on the north side of Hana Way between Liberty Drive and Narwhal 
Avenue. This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb and sidewalk. The 
landscaping behind sidewalk (if any) will be privately maintained and is not a part of the 
Zone improvements; 

482 square feet on the south side of Hana Way between Liberty Drive and Narwhal 
Avenue. This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb and sidewalk. The 
landscaping behind sidewalk (if any) will be privately maintained and is not a part of the 
Zone improvements;

4,971 square feet on the east side of Liberty Drive south of Hana Way and north of 
Hanford-Armona Road (designated as part of Lot B). This landscape area incorporates 
the area between the curb and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential 
property lines;

18,776 square feet on the north side of Hanford-Armona Road from Liberty Drive, to the 
eastern boundary of Tract No. 920 which is also the eastern lot line of Lot 60 (designated 
as part of Lot B). This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb and 
sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

32,972 square foot neighborhood park site/greenbelt area to be installed on the east side 
of Obsidian Avenue as part of Phase 2. This area may include, but is not limited to, turf, 
shrubs, trees, plants, and/or ground cover areas; and concrete paths, play structures, 
tables, benches, and trash receptacles. 
94,090 square foot drainage basin site to be installed to the east of the neighborhood park 
site/greenbelt area (east of Obsidian Avenue) as part of Phase 2. It is anticipated that 
approximately 20% of this area will be irrigated improvements and the remainder non-
irrigated improvements.
Twenty-four (24) street lights including:

Nine (9) street lights on the perimeter of Tract No. 920 Phase 1 located on Hanford-
Armona Road (8 Lights) and on Liberty Drive (1 Light); and

Fifteen (15) street lights within Tract No. 920 Phase 1 located on, but not limited to: 
Castellina Street, Fire Fall Avenue, Hana Way, Narwhal Avenue, Obsidian Avenue, Pisa 
Way, and Strada Street;

48



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 13

Approximately 208,497 square feet of pavement surface area, which also incorporates an 
estimated 8,872 linear feet of curb and gutter, and approximately 44,360 square feet of 
Sidewalk/Cross Gutter area. Of the 

Approximately 62,893 square feet of pavement surface area on the perimeter of the Zone 
including half of Hanford-Armona Road and Liberty Drive;

Approximately 145,604 square feet of pavement surface area on the internal streets of the 
Zone including Castellina Street, Fire Fall Avenue, Hana Way, Narwhal Avenue, Obsidian 
Avenue, Pisa Way, and Strada Street;

Note: The neighborhood park site/greenbelt area and drainage basin site improvements identified 
above will eventually be installed as part of Phase 2 of Tract No. 920, which is currently not a part 
of Zone 09. When those improvements are installed as part of Phase 2 of Tract No. 920, the cost 
of maintaining those improvements will be proportionately shared by the residential parcels in 
both phases of Tract No. 920. Likewise, the perimeter landscaping, street lighting, and pavement 
improvements being installed on Hanford-Armona Road and Liberty Drive as part of Tract No. 
920 Phase 1, will proportionately benefit properties in both phases and the costs associated with 
those improvements will be proportionately shared by the residential parcels in both phase of
Tract No. 920. However, when Phase 2 is developed, it is also anticipated that additional 
perimeter landscaping, street lighting, and pavement improvements will be installed and 
proportionately shared. Ultimately at build-out, all the Zone improvements installed as part of 
Phase 1 and Phase 2 of Tract No 920 will be proportionately shared by parcels in both phases. 

Zone 10 – Energy Homes
The thirty-six residential properties within Zone 10, proportionately share and receive or will 
receive special benefits from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 10,611 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas that 
includes:

1,361 square feet of median/entryway landscaping on Cabrillo Street at Vine Street, which 
is currently comprised of hardscape material and trees;

6,379 square feet of minimally maintained parkway and streetscape side-panel 
landscaping surrounding the drainage basin, including 1,725 square feet on Vine Street 
and 4,654 square feet on Cabrillo Street. This landscape area is comprised of turf and 
trees but is minimally maintained at present;

2,871 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel minimal landscaped area with 
trees Vine Street north of Cabrillo Street.

The special benefits and costs associate with the landscaping improvements listed above are 
allocated and shared by the parcels within Tract No. 656 (Zone No. 12 of Landscape and Lighting 
Maintenance District No. 1).

The four (4) street lights on the west side of Vine Street, three north of Cabrillo Street and 
one south of Cabrillo Street which serves as the entryway to Tract 839 and Tract 656. The 
special benefits associate with these four street lights are shared by the parcels within 
Tract No. 656 (Zone No. 12 of Landscape and Lighting Maintenance District No. 1) and 
PFMD Zone No. 10 is proportionately allocated the special benefit cost to operate and 
maintain these four street lights.

49



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 14

In addition to the above shared improvements, the 36 single-family residential parcels within Tract 
No. 839 (PFMD Zone No. 10) will proportionately share and receive special benefit from the 
maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

The eight (8) local street lights within Tract 839 located on Aliso Street, Otero Street, Lazo 
Court, and Cabrillo Street.
Approximately 63,386 square feet of pavement surface area located on Aliso Street, Otero 
Street, Lazo Court, and Cabrillo Street within Tract 839.

New Zone No. 12 – Tract No. 820; Annexation No. 2023-2
Annexation No. 2023-2 properties
The planned residential development of Tract No. 820 that will comprise PFMD Zone No. 12
(Annexation No. 2023-2), are identified by the King’s County Assessor’s Office as parcels:

024-390-046 through 024-390-066 and 024-390-068 through 024-390-075, incorporate the 
29 subdivided single-family residential lots within the development;

024-390-013 is a drainage basin within Tract No. 820;

024-390-067 is a neighborhood park;

024-390-076 is a neighborhood park/open space and extra parking; and,

024-390-043 is identified as the dedicated streets (Green Lane and Santrap Lane) within Tract 
No. 820.

Annexation No. 2023-2 Improvements
The benefiting single-family residential lots within Tract No. 820 will proportionately share and 
receive special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 7,810 square feet of streetscape landscaping, including an estimated :

1,535 square feet of perimeter streetscape landscaping on the east side of Vine Street 
between Sandtrap Lane and Green Lane. The landscaping is situated in the area between 
the sidewalk and residential property lines;

970 square feet of perimeter streetscape landscaping on the east side of Vine Street south 
of Green Lane to the southern border of Tract No. 820. The landscaping is situated in the 
area between the sidewalk and residential property lines; 

5,305 square feet of internal streetscape landscaping on the north side of Sandtrap Lane 
from Vine Street east to and including the cul-de-sac wrap around. The landscaping is 
situated in the area between the curb and the block wall and then between the curb and 
the drainage basin at the end of the cul-de-sac;

50



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 15

Approximately 4,895 square feet of landscape maintenance area in and around the 
drainage basin located at the east end of Tract No. 820 at the end of Sandtrap Lane.
3,010 square foot neighborhood park site on the north side of Green Lane between Vine 
Street and Sandtrap Lane. This area is planned to include primarily an area of shrubs, 
trees, plants, and other ground covers (2,350 square feet); a decomposed granite pathway 
(430 square feet); a play structure (230 square feet); and various park amenities that may 
include but is not limited to, tables, benches, and trash receptacles. 
3,920 square feet of additional common area parking and park/open space. This area 
included 2,590 square feet of landscaped park/open space that surrounds 1,330 square 
feet of paved parking stalls for the neighborhood located at the southwest corner of Green 
Lane and Sandtrap Lane. The landscape area incorporates shrubs, trees, plants, and 
other ground covers. 
A planned ten (10) street lights including:

Three (3) street lights on the perimeter of Tract No. 820 on Vine Street; and

Seven (7) street lights within Tract No. 820 located on Green Lane and Sandtrap Lane
Approximately 52,535 square feet of pavement surface area within Tract No. 820; 11,610
square feet of sidewalks (9,800 square feet within the development and 1,810 square feet 
on the perimeter of the development); and 2,995 linear feet of curbs and gutters of which 
2,635 linear feet are part of the internal streets (Green Lane and Sandtrap Lane) and 360
linear feet of curbs and gutters are located on the perimeter street (Vine Street).

 

51



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 16

Part II — Method of Apportionment
Legislative Requirements for Assessments
The costs of the proposed improvements have been identified and allocated to properties within 
the Annexation Territory (Zone No. 12 of PFMD) proportionately based on special benefit, 
consistent with the provisions of the City Maintenance District Codes and the assessment 
provisions contained in Article XIII D of the California Constitution. The improvements provided 
by this District and for which properties within Annexation 2023-2 are to be assessed are identified 
as local landscaping, including perimeter parkways, entry medians and a neighborhood park;
street lights, both internal and on the perimeter; street right of way improvements, including street 
surfaces, curbs and gutters, and sidewalks; and the related amenities associated with these 
improvements that were either installed in direct connection with the development of properties 
within Tract No. 820 or were previously installed as a result of property development in the area 
and would otherwise be required or considered necessary elements for the development of 
properties within Tract No. 820 to their full and best use. The formulas used for calculating 
assessments reflect the composition of parcels and the improvements and activities to be 
provided for Zone No. 12 (the Annexation Territory) and have been designed to fairly apportion 
the cost of providing those improvements based on a determination of the proportional special 
benefits to each parcel.
 
In addition to the provisions of the City Maintenance District Codes, Article XIII D of the California 
Constitution outlines specific requirements regarding assessments including the following:

Article XIII D Section 2d defines District as follows:
“District means an area determined by an agency to contain all parcels which will receive a special 
benefit from a proposed public improvement or property-related service”; 

Article XIII D Section 2i defines Special Benefit as follows:
“Special benefit” means a particular and distinct benefit over and above general benefits conferred 
on real property located in the district or to the public at large. General enhancement of property 
value does not constitute “special benefit.”

Article XIII D Section 4a defines proportional special benefit assessments as follows:
“An agency which proposes to levy an assessment shall identify all parcels which will have a 
special benefit conferred upon them and upon which an assessment will be imposed. The 
proportionate special benefit derived by each identified parcel shall be determined in relationship 
to the entirety of the capital cost of a public improvement, the maintenance and operation 
expenses of a public improvement, or the cost of the property related service being provided. No 
assessment shall be imposed on any parcel which exceeds the reasonable cost of the 
proportional special benefit conferred on that parcel.” 

52



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 17

Benefit Analysis
Special Benefits
Landscaping Special Benefit
The ongoing maintenance of landscaped areas within the District provide aesthetic benefits to the 
properties within each respective Zone and a more pleasant environment to walk, drive, live, and 
work. The primary function of these landscape improvements and related amenities is to serve 
as an aesthetically pleasing enhancement and green space for the benefit of the immediately 
surrounding properties and developments for which the improvements were constructed and 
installed and/or were facilitated by the development or potential development of properties within 
the Zones. These improvements are an integral part of the physical environment associated with 
the parcels in each Zone and while some of these improvements may in part be visible to 
properties outside the Zone, collectively if these Zone improvements are not properly maintained, 
it is the parcels within the Zone that would be aesthetically burdened. Additionally, the street 
landscaping in these Zones serves as both a physical buffer as well as a sound reduction buffer 
between the roadways and the properties in the District and serve as a pleasant aesthetic amenity 
that enhances the approach to the parcels. Likewise, in some of the zones, the landscaped areas 
may include green space areas (neighborhood parks, greenbelts, open space and/or trails) that 
provide a physical buffer and open space between properties and these areas serve as an 
extension of the physical attributes of the parcels assessed, such as their front or rear yards.
These green space areas may also provide a greater opportunity for recreation. As a result, the 
maintenance of these landscaped improvements and the related amenities provide particular and 
distinct benefits to the properties and developments within each Zone.

Street Lighting Special Benefit
The street lighting in the District (localized street lighting) is primarily useful for illuminating the 
sidewalks and parking lanes on the streets used specifically to access the properties and/or is 
adjacent to those properties that comprise the District. This lighting is distinct from lights that may 
be installed that serve in large part to enhance traffic safety, such as traffic signals and intersection 
safety lights or the more sporadic lighting found on major thoroughfares outside the more 
concentrated development areas. These localized street lights tend to be more closely spaced 
and of a lower intensity than street lights installed primarily for traffic safety. These low-level, 
lower-intensity street lights within the District provide three main special benefits: (i) property 
security benefit, (ii) pedestrian safety benefit, and (iii) parkway/roadway egress benefit. Because 
traffic to and from these parcels is largely limited to the residents and residents’ guests, it is 
reasonable to assume that essentially all pedestrians and parking vehicles in the lit areas will, 
after dark, be directly associated with the properties in the District and that the vehicular traffic 
within the internal streets of a Zone is primarily for accessing the properties within that Zone.
Therefore, street lighting on such streets is entirely a special benefit to those properties. While 
lighting located on the perimeter of a development also serves primarily for accessing the 
properties within that Zone it is recognized that such lighting may benefit pass-through traffic as 
well and inherently there is some general benefits associated with those street lights.

In addition, the street lights within the District are consistent with the City’s typical intensity and 
spacing standards for areas zoned for residential development areas and each parcel to be 
assessed is served directly by the system of street lights providing appropriate lighting within 
these respective development areas. Furthermore, the cost of maintaining and operating each 
light is substantially the same, regardless of the location of the light within the District. 
Consequently, we conclude that each parcel within the District receives substantially similar 
benefit from the street light improvements and the only notable distinctions in proportional special 

53



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 18

benefit to each parcel is related to the specific quantity of lights associated with each development 
(Zone) and the overall location of those lights (internal development lights or perimeter lights). 

Street Paving Special Benefit
Like street lighting in the District, the streets, parking lanes, sidewalks, and cross gutters within 
the street right of ways that are to be maintained through the District are exclusively within the 
boundaries of each Zone and those streets were specifically constructed to access those
properties. Furthermore, the maintenance of these streets and associated improvements within 
the street right of ways, or the lack thereof, only has an impact on the properties within the District.
Because traffic on these streets is almost exclusively limited to the residents and residents’ guests
associated with the District parcels, it is reasonable to conclude that essentially all utilization of 
these streets is primarily for accessing the properties within each respective Zone. Therefore, the 
maintenance and preservation of these streets and associated improvements is entirely a special 
benefit to those properties. 

General Benefit
Landscaping General Benefit
In reviewing the location and extent of the specific landscaped areas and improvements to be 
funded by District assessments and the proximity and relationship to properties to be assessed, 
it is evident these improvements were primarily installed in connection with the development of 
properties in each respective Zone or are improvements that would otherwise be shared by and 
required for development of properties in those Zones. It is also evident that the maintenance of 
these improvements and the level of maintenance provided has a direct and particular impact 
(special benefit) only on those properties in proximity to those improvements and such 
maintenance beyond that which is required to ensure the safety and protection of the general 
public and property in general, has no quantifiable benefit to the public at large or properties 
outside each respective Zone.

In the absence of a special funding Zone, the City would typically provide only limited (as needed) 
tree management, weed abatement, rodent control, and erosion control services for the
landscape areas currently maintained within the District. This baseline level of service would 
typically provide for periodic servicing of the improvement areas on an as-needed basis, but 
typically not more than twice annually. This baseline level of service provides for public safety and 
essential property protection to avoid negative impacts on adjacent roadways and vehicles 
traveling on those roadways and potential property damage resulting from erosion or fire hazards 
but results in a far less visually pleasing environment than is created with the enhanced levels of 
services associated with the regular landscape maintenance provided in the various Zones.
Typically for most agencies, the cost to provide this baseline level of service for flat/moderately-
sloped street landscaped areas is less than $620 per acre (approximately $0.01424 per square 
foot) including medians, parkway and streetscape side panels; less than $496 per acre 
(approximately $0.01139 per square foot) for non-street public areas such as parks, greenbelts,
and trail areas; and less than $248 per acre (approximately $0.00569 per square foot) for natural 
open space areas or other limited access areas. This baseline servicing, unlike the enhanced 
aesthetic services funded through the District assessments, would provide benefits to the general 
public and to the properties both within and outside of the specific benefit zones. These costs of 
providing this baseline service along with a five percent (5%) cost factor for City overhead and 
administration is treated as the cost of general benefits from landscape maintenance services. 
Therefore, for flat/moderately-sloped street landscaped areas a rate of $0.01495 per square foot 
($0.01424 +5%) is applied to calculate the general benefit costs for the assessed improvements;
for non-street public areas a rate of $0.01196 per square foot ($0.01139 +5%) is applied to 

54



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 19

calculate the general benefit costs for the assessed improvements; and for non-street public areas 
a rate of $0.00598 per square foot ($0.00569 +5%) is applied to calculate the general benefit 
costs for the assessed improvements.
In addition to the general benefit identified above, it is recognized that there are indirect or 
incidental general benefits to properties within the District as well as the general public that are 
associated with regular landscape maintenance services, including:

Minimization of dust and debris; and

Decreased potential water runoff from both properties and the landscaped areas.

Although these types of benefits might best be characterized as indirect consequences of the 
special benefit of the landscape maintenance provided to parcels served by the District, for the 
purposes of this Report we assume these types of benefits to be general benefits, albeit general 
benefits that are extremely difficult to quantify. We estimate that the costs associated with these 
indirect benefits do not exceed one percent of the annual maintenance expenditures for Local 
Landscaping Zone improvements. Therefore, the costs associated with these indirect or incidental 
general benefits has been calculated based on 1.0% of the estimated “Total Annual Maintenance 
Expenditures” budgeted for each Zone. Together with the baseline general benefit costs 
previously identified, these indirect/incidental general benefit costs are excluded from the potential 
assessment funding and together are shown in the budgets (Part III of this Report) as the 
“Landscaping General Benefit — City Funded”.

Street Lighting General Benefit
Collectively, there are a total of 217 street lights to be operated and maintained through the District 
(including the lights for Zone No. 12) of which approximately 30% of those lights are located on 
the perimeter of the Zones, the remainder being internal residential street lights.

These residential perimeter lights (two of which are identified for Zone No. 12), in contrast to the 
internal residential lights funded by the District, arguably provide some illumination that extends 
beyond the boundaries of the developments and parcels being assessed, and these lights may 
also enhance the safety of members of the public unassociated with an assessed parcel by 
illuminating traffic lanes and/or parking on those streets, or that otherwise provides services to 
the general public. Although, in general, these street lights exist solely because of the 
development of assessed parcels, and the primary purpose of these lights is to provide 
illumination to access the assessed parcels, these particular lights may provide some level of 
general benefit in addition to the special benefits provided to the assessed parcels. We estimate 
that these general benefits constitute not more than 25% of the total benefit associated with these 
perimeter lights, which is no more than 8% of the total benefit from all residential lights operated 
and maintained by the District (25% of 30% equals 7.5%). Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude 
that the total general benefit from the operation and maintenance activities associated with the 
District street lights does not exceed 8% of the direct annual operating expenses for all combined 
residential street lights. These general benefit costs are excluded from the potential assessment 
funding and are shown in the budgets (Part III of this Report) as the “Lighting General Benefit —
City Funded”.
 

55



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 20

Assessment Methodology
To assess benefits equitably it is necessary to calculate each property’s relative share of the 
special benefits conferred by the funded improvements and service. The Equivalent Benefit Unit 
(EBU) method of assessment apportionment is utilized for this District and establishes a basic 
unit (base value) of benefit and then calculates the benefit derived by each assessed parcel as a 
multiple (or a fraction) of that basic unit. The EBU method of apportioning special benefits is 
typically seen as the most appropriate and equitable assessment methodology for assessment 
districts, as the benefit to each parcel from the improvements are apportioned as a function of 
comparable property characteristics which may include but is not limited to land use and property 
size. The method of apportionment originally developed for this District was based on an 
assessment formula appropriate for the various land uses, identifiable property characteristics 
and improvements within the District and utilizes the number of comparative dwelling units or 
dwelling spaces for other residential land uses and comparative lot sizes (acreage) for non-
residential and undeveloped properties.

For the District and the purposes of this Report, an EBU is the quantum of benefit derived from 
the various Zone improvements by a single family residential parcel. The single family residential 
parcel has been selected as the basic unit for calculation of assessments since it currently 
represents 100% of the parcels to be assessed in the District, although other land uses may be 
annexed to the District in the future. Thus, the "benchmark" property (the single family residential 
parcel) derives one EBU of benefit and is assigned 1.00 Equivalent Benefit Unit.

Land Use Classifications
Every parcel within the District is assigned a land use classification based on available parcel 
information obtained from the County Assessor’s Office. It has been determined that a parcel use 
and size are the appropriate factors necessary to identify and calculate the proportional special 
benefits conveyed to each property within the District for the cost of improvements associated 
with that property. The parcels currently within the District are identified as single family residential 
parcels or Exempt parcels and the following provides a description of those land use 
classifications. This method of apportionment and assignment of Equivalent Benefit Units may be 
expanded to include additional land use classifications as developments are annexed to the 
District in the future.

Residential Single-Family — This land use classification may include, but is not limited to all 
subdivided residential tract lots with a single residential unit on the parcel (individual Assessor’s 
Parcel Number) including attached and detached single-family residential units, condominiums or 
townhomes. As previously noted, the single family residential parcel has been selected as the 
basic unit for calculation of assessments and each is assigned 1.00 Equivalent Benefit Unit.

Residential Vacant Lot — This land use classification is defined as a fully subdivided residential 
parcel/lot within an approved Tract or subdivision for which the residential unit or units have not 
been constructed on the parcel (subdivided vacant lot). This land use classification is limited to 
fully subdivided residential parcels for which the number of residential units to be constructed on 
the parcel is four (4) units or less. This land use is assessed at 1.00 EBU per parcel.

Planned Residential Subdivision — This land use classification is defined as any property not 
fully subdivided, but a specific number of proposed lots and/or residential units to be developed 
on the parcel has been identified as part of an approved Tract Map or Tentative Tract Map. This 
land use type is assessed at 1.0 EBU per planned (proposed) lot and/or residential unit.

56



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 21

Vacant Undeveloped Property -- This land use classification includes undeveloped/vacant 
properties or primarily undeveloped properties that may have originally been identified as Planned 
Residential Subdivision parcels but have not yet been developed or subdivided. While many of 
the improvements within a Zone are considered shared improvements that collectively support 
the overall development of properties within a Zone to their full and best use and thus benefit 
each of the properties in the Zone including the vacant undeveloped properties, some 
improvements are constructed and accepted for maintenance only when the properties are 
subdivided and/or developed. Likewise, it is also recognized that some of the shared 
improvements within a Zone have a more direct and particular benefit to those developed 
properties directly adjacent to the improvements or in close proximity to those improvements than 
do the vacant undeveloped properties that are not actively being developed or are further from 
those shared improvements. Therefore, it has been determined that parcels identified as Vacant 
Undeveloped Property shall be assigned a proportional EBU that is 20% of that assigned to 
developed properties, which is 1.0 EBU per acre (20% of the 5.0 EBU per acre assigned to 
Developed Non-Residential property). (e.g., a Vacant Undeveloped Property which is 7.00-acres 
would be assigned 7.00 EBU [7.0 acres x 1.0 EBU/acre]).

Exempt — Exempt from District assessments are the areas of public streets, private streets and 
other roadways, dedicated public easements and open spaces, right of ways including public 
greenbelts and parkways or that portion of public property that is not developed and used for 
business purposes similar to private commercial, industrial and institutional activities. (These 
types of properties are not usually assigned an Assessor’s Parcel Number by the County). Also 
exempt from assessment are utility right of ways, common areas (such as in condominium 
complexes), landlocked parcels, small parcels vacated by the County, bifurcated lots, and any 
other property that cannot be developed or developed independent of an adjacent parcel. It has 
been determined that these types of properties receive no direct benefit from the improvements 
and receive no special benefit or general benefits from the operation and maintenance of the 
District improvements.

Special Case — In many assessment districts (particularly districts that have a wide range of 
land uses and property development) there may be one or more parcels that the standard land 
use classifications and proportionality identified above do not accurately identify the use and 
special benefit received from the improvements. Properties that are typically classified as Special 
Case Parcels usually involve some type of development or land restrictions whether those 
restrictions are temporary or permanent and affect the properties proportional special benefit. 
Examples of such restrictions may include situations where only a small percentage of the parcel’s 
total acreage can actually be developed. In such a case, the net usable acreage of the parcel 
rather than the gross acreage of the parcel may be applied to calculate the parcel’s proportional 
special benefit. Each such parcel shall be addressed on a case-by-case basis by the assessment 
engineer and the EBU assigned to such parcels shall be based on the specific issues related to 
that parcel and its proportional special benefit compared to other properties that receive special 
benefits from the improvements.

57



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 22

A summary of the Equivalent Benefit Units (EBUs) that may be applied to land use classifications 
currently applicable to properties within the PFMD is shown in the following table: 

The following is a summary of the land use classifications and Equivalent Benefit Units applicable 
to Annexation No. 2023-2 (Zone No. 12) for establishment of the maximum assessments:

 
 
 

Land Use Classification

Residential Single-Family 1.00 EBU per Parcel/Lot
Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 EBU per Parcel/Lot
Planned Residential Subdivision 1.00 EBU per Planned Lot/Unit
Vacant Undeveloped Property 1.00 EBU per Acre
Exempt 0.00 EBU per Parcel
Special Case Varied EBU per Adjusted Acre or Planned Units

Equivalent Benefit Unit Formula

Land Use Classification
 Total 

Parcels 
 Assessed 
Parcels 

 Applied 
Acres/Units 

 Equivalent 
Benefit Units 

(EBU) 

Residential Vacant Lot 29 29 29.000 29.0000
Exempt 4 - 1.696 -

Totals 33 29 30.696 29.0000

58



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 23

Part III — Estimate of Costs
Calculation of Assessments
An assessment amount per EBU in each Zone of the District including Zone No. 12 (Annexation 
Territory) is calculated by:

Taking the “Total Annual Expenses” (Total budgeted costs) and subtracting the “General Benefit 
Expenses (City Funded)”, to establish the “Total Eligible Special Benefit Expenses”; 

Total Annual Expenses – General Benefit Expenses = Total Eligible Special Benefit Expenses
To the resulting “Eligible Special Benefit Expenses”, various “Funding Adjustments/Contributions” 
may be applied that may include, but are not limited to:

“Unfunded Reserve Fund Collection”, represents an adjustment (reduction) in the amount
to be collected for “Operational Reserve Funding” that was budgeted as part of the Total 
Annual Expenses.
“Unfunded Rehab-Renovation Funding”, represents an adjustment (reduction) in the 
amount to be collected for “Total Rehab-Renovation Funding” that was budgeted as part 
of the Total Annual Expenses. (This does not include the amount budgeted for Planned 
Capital Expenditures).
“Reserve Fund Transfer/Deduction”, represents an amount of available existing funds
from the “Operational Reserve Fund Balances” being applied to pay a portion of the 
Special Benefit Expenses for the fiscal year.
“Additional City Contribution and/or Service Reductions”, represents a further adjustment 
that addresses the funding gap between the amount budgeted to provide the 
improvements and services (“Special Benefit Expenses”); and the amount that will be 
collected through the assessments. This funding gap may be addressed by an additional 
City contribution, reductions in service and service expenses, or a combination of the two.

These adjustments to the Special Benefit Expenses result in the net special benefit amount to be 
assessed “Balance to Levy”;

Eligible Special Benefit Expenses +/- Funding Adjustments/Contributions =Balance to Levy 
The amount identified as the “Balance to Levy” is divided by the total number of EBUs of parcels that 
benefit to establish the “Assessment Rate” or “Assessment per EBU”. This Rate is then applied back 
to each parcel’s individual EBU to calculate the parcel’s proportionate special benefit and assessment 
for the improvements. 

Balance to Levy / Total EBU = Assessment per EBU (Assessment Rate)
Assessment per EBU x Parcel EBU = Parcel Assessment Amount

59



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 24

Budgets & Assessment Zone No. 12 (Annexation No. 2023-2)
The budget and maximum assessment rate outlined on the following page for Zone No. 12
(Annexation No. 2023-2), are based on the City’s estimate of the expenses and related funding 
deemed appropriate and necessary to fully support the ongoing operation, maintenance and 
servicing of the improvements identified in Part I of this Report for PFMD Zone No. 12. Those 
improvements and/or costs determined to be of general benefit shall be funded by a City 
contribution. This budget establishes the maximum assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 to be 
approved by the property owner(s) of record within Annexation No. 2023-2 as part of the Ballot 
Proceeding.

Although the budget presented, establishes the maximum assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, 
it is anticipated that the improvements for Zone No. 12 will be maintained by the owner/developer 
of Tract No. 820 through the end of Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and therefore no assessment is 
proposed for Fiscal year 2023/2024. However, at the City Council’s discretion, the City Council 
may still authorize and approve an actual assessment to be levied and collected on the County 
Tax Rolls for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 as part of the annual assessment process and approval of 
the Fiscal year 2023/2024 Engineer’s Report for the entire PFMD. In no case, however, will the 
annual assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, exceed the maximum assessment presented 
herein.

60



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 25

Zone No. 12 Maximum Assessment Budget

 
 
 

PFMD
Zone 12

Tract 820

Maximum
Assessment

Budget

ANNUAL OPERATION & MAINTENANCE EXPENSES
 Annual Lighting Operation & Maintenance Expenses 1,931$                
 Annual Landscaping Operation & Maintenance Expenses 4,855
Annual Street Operation & Maintenance Expenses 81

TOTAL ANNUAL OPERATION & MAINTENANCE EXPENSES 6,867$             

REHABILITATION/RENOVATION FUNDING & CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Lighting Rehabilitation/Renovation Funding 97$                     
Landscape Improvement Rehabilitation/Renovation Funding 391
Street Rehabilitation/Renovation Funding 8,086

TOTAL REHABILITATION/RENOVATION FUNDING & CAPITAL EXPENDITUR 8,574$                
INCIDENTAL EXPENSES

Operational Reserves (Collection) 2,254$                
Annual Administration Expenses 1,099

TOTAL INCIDENTAL EXPENSES 3,352$                

TOTAL ANNUAL EXPENSES 18,792$          
-

GENERAL BENEFIT EXPENSES
Lighting General Benefit — City Funded (154)$                  
Landscaping General Benefit — City Funded (262)
Street Paving General Benefit — City Funded -

TOTAL GENERAL BENEFIT EXPENSES (416)$                  

TOTAL SPECIAL BENEFIT EXPENSES 18,376$          

BALANCE TO LEVY 18,376$       
DISTRICT STATISTICS

-
Total Parcels 33
Assessed Parcels 29
Equivalent Benefit Units (EBU) 29.00

Maximum Assessment Rate Per EBU $634.00
Balloted Maximum Assessment Rate Per EBU $634.0000

Balloted Amount 18,386.00$         

BUDGET ITEMS

61



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 26

Annual Inflationary Adjustment (Assessment Range Formula)
In order to assure continued adequacy of the financing of the improvement costs, when the District 
Zones were established (including Zone No. 12 being established herein), the assessments 
presented to the property owners included an annual inflationary adjustment (assessment range 
formula). This inflationary adjustment formula established that the Maximum Annual Assessment 
(maximum assessment rates) shall be comparably and automatically increased each fiscal year 
to cover the maintenance and replacement cost increases that naturally occur over time. The 
annual increase in the Maximum Annual Assessments shall be in accordance with the annual 
percentage increase (March to March) in the Employment Cost Index for Total Compensation for 
State and Local Government Workers (all Workers), published quarterly by the U.S. Bureau of 
Labor and Statistics (the “Index”). Increases in the Index will track comparably to increases in the 
costs of annual maintenance and periodic replacement of the described facilities and 
improvements, since the majority of the maintenance and replacement work is and will be done 
by City employees.

Each year, the percentage difference between the Index for March of the current year and the 
Index for the previous March shall be identified. This percentage difference shall then establish 
the range of increased assessments allowed based on the Index. If the percentage change from 
March to March is not available at the time the Engineer’s Report is prepared a similar time period 
may be utilized.

The Maximum Assessment Rates shall be calculated independent of the District’s annual budget 
and proposed assessments. Any proposed annual assessment (rate per EBU) less than or equal 
to the calculated (adjusted) Maximum Assessment Rates is not considered an increased 
assessment, even if the assessment for the fiscal year is significantly greater than the assessment 
applied in the prior fiscal year. 

The District is not required to adjust the assessments levied each year, nor does it restrict the 
assessments to the adjustment amount. If the budget and assessments for a given Zone does 
not require an increase or the increase is less than the allowed adjusted maximum assessment 
rate, then the budget and assessments shall be applied. If the budget and assessments for a 
given Zone require an increase greater than the allowed maximum assessment rate, then the 
proposed assessment is considered an increased assessment. In such cases, mailed notices and 
balloting to the property owners would be required pursuant to the provisions of the Article XIIID 
prior to the imposition of that assessment.

62



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 27 

Part IV — Annexation Diagram
The Fiscal Year 2022/2023 District Diagrams showing the boundaries of Zones 01 through 10
within for the Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 are on file in the office of the 
City Public Works Department and the City Clerk, and by reference herein are made part of this 
Report. The parcels identified as Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820), and subsequently as 
Zone No. 12 are depicted on the following Annexation Diagram. All lots, parcels and subdivisions
of land within the boundaries of Zone No. 12 (Annexation No. 2023-2) as depicted by this diagram 
shall be dictated by the lines and dimensions of those lots, parcels and subdivisions of land shown 
on the Kings County Assessor’s parcel maps and by reference these maps are incorporated 
herein and made part of this Report, including all subsequent lot-line adjusts and/or parcel 
changes made thereto by the Kings County Assessor’s Office. This Annexation Diagram along 
with the Assessment Roll referenced in this Report constitute the PFMD Zone No. 12 Assessment 
Diagram for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and the Annexation Diagram for Annexation No. 2023-2.

63



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 28 

Zone No. 12 (Annexation No. 2023-2) Diagram

 

64



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 29

Part V — Assessment Roll
The following Assessment Roll contained on the following pages identifies each lot or parcel within 
Annexation No. 2023-2 along with the Fiscal Year 2023/2024 maximum assessment amount 
(Balloted Assessment Amount). The parcel(s) listed on the Assessment Roll corresponds to the 
Assessor’s Parcel Number(s) shown on the County Assessor's Roll and illustrated on the County 
Assessor’s Parcel Number Maps (APN maps) at the time this Report was prepared and shall 
incorporate all subsequent parcel changes, lot-line adjustments, and subdivisions of land 
identified by the Kings County Assessor’s Office. These records are, by reference, made part of 
this Report and shall govern for all details concerning the description of the lots or parcels. All 
assessments presented on the assessment roll are subject to change as a result of parcel 
changes made by the County including parcel splits, parcel merges or development changes that 
occur prior to the County Assessor's Office securing the final roll and generating tax bills each 
fiscal year.

65



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-2 (Tract No. 820)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 30

 
 
 

Assessor Parcel
Balloted 

Maximum
Fiscal Year 
2023/2024

Number Address Zone Tract Lot No. Land Use  EBU Assessment Assessment

024-390-013 401 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  42 Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

024-390-043 12 820  43 Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

024-390-046 597 Green Lane 12 820  1 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-047 581 Green Lane 12 820  2 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-048 573 Green Lane 12 820  3 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-049 559 Green Lane 12 820  4 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-050 545 Green Lane 12 820  5 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-051 537 Green Lane 12 820  6 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-052 525 Green Lane 12 820  7 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-053 519 Green Lane 12 820  8 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-054 515 Green Lane 12 820  9 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-055 501 Green Lane 12 820  10 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-056 473 Green Lane 12 820  11 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-057 465 Green Lane 12 820  12 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-058 453 Green Lane 12 820  13 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-059 447 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  14 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-060 429 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  15 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-061 411 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  16 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-062 598 Green Lane 12 820  17 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-063 592 Green Lane 12 820  18 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-064 580 Green Lane 12 820  19 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-065 566 Green Lane 12 820  20 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-066 554 Green Lane 12 820  21 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-067 536 Green Lane 12 820  31 Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

024-390-068 599 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  22 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-069 587 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  23 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-070 571 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  24 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-071 563 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  25 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-072 547 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  26 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-073 535 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  27 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-074 517 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  28 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-075 509 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  29 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $634.00 $0.00

024-390-076 499 Sandtrap Lane 12 820  30 Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

Total  29.00 $18,386.00 $0.00

66



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6700 Fax (559) 924-6708

Staff Report

    Item No: 5-2 
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Randon Reeder, Management Analyst   
Date: June 8, 2023    Meeting Date:    June 19, 2023
Subject: Resolution 2023-17 – Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of Additional 

Territories (Tract 848) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in 
the City of Lemoore, and Confirming the Diagram and Assessment of 
Annual Levy for an Additional Territory Annexed to and included to 
Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Adoption of Resolution 2023-17, Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of Additional 
Territories (Tract 848) in Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of 
Lemoore, and Levy and Collect Annual Assessments in such Annexed Territories for 
Fiscal Year 2023-2024 and Thereafter.

Subject/Discussion:
On May 2, 2023 the City Council approved Resolution 2023-11, declaring the intention to 
annex Tract 848 (Lennar) into Zone 11 of the Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 
(PFMD). 

The Zone is generally located on the south side of Bush Street, north of Pederson Street, 
east of Semas Avenue and generally west of College Avenue. Willdan Financial Services 
prepared and filed with the City Clerk a report entitled “City of Lemoore Engineer’s 
Annexation Report, Public Facility Maintenance District No. 1, Annexation of Territory 
Tract No. 848 as Zone No. 11”. The report contains a description of the existing facilities 
and improvements, the boundaries of the PFMD and any zones therein, including the 

67



boundaries of the territories proposed to be annexed to the PFMD in these proceedings, 
the facilities and improvements proposed for Zone 11 and the general location and 
proposed assessments on the assessable lots and parcels of land within the Added 
Territories of PFMD No.1.  
 
The 360 planned single-family residential lots, a park site and various landscape 
easements will be developed by Lennar Homes. At this time, Tract 848 is currently 
identified on the King’s County Assessor’s Parcel Maps as Book 023, Page 480 Parcel 
043; Book 023, Page 510 Parcels 070 through 073; Book 023 Page 660, Parcels 001 
through 020, 023 through 034, 045, and 050 through 075; Book 023 Page 670, Parcels 
011 and 014 through 064; and Book 023, Page 680, Parcels 001 through 056. Lennar 
Homes is the sole owner of the property. Lennar Homes has waived the 45-day waiting 
period, per petition.  
 
A public hearing will be held on the annexation of Zone 11 of the Public Facilities 
Maintenance District No. 1, the services, and the first annual levy of assessments in the 
Added Territory. If the resolution is approved, a maximum assessment of $614.00 will be 
applied on an annual per lot basis, beginning in fiscal year 2023-2024, and will be applied 
to each lot within the newly Added Territory. 
  
Financial Consideration(s): 
Should the assessment not be approved, maintenance of the street, streetlights and 
common area landscaping will be maintained by the General Fund. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
Pros: 

 Ensures the benefiting property owners cover the costs of their neighborhood 
infrastructure. 

Cons: 
 Not adopting this resolution would put an unfair burden on the General Fund to 

contribute to the upkeep of the neighborhood. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
Not applicable. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends City Council hold a public hearing and adopt Resolution 2023-17, 
Ordering Annexation and Inclusion of Additional Territories (Tract 848) in Public Facilities 
Maintenance District No. 1 in the City of Lemoore, and Levy and Collect Annual 
Assessments in such Annexed Territories for Fiscal Year 2023-2024 and Thereafter. 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution: 2023-17   Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 6/15/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 6/15/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 6/12/2023 

    Finance 6/13/2023 
 Other     
 List: Engineers Report 
   

68



RESOLUTION NO. 2023-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 
(1) ORDERING ANNEXATION AND INCLUSION OF ADDITIONAL 

TERRITORIES (TRACT 848) IN PUBLIC FACILITIES MAINTENANCE DISTRICT 
NO. 1 IN THE CITY OF LEMOORE, AND  

(2) CONFIRMING THE DIAGRAM AND ASSESSMENT OF ANNUAL LEVY FOR 
FISCAL YEAR 2023-2024 FOR AN ADDITIONAL TERRITORY ANNEXED TO AND 

INCLUDED AS ZONE 11 OF PUBLIC FACILITIES MAINTENANCE DISTRICT NO. 1  
 

 WHEREAS, City Council of the City of Lemoore order annexation of Territories to City 
of Lemoore Public Facilities District No. 1 (“PFMD”), as Zone 11 thereof, and to order levy and 
collection of annual assessments in such annexed Territories for fiscal year 2023-24 and thereafter, 
under Chapter 10 of Title 7 of the Lemoore Municipal Code, as enacted by Ordinance No. 2006-
01 (the “Ordinance”), and according the procedures set forth in the Proposition 218 Omnibus 
Implementation Act (Government Code Sections 53750-53753.5, inclusive) (the “Implementation  
Act”), Article XIIID of the California Constitution (“Proposition 218”) and, to the extent not 
inconsistent with the Ordinance, the procedures specified in the State Landscaping and Lighting 
Act of 1972 (Chapter 2 of Part 2 of Division 15 of the California Streets & Highways Code) (the 
“LLMD Act”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Territories to be annexed to the PFMD (the “Added Territories”) is 
comprised of the real property to be benefited and to be assessed for the maintenance, operation, 
repair and periodic replacement of landscaping, street lights, local street paving, parks and 
appurtenant facilities described as follows: 
 
 Plants, shrubbery, trees, turf, irrigation systems, entry monuments, local street 
maintenance, parks, hardscapes, walls, fencing, street lights and appurtenant facilities in public 
rights-of-way and easements within or appurtenant to the boundaries of the applicable benefit Zone 
of said District; 
 
The Added Territories is generally described in the map(s) attached hereto as Exhibit A and 
incorporated herein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Engineer has prepared and filed with the City Clerk a report entitled 
“City of Lemoore Engineer’s Annexation Report Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1, 
Annexation of Territory as Zone 11” dated January 2023 (the “Engineer’s Report”), to which 
reference is hereby made, which Engineer’s Report contains a description of the existing facilities 
and improvements, the boundaries of the PFMD and any zones therein, the boundaries of the 
Territories proposed to be annexed to the PFMD in these proceedings, the facilities and 
improvements proposed for the Added Territories, and the general location and proposed 
assessments on the assessable lots and parcels of land within the PFMD, including the Added 
Territories; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Engineer’s Report is on file in the office of the City Clerk and is available 
for inspection during regular business hours; 

69



 
 WHEREAS, the City Engineer also has prepared and filed with the City Clerk an amended 
map of the boundaries of the PFMD, incorporating the Added Territories within such boundaries 
as Zone 11, as proposed in these proceedings; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the proceeds of the annual assessments to be levied on the parcels within the 
PFMD, including the Added Territories, for fiscal year 2023-24 and for each fiscal year thereafter 
will be used exclusively to finance the expenses for maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the improvements and facilities described in the Engineer’s Report for that fiscal 
year, which maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement will provide direct, particular 
and distinct special benefits to the various parcels assessed, over and above the benefits conferred 
on the public at large; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the amount of the assessment to be levied on each parcel in the PFMD, 
including the Added Territories, for the 2023-2024 fiscal year, as proposed in the Engineer’s 
Report, is proportional to and no greater than the special benefits conferred on such parcel from 
maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement of the improvements and facilities 
described in the Engineer’s Report; 
 
  THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Lemoore resolves, finds and 
determines as follows: 
 
1.  All territories within Tract No. 848 whose boundaries are set forth in the Engineer’s Report on 

file with the City Clerk, are annexed to and made part of City of Lemoore Public Facilities 
Maintenance District No. 1 as Zone 11 thereof.   The map of the boundaries of the PFMD, 
prepared by the City Engineer and showing annexation of the Added Territory as Zone 11 
thereof, is hereby approved. 

2.  The Added Territory, whose boundaries are set forth in the Engineer’s Report, will be 
particularly, distinctly and specially benefited, over and above the general benefits conferred 
on such territory and the public at large, from maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the Facilities and Improvements described in the Engineer’s Report. 

3.  The hearing on the annexation of the territory within the Added Territory as Zone 11 of the 
PFMD and the levy of annual assessments therein, commencing with 2023-2024 fiscal year, 
was noticed and held in accordance with law. 

4.  The Engineer’s Report, including the diagram of the Added Territory as Zone 11 of the PFMD 
and the assessment therein of the estimated costs of maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the Facilities and Improvements contained in the Engineer’s Report, and each 
and every part of the Engineer’s Report, is finally adopted, confirmed and approved. 

5.  The assessment diagram showing the lots and parcels of land within the Added Territory as part 
of Zone 11 of the PFMD, all as contained in the Engineer’s Report, is finally approved and 

70



confirmed as the diagram of the lots and parcels within the Added Territory to be assessed to 
pay the costs of maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement of the Facilities and 
Improvements described in the Engineer’s Report. 

6.  The assessment of the total amount of the costs and the individual assessments thereof on the 
lots and parcels within the Added Territory in proportion to the direct special benefits to be 
conferred on each such lot or parcel from maintenance, operation, repair and periodic 
replacement of the Facilities and Improvements, and of the expenses incidental thereto, as set 
forth in the Engineer’s Report, is finally approved and confirmed as the assessment for the 
2023-2024 fiscal year to pay such costs. 

7.  The annexation and inclusion of the Added Territory as Zone 11 of the PFMD, and the levy of 
the annual assessments on all lots and parcels within the Added Territory for fiscal year 2023-
2024, as described in the Resolution of Intention and the Engineer’s Report, are hereby 
ordered. 

8.  The City Clerk is authorized and directed to file the diagram of the PFMD, including the Added 
Territory as Zone 11 thereof, and assessments therein, as approved and confirmed by the 
Council and containing all information and statements required by Section 3114 of the Streets 
& Highways Code, with the Kings County Recorder immediately after adoption of this 
resolution.  The City Clerk is further authorized and directed to record a notice of assessment 
with respect to the Added Territory pursuant to Streets & Highways Code Section 3114.  The 
City Clerk is further authorized and directed to file the amended map of the boundaries of the 
PFMD, incorporating the Added Territory within Zone 11, as approved by the City Council 
and containing all information and statements provided for in Streets & Highways Code 
Sections 3110 and 3113, with the Kings County Recorder not later than 10 days after the date 
this resolution is adopted. 

9.  This resolution shall take effect immediately upon adoption. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

71



PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lemoore at a special 
meeting held on the 19th day of June 2023 by the following vote: 
 
 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTAINING: 

 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
             
Marisa Avalos      Patricia Matthews 
City Clerk      Mayor 
 

72



City of Lemoore
Engineer’s Annexation Report
Public Facilities Maintenance 

District No. 1
ANNEXATION OF TERRITORY AS

ZONE NO. 11
 

Commencing Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Intent Meeting: April 4, 2023

Public Hearing: June 6, 2023

CITY OF LEMOORE
711 W CINNAMON DRIVE

LEMOORE, CA 93245

MARCH 2023
PREPARED BY
WILLDAN FINANCIAL SERVICES

27368 Via Industria 
Suite 200
Temecula, CA 92590
T 951.587.3500  |  800.755.6864
F 951.587.3510

www.willdan.com

73



 

ENGINEER'S ANNEXATION REPORT AFFIDAVIT

City of Lemoore
Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1

Annexation of Territory (Tract No. 848) as Zone No. 11
Referred to as Annexation No. 2023-1

For Fiscal Year 2023/2024

City of Lemoore,
Kings County, State of California

As part of the Resolution of Intention packet presented for the consideration of the Lemoore City 
Council, this Report and the enclosed budget, diagram, and descriptions outline the proposed 
annexation of Tract No. 848 (hereafter referred to as “Annexation Territory” or “Annexation No. 
2023-1”) to the Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 and the establishment of 
annual assessments related thereto commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024. Said annexation 
includes each of the lots and parcels of land within Tract No. 848 excluding parcel 023-510-069 
which is identified as the “Designated Remainder” lot. As of the writing of this Report, the parcels 
included in Annexation 2023-1 are identified on the Kings County Assessor’s Parcel Maps as 
Book 023, Page 480 Parcel 043; Book 023, Page 510 Parcels 070 through 073; Book 023, Page 
660, Parcels 001 through 020, 023 through 034, 045, and 050 through 075; Book 023, Page 670,
Parcels 011, and 014 through 064; and Book 023, Page 680, Parcels 001 through 056.
Reference is hereby made to the Kings County Assessor’s Parcel Maps for a detailed description 
of the lines and dimensions of each parcel within Annexation No. 2023-1. The undersigned 
respectfully submits the enclosed Report as directed by the City Council.

Dated this ____________ day of ______________, 2023.

Willdan Financial Services
Assessment Engineer
On Behalf of the City of Lemoore

By: ________________________________
Jim McGuire
Principal Consultant, Project Manager

By: ________________________________
Tyrone Peter 
PE C # 81888

74



 

Table of Contents
................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Introduction .................................................................................1
Proposed Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Annexation ......................................2
Report Content and Proceedings .........................................................3

Report Content............................................................................................................... 4
Ballot Proceedings........................................................................................................ 6

Part I — Plans and Specifications .............................................7
Description of the District .....................................................................7
Zones and Improvements .....................................................................8

Zones 01 Through 09 ............................................................................................. 9
Zone No. 11 - Energy Homes; Annexation No. 2023-1 ...................................... 14

Part II — Method of Apportionment......................................... 18
Legislative Requirements for Assessments......................................18
Benefit Analysis...................................................................................19

Special Benefits ................................................................................................... 19
General Benefit..................................................................................................... 20

Assessment Methodology ..................................................................22
Land Use Classifications..................................................................................... 22

Part III — Estimate of Costs .....................................................25
Calculation of Assessments ...............................................................25
Budgets & Assessment Zone No. 11 (Annexation No. 2023-1) ........26

Zone No. 11 Maximum Assessment Budget ...................................................... 27
Annual Inflationary Adjustment (Assessment Range Formula)....................... 28

Part IV — Annexation Diagram ................................................29

Part V — Assessment Roll .......................................................31

75



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 1

Introduction
The City of Lemoore (“City”), pursuant to Chapter 10 of Title 7 of the Lemoore Municipal Code, 
(“Municipal Code”) as enacted by Ordinance No. 2006-01 (the “Ordinance”), and to the extent not 
inconsistent with the Ordinance, the provisions and procedures of the Landscaping and Lighting 
Act of 1972, Part 2 of Division 15 of the California Streets and Highways Code (“1972 Act”) and 
in compliance with the substantive and procedural requirements of the California State 
Constitution, Article XIIID (“California Constitution”) established the assessment district 
designated as the:

Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1

(hereafter referred to as “District” or “PFMD”). Pursuant to the provisions of the Municipal Code, 
the Ordinance, and 1972 Act (hereafter referred to collectively as “City Maintenance District 
Codes”), and in compliance with the substantive and procedural requirements of the California 
Constitution, the City has annually levied special benefit assessments for the PFMD in order to 
fund in whole or in part the maintenance, operation, repair and periodic replacement of certain 
public improvements including landscaping, street lights, street paving, parks and appurtenant 
facilities that provide special benefits to properties within the District.

The City Council of the City of Lemoore adopted its General Plan with various elements to provide 
guidelines for orderly development of property within the City. The City Council further adopted 
ordinances and regulations governing the development of land providing for the installation and 
construction of certain lighting, landscaping, street paving, parks, and appurtenant facilities to 
enhance the quality of life and to benefit the value of property.

The requirement for the installation of lighting, landscaping, streets, and appurtenant facilities is 
a condition of development provided for in the City's Subdivision Ordinance and is a requirement 
for issuance of a permit for construction of commercial, residential, and planned unit development. 
These improvements generally include street lights and related equipment and fixtures; street 
paving that may also include curbs, gutters and sidewalks; various landscape materials such as 
trees, turf, shrubs, vines, and ground cover; irrigation and drainage systems; structural amenities 
such as monuments, block walls, retaining walls, or other fencing; hardscapes including mulch, 
trail and path surfaces, stamped concrete and pavers; recreational amenities such as benches, 
picnic facilities, play structures; signage, and related appurtenances.

The installation of street pavement, street lights, landscaping and appurtenant facilities is the 
responsibility of the subdivider or other development/applicant, triggered by the approval of a 
tentative subdivision map or other development application. After installation, it is City policy that 
the servicing, operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of the street lighting, landscaping, 
local street paving, parks and appurtenant facilities in turn become the financial responsibility of 
the properties that specially benefit from the facilities. Prior to the establishment of the District, 
the City recognized that the required ongoing maintenance, periodic repair, and replacement of 
the facilities installed in connection with new developments could not feasibly be funded by the 
City and that such maintenance, operation, repair and replacement should be funded through 
special benefit assessments on properties within the boundaries of the District.

In accordance with the City Maintenance District Codes, the District has been established utilizing 
benefit zones (“Zones”) to address variations in the nature, location, and extent of the 
improvements that provide special benefits to parcels in the District. Within the boundaries of the 
District, parcels are assigned to a Zone, each of which is associated with specific improvements 
that provide special benefit to properties within that Zone.

76



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 2

As of Fiscal Year 2022/2023, the District was comprised of the following Zones and 
developments:
Zone 01 -- The Landing, Phases 1, 2, and 3
Zone 02 -- Liberty, Phases 1 and 2
Zone 03 -- Silva Estates, Phase 10
Zone 04 -- Parkview Estates / Heritage Park – Laredo
Zone 05 -- East Village Park/Aniston Place
Zone 06 -- Heritage Acres
Zone 07 – Capistrano
Zone 08 – Woodside
Zone 09 -- Lennar Homes
Zone 10 – Energy Homes:

Proposed Fiscal Year 2023/2024 Annexation 
By resolution, the City Council has ordered the preparation of this Engineer’s Report (“Report”) in 
connection with the proceedings for the annexation of Tract No. 848 to the Lemoore Public 
Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 and to be designated as:

Annexation No. 2023-1

(hereafter referred to as “Annexation No. 2023-1” or “Annexation Territory”), and the 
establishment of the new maximum annual assessments related thereto, to be levied and 
collected upon properties within the Annexation Territory commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024
for the special benefits each property receives from the maintenance and servicing of the 
improvements to be provided by the City through the District.

Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848) is located south of Bush Street, north of Pedersen Street,
west of College Avenue, and east of Semas Drive. Annexation No. 2023-1 consists of the lots 
and parcels of land within the planned residential development identified as Tract No. 848
consisting of the one hundred sixty-four (164) approved single-family residential lots and three (3)
unassessed letter lots of Phase1; ninety-five (95) planned single-family residential lots identified 
as Phase 2 (currently parcels 023-510-071 and 023-510-073); and the one hundred one (101) 
planned single-family residential lots identified as Phase 3 (currently parcels 023-480-043 and 
023-510-070). Therefore, at buildout, it is anticipated that Annexation No. 2023-1, will incorporate 
a total of 360 single-family residential lots, a park site, and various landscape easements.

The parcels included in Annexation 2023-1 as of the writing of this Report are identified on the 
Kings County Assessor’s Parcel Maps as Book 023, Page 480 Parcel 043; Book 023, Page 510 
Parcels 070 through 073; Book 023, Page 660, Parcels 001 through 020, 023 through 034, 045, 
and 050 through 075; Book 023, Page 670, Parcels 011, and 014 through 064; and Book 023,
Page 680, Parcels 001 through 056. The parcels within Annexation No. 2023-1 benefit and will 
proportionately share in the special benefit costs associated with the ongoing annual maintenance 
and servicing of:

Streetscape landscaping adjacent to the development (perimeter of Tract No. 848) on Bush 
Street, Semas Drive, Pedersen Street, and College Avenue;

77



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 3

Streetscape entryway landscaping (entryway medians) on Harvard Drive at Semas Drive and 
on Boston Way at College Avenue;
A one acre (1.06 acre) park site within Tract No. 848 on the south side of West Hills Way 
between Biola Way and Clemson Avenue;
Street pavement and related infrastructure in the street right-of-way for the development; and
Streetlighting installed in connection with the development of properties within Tract No. 848.

To adequately provide and fund the streets, sidewalks, curbs, gutters, street lighting, park site, 
and other landscaping improvements that are considered special benefits to properties within 
Annexation No. 2023-1, the City Council has determined that it is appropriate and in the public’s 
best interest to annex the properties within Annexation No. 2023-1 to the PFMD as Zone No. 11
and to levy annual assessments on the properties therein. These assessments are intended to 
fund the estimated special benefit improvement costs including, but are not limited to the regular 
annual maintenance and servicing of the improvements; incidental expenditures related to the 
operation and administration of the PFMD and the Zone; and the collection of funds for operational 
reserves, capital improvement expenditures, and periodic repairs or rehabilitation projects as 
authorized by the City Maintenance District Codes.

Report Content and Proceedings
This Engineer’s Annexation Report (the “Report”) has been prepared pursuant to the City 
Maintenance District Codes consistent with Chapter 1, Article 4 and Chapter 3 of the 1972 Act, 
and is presented to the City Council for their consideration and approval of the proposed 
improvements and services to be provided within Annexation No. 2023-1 and the levy and 
collection of annual assessments related thereto commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024. This 
Report outlines the annexation territory, the District Zone (Zone No. 11), improvements, and 
proposed assessments to be levied in connection with the special benefits the properties will 
receive from the maintenance and servicing of the District improvements based on the estimated 
maintenance expenses for the improvements to be installed in connection with the development 
of properties within Annexation No. 2023-1. The annual assessments to be levied on properties 
within the District and specifically Annexation No. 2023-1 will provide a source of funding for the 
continued operation, maintenance and servicing of the landscaping, street lights, street paving, 
sidewalks, and appurtenant facilities (improvements) to be provided by the District for the 
properties within the Annexation Territory as Zone No. 11.

Each fiscal year, the City establishes the PFMD assessments for each Zone therein based on an 
estimate of the costs to maintain, operate and service the improvements as well as available 
revenues including fund balances, general benefit contributions and additional City contributions 
and assessment limits. The costs of the improvements and the proposed annual assessments 
budgeted and assessed against properties within the PFMD may include, but are not limited to 
the estimated expenditures for regular annual maintenance and repairs; incidental expenditures 
related to the operation and administration of the District; deficits or surpluses from prior years; 
revenues from other sources; and the collection of funds for operational reserves and/or periodic 
repairs, replacements and rehabilitation projects as authorized by the City Maintenance District 
Codes. The net annual cost to provide the improvements for each Zone are allocated to the 
benefiting properties within that Zone using a weighted method of apportionment (refer to 
Assessment Methodology in Section II, Method of Apportionment) that calculates the proportional 
special benefit and assessment for each parcel as compared to other properties that benefit from 
the District improvements and services. Thus, each parcel is assessed proportionately for only 
those improvements, services and expenses for which the parcel will receive special benefit.

78



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 4

The word “parcel,” for the purposes of this Report, refers to an individual property assigned its 
own Assessment Number (Assessor’s Parcel Number “APN”) by the Kings County Assessor’s 
Office. The County Auditor/Controller uses Assessment Numbers and specific District Fund 
Numbers, to identify on the tax roll, properties assessed for special district assessments. Each 
parcel within Annexation No. 2023-1 shall be assessed proportionately for only those 
improvements for which the parcel receives a special benefit.

Report Content
This Report has been prepared for the annexation of parcels within Annexation No. 2023-1 to the 
District for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, pursuant to a resolution of the City Council and consists of five 
(5) parts:

Part I — Plans and Specifications:
Contains a general description of the District and zones of benefit (“Zones”) within the District,
and specifically addresses the improvements and services that provide special benefits to the 
parcels within Annexation No. 2023-1 to be designated as Zone No. 11 within the PFMD, which 
may include, but not limited to local landscaping, street lights, street paving, sidewalks, curbs, 
gutters, and related amenities including operational expenses and fund balances authorized by 
the City Maintenance District Codes. The plans and specifications contained in this Report 
generally describe the nature and extent of the improvements. In conjunction with these general 
descriptions of the improvements a visual depiction of the improvements is provided in the 
Annexation Diagram contained in Part IV of this Report. The detailed plans and specifications for 
the improvements for the District including Zone No. 11 (Annexation Territory) are on file in the 
Public Works Department of the City of Lemoore and by reference are made part of this Report.

Part II — Method of Apportionment: 
Outlines the special and general benefits associated with the improvements to be provided within 
Zone No. 11 of the District (the Annexation Territory) and the basis upon which the estimated 
costs to provide such improvements has been apportioned to each parcel of land therein in 
proportion to the special benefits to be received by such parcels.

Part III — Estimate of Costs
Identifies the estimated annual funding costs (Budget) required for the maintenance and operation 
of the improvements including, but not limited to, annual maintenance and service expenses, 
utility costs, related incidental expenses, and fund balances authorized by the City Maintenance 
District Codes and deemed appropriate to fully support the improvements. Those improvements 
and/or costs determined to be of general benefit shall be funded by a City contribution. This 
section identifies:

79



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 5

A budget that establishes the proportional estimated expenses and maximum assessment for 
Fiscal Year 2023/2024 to be approved by the property owner(s) of record within the 
Annexation Territory as part of the Ballot Proceeding. Although the budget presented, 
establishes the maximum assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, it is anticipated that all or 
most of the proposed improvements will not be installed for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and/or the 
improvements for Zone No. 11 will be maintained by the owner/developer of Tract No. 848 
through the end of Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and therefore, no annual assessment is anticipated 
to be collected on the tax rolls for Fiscal year 2023/2024. However, at the City Council’s 
discretion, the City Council may still authorize and approve an actual assessment to be levied 
and collected on the County Tax Rolls for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 as part of the annual 
assessment process and approval of the Fiscal year 2023/2024 Engineer’s Report for the 
entire District. In no case, however, will the annual assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024,
exceed the maximum assessment presented herein.

This section also identifies and outlines an Assessment Range Formula (inflationary adjust) 
that provides for an annual adjustment to the maximum assessment rate each fiscal year.
This Assessment Range Formula establishes limits on future assessments, but also provides 
for reasonable cost adjustments due to inflation.

Part IV — Annexation Diagram
A diagram showing the boundaries of Annexation No. 2023-1 based on the parcels that will
receive special benefits from the improvements to be provided and maintained as part of Zone 
No. 11 and the benefits established herein. The lines and dimensions of each lot, parcel, and 
subdivision of land contained in this diagram are inclusive of the parcel(s) listed in “Part V –
Assessment Roll” of this Report and the corresponding County Assessor’s Parcel Maps for said 
parcel(s) as they existed at the time this Report was prepared and shall include all subsequent 
subdivisions, lot-line adjustments, or parcel changes therein. Reference is hereby made to the 
Kings County Assessor’s maps for a detailed description of the lines and dimensions of each lot 
and parcel of land within Annexation No. 2023-1 as Zone No. 11 of the District.

Part V — Assessment Roll: 
A listing of the proposed maximum assessment amounts for the parcel(s) within Annexation No. 
2023-1. The “Maximum Assessment” amount (Balloted Assessment Amount) for each parcel 
represents that parcel’s maximum assessment amount for fiscal year 2023/2024 and is based on 
the parcel’s calculated proportional special benefit as outlined in “Part II — Method of 
Apportionment”, and calculated assessment rate established by the budget in “Part III —Estimate 
of Costs”.

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, portion, or zone of this Report is, for any 
reason, held to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining provisions of the Report and each 
section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, portion, zone, or subzone thereof, 
irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, 
portions, zones, or subzones might subsequently be declared invalid or unconstitutional.

80



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 6

Ballot Proceedings
As part of this annexation proceeding, the City shall conduct a property owner protest ballot 
proceeding (“Ballot Proceeding”) for the proposed levy of a new assessment pursuant to the 
provisions of the California Constitution, Article XIIID Section 4. In conjunction with this Ballot 
Proceeding, the City Council will conduct a noticed public hearing to consider public testimonies, 
comments and written protests regarding the annexation, and the levy of the new assessments 
described herein. Upon conclusion of the public hearing, property owner protest ballots received will 
be opened and tabulated to determine whether majority protest exists as defined in Article XIIID of 
the California Constitution.

As specified by the California Constitution, Article XIIID Section 4e:

“A majority protest exists if, upon the conclusion of the hearing, ballots submitted in opposition to 
the assessment exceed the ballots submitted in favor of the assessment. In tabulating the ballots, 
the ballots shall be weighted according to the proportional financial obligation of the affected 
property.”

After completion of the ballot tabulation, the City Council will confirm the results of the balloting. 
If majority protest exists for the proposed assessments, further proceedings to annex the parcels 
with Annexation No. 2023-1 to the District and implementation of the new assessments shall be 
abandoned at this time. If tabulation of the ballots indicate that majority protest does not exist for 
the proposed new assessments and the assessment range formula presented and described 
herein, the City Council by resolution may adopt this Report (as submitted or amended); approve 
the assessment diagram (Annexation Diagram) contained herein; order the annexation of the 
parcels within Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848) to the District and the improvements to be 
made; and confirm the new assessments as outlined in this Report.

The new assessments as approved, may be levied and collected on the County tax rolls 
commencing in Fiscal Year 2023/2024 together with the assessments for other properties in the 
District. Each subsequent fiscal year, an engineer’s annual levy report for the District shall be 
prepared and presented to the City Council to address any proposed changes to the District, 
including Zone No. 11, as well as any proposed changes to the improvements, budgets, and 
assessments for that fiscal year. The City Council shall hold a noticed public hearing regarding 
these matters prior to approving and ordering the levy of annual assessments for the District.

If in any fiscal year, the proposed annual assessments for parcels within Zone No. 11, exceed the 
maximum assessments described herein, such an assessment would be considered a new or 
increased assessment and must be confirmed through a mailed property owner protest ballot 
proceeding for the affected parcels before that new or increased assessment may be imposed.

81



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 7

Part I — Plans and Specifications
Description of the District
The purpose of the District and specifically Zone No. 11 which is inclusive of parcels within Tract 
No. 848 as the Annexation Territory, is to provide in part through annual assessments, funding 
for the ongoing operation, maintenance, and servicing of local landscaping; street lighting; street 
improvements within the street rights of way; neighborhood parks; and related appurtenant 
facilities and services in specified areas of the City. The territory within the District consists of 
those lots or parcels of land within the City of Lemoore for which the City, through the District 
maintains these local improvements and related amenities installed in connection with the 
development of those properties and for the benefit of those lots and parcels.
As authorized by the City Maintenance District Codes, the improvements provided by the District 
and associated with each Zone incorporate various local improvements and related amenities 
that are maintained and serviced for the benefit of real property within those Zones. The 
maintenance of the improvements may also include various appurtenances including, but not 
limited to block walls, retaining walls or other fencing, trail and path surfaces, stamped concrete,
pavers, mulch or other hardscapes, irrigation and related electrical equipment and drainage 
systems, benches, play structures, picnic or other recreational facilities, monuments, signage, 
ornamental lighting, curbs, gutters, sidewalks, cross gutters, street lighting fixtures, street light 
poles, electrical facilities, and related equipment. The work to be performed within each respective 
Zone of the District may include but is not limited to (as applicable), the personnel, materials, 
equipment, electricity, water, contract services, repair and rehabilitation of the improvements and 
incidental expenses required to operate the District and provide the improvements and services. 
Improvements provided within the District may include but are not limited to:

Landscaping and related facilities and amenities located within designated street medians,
parkway and streetscape side-panels, and entryways within the public right of ways or 
easements adjacent to public right of ways; and within public places including greenbelt areas, 
open spaces, and neighborhood parks within or directly associated with each Zone. These
improvements may include, but are not limited to:

various landscape materials such as trees, turf, shrubs, vines, ground cover, annual or 
perineal plantings; 

irrigation and drainage systems;

structural amenities such as monuments, block walls, retaining walls, or other fencing;

hardscapes including mulch, trail and path surfaces, stamped concrete and pavers;

recreational amenities within the parks or greenbelts that may include benches, play 
structures, picnic or other recreational facilities, signage, and related appurtenances. 

The maintenance of these improvements may include, but is not limited to the regularly 
scheduled mowing, trimming, pruning, fertilization, pest control, weed and graffiti abatement;
installation, replacement and rehabilitation of the landscaping, repair or replacement of 
irrigation or drainage systems; repair or replacement of hardscape improvements and 
recreational amenities. The City Public Works Department shall authorize and schedule such 
maintenance and servicing as need and based on available Zone funding.
Street lighting improvements located in the public right of ways within and on the perimeter of 
the developments and associated with each Zone and the parcels therein. Street light 
improvements include energy costs and maintenance of the lighting facilities including, but 

82



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 8

not limited to the removal, repair, replacement or relocation of light standards, poles, bulbs, 
fixtures, and related equipment and materials. 
Street right of way improvements on the local streets within or adjacent to each respective 
Zone that may include but is not limited to the repair and servicing of street and parking 
surfaces, curbs, gutters, driveway approaches, sidewalks, walkways, delineation, signage or 
other facilities within the street right of ways and designated parking areas. The street paving 
program may include but is not limited to: the repair of potholes, cracks or other failures in the 
asphalt surface; repair or partial segment replacement of curbs, gutters, driveway 
approaches, and sidewalks as needed to ensure pedestrian and vehicle safety or the integrity 
of the street; repair or installation of street signs; slurry sealing, overlays and re-striping of the 
street surfaces and parking areas. The specific activities and timing of various street and road 
maintenance services shall be determined by the City’s Public Works Department as 
necessary to extend the life of the streets or to improve traffic circulation and safety as 
available funding permits. 

Many of the street services and activities described above are not performed on an annual 
basis, but rather on a periodic basis such as slurry sealing or overlaying the asphalt streets. 
The funds necessary for these activities are to be collected in installments as part of the 
annual assessments. The monies collected each year for these services will be accumulated 
in a special fund for each Zone (Reserve Fund or Capital Improvement Fund). The monies 
accumulated for these activities shall be spent when sufficient funds have been accumulated 
to perform the services deemed necessary by the City. This process of accumulating funds 
(installments) shall continue until such time the District or Zone is dissolved; or the City 
determines that such funding procedures require modification. Changes in the process of 
accumulating funds that would result in an increase to the annual assessment rate must be 
presented to the property owners for approval prior to imposing such an increase

Not included as part of the street maintenance program are the costs associated with major 
replacements or reconstruction. Although the District assessments will provide funding for 
regular maintenance of the street improvements and scheduled slurry and resurfacing 
projects on a periodic basis that will extend the useful life of the street improvements, the 
assessments are not intended to fund a full replacement or reconstruction of the street 
surfaces or adjacent improvements such as curbs, gutters, sidewalks, or driveway 
approaches. The costs of extensive replacement or reconstruction activities such as 
replacement of curbs, gutters, sidewalks, and driveway approaches is significantly more than 
the amount that is typically collected annually. When such repairs or activities are deemed 
necessary, the City may consider various financing options including new or increased 
assessments for property owner approval. 

Zones and Improvements
For Fiscal Year 2022/2023 the District included ten (10) designated Zones. In accordance with 
the City Maintenance District Codes, the District utilizes Zones to address variations in the nature, 
location, and extent of the improvements that provide special benefits to parcels in the District. 
Each Zone is associated with specific improvements and/or types of improvements that provide 
special benefit to properties within that Zone. The boundaries of each Zone is based on the 

83



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 9

improvements to be maintained and the relationship and proximity of the developments and
properties that derive special benefits from those specific improvements. 

Existing Zones 01 through 10
The following is a brief description and summary of the existing Zones and improvement that are 
part of the District but not directly associated with this annexation proceeding.

Zone 01 — The Landing:
Comprised of one hundred twelve (112) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 817 (The 
Landing, Phases 1 and 2). The properties within Zone 01, proportionately share and receive 
special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 31,989 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Thirty-four (34) street lights.
355,598 square feet of pavement surface area.

Zone 02 — Liberty:
Comprised of two hundred forty-two (242) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 821 
(Liberty, Phases 1 and 2). The properties within Zone 02, proportionately share and receive 
special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 113,816 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Ninety-three (93) street lights.
729,025 square feet of pavement surface area.

Zone 03 — Silva Estates, Phase 10:
Comprised of seventy-four (74) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 838 (Silva 
Estates, Phase 10). The properties within Zone 03, proportionately share and receive special 
benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 22,256 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Twenty-six (26) street lights.
Approximately 202,063 square feet of pavement surface area.

Zone 04 — Parkview Estates:
Comprised of thirty-nine (39) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 797 (Parkview 
Estates). The properties within Zone 04, proportionately share and receive special benefit from 
the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 16,581 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas.
Nine (9) street lights.
Approximately 83,581 square feet of pavement surface area.

84



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 10

Zone 05 — East Village Park and Aniston Place North:
Comprised of one hundred twenty (120) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 791
(East Village Park) and Tract No. 910 (Aniston Place North). The properties within Zone 05,
proportionately share and receive special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation 
of:

Approximately 61,882 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas that 
includes the following:

957 square feet of streetscape landscaping (shrubs with trees) on Cantera Avenue;

15,716 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel landscaping located on D 
Street, including approximately 7,005 square feet of shrubs, plants, and/or ground cover 
with trees; and 8,711 square feet of shrubs;

1,034 square feet of streetscape landscaping (shrubs) on Smith Avenue north of Siena 
Way;

1,723 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel landscaping located on Smith 
Avenue between D Street and Siena Way, including approximately 1,300 square feet of 
turf with trees; and 423 square feet of shrubs, plants, and/or ground cover with trees;

42,452 square feet of park improvement area located on Montego Way. This park site 
includes approximately 7,210 square feet of concrete or other hardscape surfaces; 850 
square feet of shrubs and planters; and 34,392 square feet of turf with trees.

Thirty (30) street lights including:

8 street lights on the perimeter of Zone 05 located on D Street and Smith Avenue.

22 street lights within the tracts located on, but not limited to: Cantera Avenue, Firenze 
Street, Montego Way, Portola Street, Siena Way, and Visconti Street;

Approximately 271,905 square feet of pavement surface area which collectively include 
Cantera Avenue, Firenze Street, Montego Way, Siena Way, Visconti Street, and Portola 
Street.

Zone 06 — Heritage Acres:
Comprised of ninety-seven (97) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 872 (Heritage 
Acres, Phases 1 and 2). The properties within Zone 06, proportionately share and receive special 
benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Twenty-seven (27) street lights.
Approximately 370,092 square feet of pavement surface area.

85



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 11

Zone 07 – Capistrano, Phase 5:
Comprised of twenty (20) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 908 (Capistrano, Phase 
5). The properties within Zone 07, proportionately share and receive or will receive special 
benefits from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 5,071 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel landscaping on 
East Bush Street consisting of: 3,125 square feet of shrubs, plants, and/or ground cover 
with trees; and 1,946 square feet of turf with trees. These improvements and the costs
associated with the maintenance and operation of these improvements are proportionately 
shared by properties within LLMD Zone 06.
Approximately 1,477 square feet of parkway side-panel landscaping on the northeast side 
of Bush Place between East Bush Street and Tract 908, including the entryway 
landscaping at the southeast corner of East Bush Street and Bush Place. These 
improvements and the costs associated with the maintenance and operation of these 
improvements are proportionately shared by properties within LLMD Zone 06.
Approximately 2,341 square feet of parkway side-panel landscaping on the east side of 
Bush Place /Barcelona Drive adjacent to Tract 908.
The median island on Bush Place/Barcelona Drive, just south of East Bush Street leading 
into the development (Approximately 427 square feet). This median and the costs 
associated with the maintenance and operation improvements are proportionately shared 
by properties within LLMD Zone 06.
Eight (8) street lights including:

Two (2) street lights located on Bush place/Barcelona Drive directly adjacent to the 
perimeter of the development and one (1) street light at the southeast corner of East Bush 
Street and Bush Place. These three street lights also benefit properties within LLMD Zone 
06 and are therefore partially funded by other revenue sources.

5 street lights within Tract 908 located on Tuscany Court;
Approximately 26,060 square feet of pavement surface area located on Tuscany Court.

Zone 08 – Woodside:
At the time this Report was prepared, Tract No. 921 which comprises all of Zone 08 (Woodside), 
is identified as a single parcel on the Kings County Assessor’s maps (023-020-095). As Tract No. 
921 is developed, the parcel will be subdivided into sixty-four single-family residential parcels.
The properties within Zone 08, proportionately share and receive or will receive special benefits 
from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 12,206 square foot neighborhood park site located at the corner of Daphne 
Lane and Sydney Way that may include, but is not limited to, turf, shrubs, trees, plants, 
and/or ground cover areas; and concrete paths, play structures, tables, benches, and 
trash receptacles.
Approximately 82,540 square foot drainage basin site located in the southwest portion of 
Tract No. 921 that may include, but is not limited to, approximately 61,436 square feet of 
natural, non-irrigated area (basin floor); approximately 21,104 square feet of perimeter 
landscaping comprised of shrubs, trees, plants, and/or ground cover; and related drainage 
facilities and equipment which may include drainage inlet/outlet structures and pump.
Approximately 4,340 square feet of paved access roads providing access to the drainage 
basin and the Lemoore Canal from Daphne Lane.

86



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 12

Approximately 350 linear feet of block wall on the perimeter of the development along the 
Southern Pacific Railroad right-of-way and the Lemoore Canal.
Nineteen (19) street lights within Tract No. 921 located on Daphne Lane, Melbourne Way, 
Newcastle Street, and Sydney Way.
Approximately 198,416 square feet of pavement surface area located on but not limited to 
Daphne Lane, Melbourne Way, Newcastle Street, and Sydney Way, which also 
incorporates approximately 5,804 linear feet of curb and gutter, and approximately 31,922 
square feet of Sidewalk/Cross Gutter area.

Zone 09 – Lennar Homes:
Comprised of eighty-seven (87) single-family residential parcels within Tract No. 920 (Lennar 
Homes, Phase 1). It is anticipated that Phase 2 of the development will eventually be annexed to 
the Zone. The properties within Zone 09, proportionately share and receive or will receive special 
benefits from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 28,193 square feet of perimeter streetscape landscaping:

3,482 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the east side of Liberty Drive north of 
Hana Way, up to the northern lot line of lot 87 (designated as that part of Lot A within 
Phase 1 of Tract No. 920). This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb 
and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

482 square feet on the north side of Hana Way between Liberty Drive and Narwhal 
Avenue. This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb and sidewalk. The 
landscaping behind sidewalk (if any) will be privately maintained and is not a part of the 
Zone improvements; 

482 square feet on the south side of Hana Way between Liberty Drive and Narwhal 
Avenue. This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb and sidewalk. The 
landscaping behind sidewalk (if any) will be privately maintained and is not a part of the 
Zone improvements;

4,971 square feet on the east side of Liberty Drive south of Hana Way and north of 
Hanford-Armona Road (designated as part of Lot B). This landscape area incorporates 
the area between the curb and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential 
property lines;

18,776 square feet on the north side of Hanford-Armona Road from Liberty Drive, to the 
eastern boundary of Tract No. 920 which is also the eastern lot line of Lot 60 (designated 
as part of Lot B). This landscape area incorporates the area between the curb and 
sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

32,972 square foot neighborhood park site/greenbelt area to be installed on the east side 
of Obsidian Avenue as part of Phase 2. This area may include, but is not limited to, turf, 
shrubs, trees, plants, and/or ground cover areas; and concrete paths, play structures, 
tables, benches, and trash receptacles. 
94,090 square foot drainage basin site to be installed to the east of the neighborhood park 
site/greenbelt area (east of Obsidian Avenue) as part of Phase 2. It is anticipated that 
approximately 20% of this area will be irrigated improvements and the remainder non-
irrigated improvements.

87



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 13

Twenty-four (24) street lights including:

Nine (9) street lights on the perimeter of Tract No. 920 Phase 1 located on Hanford-
Armona Road (8 Lights) and on Liberty Drive (1 Light); and

Fifteen (15) street lights within Tract No. 920 Phase 1 located on, but not limited to: 
Castellina Street, Fire Fall Avenue, Hana Way, Narwhal Avenue, Obsidian Avenue, Pisa 
Way, and Strada Street;

Approximately 208,497 square feet of pavement surface area, which also incorporates an 
estimated 8,872 linear feet of curb and gutter, and approximately 44,360 square feet of 
Sidewalk/Cross Gutter area. Of the 

Approximately 62,893 square feet of pavement surface area on the perimeter of the Zone 
including half of Hanford-Armona Road and Liberty Drive;

Approximately 145,604 square feet of pavement surface area on the internal streets of the 
Zone including Castellina Street, Fire Fall Avenue, Hana Way, Narwhal Avenue, Obsidian 
Avenue, Pisa Way, and Strada Street;

Note: The neighborhood park site/greenbelt area and drainage basin site improvements identified 
above will eventually be installed as part of Phase 2 of Tract No. 920, which is currently not a part 
of Zone 09. When those improvements are installed as part of Phase 2 of Tract No. 920, the cost 
of maintaining those improvements will be proportionately shared by the residential parcels in 
both phases of Tract No. 920. Likewise, the perimeter landscaping, street lighting, and pavement 
improvements being installed on Hanford-Armona Road and Liberty Drive as part of Tract No. 
920 Phase 1, will proportionately benefit properties in both phases and the costs associated with 
those improvements will be proportionately shared by the residential parcels in both phase of 
Tract No. 920. However, when Phase 2 is developed, it is also anticipated that additional 
perimeter landscaping, street lighting, and pavement improvements will be installed and 
proportionately shared. Ultimately at build-out, all the Zone improvements installed as part of 
Phase 1 and Phase 2 of Tract No 920 will be proportionately shared by parcels in both phases. 

Zone 10 – Energy Homes
The thirty-six residential properties within Zone 10, proportionately share and receive or will 
receive special benefits from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of: 

Approximately 10,611 square feet of landscaping and/or related improvement areas that 
includes:

1,361 square feet of median/entryway landscaping on Cabrillo Street at Vine Street, which 
is currently comprised of hardscape material and trees;

6,379 square feet of minimally maintained parkway and streetscape side-panel 
landscaping surrounding the drainage basin, including 1,725 square feet on Vine Street 
and 4,654 square feet on Cabrillo Street. This landscape area is comprised of turf and 
trees but is minimally maintained at present;

2,871 square feet of parkway and streetscape side-panel minimal landscaped area with 
trees Vine Street north of Cabrillo Street.

The special benefits and costs associate with the landscaping improvements listed above are 
allocated and shared by the parcels within Tract No. 656 (Zone No. 11 of Landscape and Lighting 
Maintenance District No. 1).

88



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 14

The four (4) street lights on the west side of Vine Street, three north of Cabrillo Street and 
one south of Cabrillo Street which serves as the entryway to Tract 839 and Tract 656. The 
special benefits associate with these four street lights are shared by the parcels within 
Tract No. 656 (Zone No. 11 of Landscape and Lighting Maintenance District No. 1) and 
PFMD Zone No. 10 is proportionately allocated the special benefit cost to operate and 
maintain these four street lights.

In addition to the above shared improvements, the 36 single-family residential parcels within Tract 
No. 839 (PFMD Zone No. 10) will proportionately share and receive special benefit from the 
maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

The eight (8) local street lights within Tract 839 located on Aliso Street, Otero Street, Lazo 
Court, and Cabrillo Street.
Approximately 63,386 square feet of pavement surface area located on Aliso Street, Otero 
Street, Lazo Court, and Cabrillo Street within Tract 839.

New Zone No. 11 – Tract No. 848; Annexation No. 2023-1

Annexation No. 2023-1 properties

The planned three hundred sixty (360) single-family residential lots of Tract No. 848 (Phases 1, 2 
& 3) that will comprise PFMD Zone No. 11 (Annexation No. 2023-1), are identified by the King’s 
County Assessor’s Office as parcels:

023-660-001 through 023-660-075, incorporating 58 subdivided single-family residential lots 
and a designated easement parcel within Phase 1;

023-670-011 through 023-670-064, incorporating 52 subdivided single-family residential lots 
within Phase 1;

023-680-001 through 023-680-056, incorporating 54 subdivided single-family residential lots,
a park site parcel, and a designated easement parcel within Phase 1;

023-480-043, incorporating 78 planned single-family residential lots within Phase 3;

023-510-070, incorporating 23 planned single-family residential lots within Phase 3;

023-510-071, incorporating 44 planned single-family residential lots within Phase 2;

023-510-072, that is a designated easement; and 

023-510-073, incorporating 51 planned single-family residential lots within Phase 2.

Note: Parcel 023-510-069, that is identified in the Tract No. 848 Unit 1 subdivision map as a 14.22 
acre “Designated Remainder” lot is not included as part of Annexation 2023-1 but may be annexed 
to Zone No. 11 and/or the District at a later time when development plans for that property are 
initiated.

89



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 15

Annexation No. 2023-1 Improvements

The benefiting single-family residential lots within Tract No. 848 will proportionately share and 
receive special benefit from the maintenance, servicing, and operation of:

Approximately 73,315 square feet of perimeter streetscape landscaping, including an
estimated:

4,390 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the south side of Bush Street from Semas
Drive west approximately 240 feet to the western boundary of Tract No. 848 Phase 2 being 
the eastern lot line of Assessor Parcel Number 023-510-069, which is not a part of the 
Annexation Territory but identified as the Designated Remainder on the tract map for Tract 
No. 848 Unit 1. This landscape area is a portion of Tract No. 848 Phase 1 Lot C and the 
estimated square footage includes half of the return at the southwest corner of Bush Street 
and Semas Drive. The landscaping is situated in both the area between the curb and 
sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

7,790 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the west side of Semas Drive between 
Bush Street and Harvard Drive. This landscape area is a portion of Tract No. 848 Phase 
1 Lot C and the estimated square footage includes half of the return at the southwest 
corner of Bush Street and Semas Drive and the entire return at the northwest corner 
Semas Drive and Harvard Drive. The landscaping is situated in both the area between the 
curb and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

14,175 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the west side of Semas Drive between 
Harvard Drive and Rice Street including the returns at both the southwest corner of Semas 
Drive and Harvard Drive and the northwest corner of Semas Drive and Rice Street. This 
landscape area includes the entire area identified as Tract No. 848 Phase 1 Lot B that 
extends from Harvard Drive south only to the southern boundary of Phase 1, but the 
overall improvement area extends south of Phase 1 to Rice Street which is incorporated 
as part of the future Phase 3 development. The landscaping is situated in both the area 
between the curb and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential 
property lines;

9,915 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the west side of Semas Drive between 
Rice Street and Pedersen Street (the southern boundary of Tract No. 848 and the Zone). 
This landscape area is part of Tract No. 848 Phase 3 and the estimated square footage 
includes the entire return at southwest corner of Semas Drive and Rice Street, and half of 
the return at the northwest corner of Semas Drive and Pedersen Street. The landscaping 
is situated in both the area between the curb and sidewalk and the area between the 
sidewalk and residential property lines;

13,015 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the north side of Pedersen Street 
between Semas Drive and Clemson Avenue. This landscape area is part of Tract No. 848 
Phases 2 and 3 and the estimated square footage includes half of the return at the 
northwest corner of Semas Drive and Pedersen Street, and the entire return at the 
northeast corner of Pedersen Street and Clemson Avenue. The landscaping is situated in 
both the area between the curb and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and 
residential property lines;

90



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 16

14,360 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the north side of Pedersen Street 
between Clemson Avenue and College Avenue. This landscape area is part of Tract No. 
848 Phases 2 and the estimated square footage includes the entire return at the northwest 
corner of Pedersen Street and Clemson Avenue, but not the return at the northeast corner 
of Pedersen Street and College Avenue. The landscaping is situated in both the area 
between the curb and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential 
property lines;

2,185 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the northeast corner of Pedersen Street 
and College Avenue. The landscaping is situated in the area between the sidewalk and 
residential property lines;

4,050 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the east side of College Avenue from 
Boston Way north approximately 235 feet to the southern lot line of Assessor Parcel 
Number 023-510-013, which is not a part of the Annexation Territory. This lot line is also 
the northern boundary line of Tract No. 848 Phase 1at this location. This landscape area 
is identified as Tract No. 848, Phases 1, Lot A, and the estimated square footage includes 
the entire return at the northeast corner of College Avenue and Boston Way. The 
landscaping is situated in both the area between the curb and sidewalk and the area 
between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

3,435 square feet of streetscape landscaping on the east side of College Avenue between 
Pedersen Street and Boston Way. This landscape area is part of Tract No. 848 Phases 2 
and the estimated square footage includes the entire return at the southeast corner of 
College Avenue and Boston Way, but not the corner return at the northeast corner of 
Pedersen Street and College Avenue. The landscaping is situated in both the area 
between the curb and sidewalk and the area between the sidewalk and residential 
property lines;

Approximately 7,885 square feet of entryway landscaping, including an estimated :

1,365 square feet of entryway streetscape landscaping on the north side of Harvard Drive 
between Semas Drive and Vanderbilt Drive. The landscaping is situated in the area 
between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

600 square feet of entryway median landscaping on Harvard Drive between Semas Drive 
and Vanderbilt Drive;

1,295 square feet of entryway streetscape landscaping on the south side of Harvard Drive 
between Semas Drive and Vanderbilt Drive. The landscaping is situated in the area 
between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

1,050 square feet of entryway streetscape landscaping on the south side of Rice Street 
between Semas Drive and Georgetown Avenue. The landscaping is situated in the area 
between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

1,270 square feet of entryway streetscape landscaping on the west side of Clemson 
Avenue between Pedersen Street and Purdue Street. The landscaping is situated in the 
area between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

91



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 17

450 square feet of entryway streetscape landscaping on the south side of Boston Way 
between College Avenue and Northwestern Way. The landscaping is situated in the area 
between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

600 square feet of entryway median landscaping on Boston Way between College Avenue 
and Northwestern Way;

1,255 square feet of entryway streetscape landscaping on the north side of Boston Way 
between College Avenue and Northwestern Way. The landscaping is situated in the area 
between the sidewalk and residential property lines;

45,730 square foot neighborhood park site to be installed on the south side of West Hills 
Way between Biola Way and Clemson Avenue. This area may include, but is not limited 
to, turf, shrubs, trees, plants, and/or ground cover areas; and concrete paths, play 
structures, tables, benches, and trash receptacles. The initial design for this park 
incorporates approximately 36,110 square feet of turf, 1,910 square feet of planter areas, 
5, 270 square feet of hardscape area, and 2,440 square feet of playground area. 
An estimated seventy-one (71) street lights including:

Eighteen (18) street lights on the perimeter of Tract No. 848 including Bush Street (2
Light), Semas Drive (10 Lights), Pedersen Street (5 Lights), and on College Avenue (1
Light); and

Fifty-three (53) street lights within Tract No. 848 located on, but not limited to: Harvard 
Drive, Vanderbilt Drive, University Drive, Yale Drive, Yale Circle, Pepperdine Street, Rice
Street, Gonzaga Avenue, Hillsdale Street, Cornell Street, Duke Street, Ozark Way, 
Clemson Avenue, Purdue Street, Northwestern Way, Boston Way, Auburn Street, Biola 
Way, and West Hills Way;

Approximately 784,375 square feet of pavement surface area within Tract No. 848;
145,650 square feet of sidewalks (123,110 square feet within the development and 22,540 
square feet on the perimeter of the development); and 32,370 linear feet of curbs and 
gutters of which 27,360 linear feet are part of the internal streets including Auburn Street, 
Baylor Drive, Biola Way, Boston Way, Clemson Avenue, Cornell Street, Duke Street, 
Georgetown Avenue, Gonzaga Avenue, Harvard Drive, Hillsdale Street, Northwestern 
Way, Ozark Way, Pepperdine Street, Purdue Street, Rice Street, University Drive, 
Vanderbilt Drive, West Hills Way, Yale Circle, and Yale Drive within Tract No. 848, and 
5,010 linear feet of curbs and gutters are located on the perimeter streets including Bush 
Street, Semas Drive, Pedersen Street, and College Avenue.

 
 
 

92



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 18

Part II — Method of Apportionment
Legislative Requirements for Assessments
The costs of the proposed improvements have been identified and allocated to properties within 
the Annexation Territory (Zone No. 11 of PFMD) proportionately based on special benefit, 
consistent with the provisions of the City Maintenance District Codes and the assessment 
provisions contained in Article XIII D of the California Constitution. The improvements provided 
by this District and for which properties within Annexation 2023-1 are to be assessed are identified 
as local landscaping, including perimeter parkways, entry medians and a neighborhood park;
street lights, both internal and on the perimeter; street right of way improvements, including street 
surfaces, curbs and gutters, and sidewalks; and the related amenities associated with these 
improvements that were either installed in direct connection with the development of properties 
within Tract No. 848 or were previously installed as a result of property development in the area 
and would otherwise be required or considered necessary elements for the development of 
properties within Tract No. 848 to their full and best use. The formulas used for calculating 
assessments reflect the composition of parcels and the improvements and activities to be 
provided for Zone No. 11 (the Annexation Territory) and have been designed to fairly apportion 
the cost of providing those improvements based on a determination of the proportional special 
benefits to each parcel.
 
In addition to the provisions of the City Maintenance District Codes, Article XIII D of the California 
Constitution outlines specific requirements regarding assessments including the following:

Article XIII D Section 2d defines District as follows:
“District means an area determined by an agency to contain all parcels which will receive a special 
benefit from a proposed public improvement or property-related service”; 

Article XIII D Section 2i defines Special Benefit as follows:
“Special benefit” means a particular and distinct benefit over and above general benefits conferred 
on real property located in the district or to the public at large. General enhancement of property 
value does not constitute “special benefit.”

Article XIII D Section 4a defines proportional special benefit assessments as follows:
“An agency which proposes to levy an assessment shall identify all parcels which will have a 
special benefit conferred upon them and upon which an assessment will be imposed. The 
proportionate special benefit derived by each identified parcel shall be determined in relationship 
to the entirety of the capital cost of a public improvement, the maintenance and operation 
expenses of a public improvement, or the cost of the property related service being provided. No 
assessment shall be imposed on any parcel which exceeds the reasonable cost of the 
proportional special benefit conferred on that parcel.” 

93



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 19

Benefit Analysis
Special Benefits
Landscaping Special Benefit
The ongoing maintenance of landscaped areas within the District provide aesthetic benefits to the 
properties within each respective Zone and a more pleasant environment to walk, drive, live, and 
work. The primary function of these landscape improvements and related amenities is to serve 
as an aesthetically pleasing enhancement and green space for the benefit of the immediately 
surrounding properties and developments for which the improvements were constructed and 
installed and/or were facilitated by the development or potential development of properties within 
the Zones. These improvements are an integral part of the physical environment associated with 
the parcels in each Zone and while some of these improvements may in part be visible to 
properties outside the Zone, collectively if these Zone improvements are not properly maintained, 
it is the parcels within the Zone that would be aesthetically burdened. Additionally, the street 
landscaping in these Zones serves as both a physical buffer as well as a sound reduction buffer 
between the roadways and the properties in the District and serve as a pleasant aesthetic amenity 
that enhances the approach to the parcels. Likewise, in some of the zones, the landscaped areas
may include green space areas (neighborhood parks, greenbelts, open space and/or trails) that 
provide a physical buffer and open space between properties and these areas serve as an 
extension of the physical attributes of the parcels assessed, such as their front or rear yards.
These green space areas may also provide a greater opportunity for recreation. As a result, the 
maintenance of these landscaped improvements and the related amenities provide particular and 
distinct benefits to the properties and developments within each Zone.

Street Lighting Special Benefit
The street lighting in the District (localized street lighting) is primarily useful for illuminating the 
sidewalks and parking lanes on the streets used specifically to access the properties and/or is 
adjacent to those properties that comprise the District. This lighting is distinct from lights that may 
be installed that serve in large part to enhance traffic safety, such as traffic signals and intersection 
safety lights or the more sporadic lighting found on major thoroughfares outside the more 
concentrated development areas. These localized street lights tend to be more closely spaced 
and of a lower intensity than street lights installed primarily for traffic safety. These low-level, 
lower-intensity street lights within the District provide three main special benefits: (i) property 
security benefit, (ii) pedestrian safety benefit, and (iii) parkway/roadway egress benefit. Because 
traffic to and from these parcels is largely limited to the residents and residents’ guests, it is 
reasonable to assume that essentially all pedestrians and parking vehicles in the lit areas will, 
after dark, be directly associated with the properties in the District and that the vehicular traffic 
within the internal streets of a Zone is primarily for accessing the properties within that Zone.
Therefore, street lighting on such streets is entirely a special benefit to those properties. While 
lighting located on the perimeter of a development also serves primarily for accessing the 
properties within that Zone it is recognized that such lighting may benefit pass-through traffic as 
well and inherently there is some general benefits associated with those street lights.

In addition, the street lights within the District are consistent with the City’s typical intensity and 
spacing standards for areas zoned for residential development areas and each parcel to be 
assessed is served directly by the system of street lights providing appropriate lighting within 
these respective development areas. Furthermore, the cost of maintaining and operating each 
light is substantially the same, regardless of the location of the light within the District. 
Consequently, we conclude that each parcel within the District receives substantially similar 
benefit from the street light improvements and the only notable distinctions in proportional special 

94



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 20

benefit to each parcel is related to the specific quantity of lights associated with each development 
(Zone) and the overall location of those lights (internal development lights or perimeter lights). 

Street Paving Special Benefit
Like street lighting in the District, the streets, parking lanes, sidewalks, and cross gutters within 
the street right of ways that are to be maintained through the District are exclusively within the 
boundaries of each Zone and those streets were specifically constructed to access those
properties. Furthermore, the maintenance of these streets and associated improvements within 
the street right of ways, or the lack thereof, only has an impact on the properties within the District.
Because traffic on these streets is almost exclusively limited to the residents and residents’ guests
associated with the District parcels, it is reasonable to conclude that essentially all utilization of 
these streets is primarily for accessing the properties within each respective Zone. Therefore, the 
maintenance and preservation of these streets and associated improvements is entirely a special 
benefit to those properties. 

General Benefit
Landscaping General Benefit
In reviewing the location and extent of the specific landscaped areas and improvements to be 
funded by District assessments and the proximity and relationship to properties to be assessed, 
it is evident these improvements were primarily installed in connection with the development of 
properties in each respective Zone or are improvements that would otherwise be shared by and 
required for development of properties in those Zones. It is also evident that the maintenance of 
these improvements and the level of maintenance provided has a direct and particular impact 
(special benefit) only on those properties in proximity to those improvements and such 
maintenance beyond that which is required to ensure the safety and protection of the general 
public and property in general, has no quantifiable benefit to the public at large or properties 
outside each respective Zone.

In the absence of a special funding Zone, the City would typically provide only limited (as needed) 
tree management, weed abatement, rodent control, and erosion control services for the 
landscape areas currently maintained within the District. This baseline level of service would 
typically provide for periodic servicing of the improvement areas on an as-needed basis, but 
typically not more than twice annually. This baseline level of service provides for public safety and 
essential property protection to avoid negative impacts on adjacent roadways and vehicles 
traveling on those roadways and potential property damage resulting from erosion or fire hazards 
but results in a far less visually pleasing environment than is created with the enhanced levels of 
services associated with the regular landscape maintenance provided in the various Zones.
Typically for most agencies, the cost to provide this baseline level of service for flat/moderately-
sloped street landscaped areas is less than $620 per acre (approximately $0.01424 per square 
foot) including medians, parkway and streetscape side panels; less than $496 per acre 
(approximately $0.01139 per square foot) for non-street public areas such as parks, greenbelts, 
and trail areas; and less than $248 per acre (approximately $0.00569 per square foot) for natural 
open space areas or other limited access areas. This baseline servicing, unlike the enhanced 
aesthetic services funded through the District assessments, would provide benefits to the general 
public and to the properties both within and outside of the specific benefit zones. These costs of 
providing this baseline service along with a five percent (5%) cost factor for City overhead and 
administration is treated as the cost of general benefits from landscape maintenance services. 
Therefore, for flat/moderately-sloped street landscaped areas a rate of $0.01495 per square foot
($0.01424 +5%) is applied to calculate the general benefit costs for the assessed improvements; 
for non-street public areas a rate of $0.01196 per square foot ($0.01139 +5%) is applied to 

95



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 21

calculate the general benefit costs for the assessed improvements; and for non-street public areas 
a rate of $0.00598 per square foot ($0.00569 +5%) is applied to calculate the general benefit 
costs for the assessed improvements.
In addition to the general benefit identified above, it is recognized that there are indirect or 
incidental general benefits to properties within the District as well as the general public that are 
associated with regular landscape maintenance services, including:

Minimization of dust and debris; and

Decreased potential water runoff from both properties and the landscaped areas.

Although these types of benefits might best be characterized as indirect consequences of the 
special benefit of the landscape maintenance provided to parcels served by the District, for the 
purposes of this Report we assume these types of benefits to be general benefits, albeit general 
benefits that are extremely difficult to quantify. We estimate that the costs associated with these 
indirect benefits do not exceed one percent of the annual maintenance expenditures for Local
Landscaping Zone improvements. Therefore, the costs associated with these indirect or incidental 
general benefits has been calculated based on 1.0% of the estimated “Total Annual Maintenance 
Expenditures” budgeted for each Zone. Together with the baseline general benefit costs 
previously identified, these indirect/incidental general benefit costs are excluded from the potential 
assessment funding and together are shown in the budgets (Part III of this Report) as the 
“Landscaping General Benefit — City Funded”.

Street Lighting General Benefit
Collectively, there are a total of 217 street lights to be operated and maintained through the District 
(including the lights for Zone No. 11) of which approximately 30% of those lights are located on 
the perimeter of the Zones, the remainder being internal residential street lights.

These residential perimeter lights (two of which are identified for Zone No. 11), in contrast to the 
internal residential lights funded by the District, arguably provide some illumination that extends 
beyond the boundaries of the developments and parcels being assessed, and these lights may 
also enhance the safety of members of the public unassociated with an assessed parcel by 
illuminating traffic lanes and/or parking on those streets, or that otherwise provides services to 
the general public. Although, in general, these street lights exist solely because of the 
development of assessed parcels, and the primary purpose of these lights is to provide 
illumination to access the assessed parcels, these particular lights may provide some level of 
general benefit in addition to the special benefits provided to the assessed parcels. We estimate
that these general benefits constitute not more than 25% of the total benefit associated with these 
perimeter lights, which is no more than 8% of the total benefit from all residential lights operated 
and maintained by the District (25% of 30% equals 7.5%). Therefore, it is reasonable to conclude 
that the total general benefit from the operation and maintenance activities associated with the 
District street lights does not exceed 8% of the direct annual operating expenses for all combined 
residential street lights. These general benefit costs are excluded from the potential assessment 
funding and are shown in the budgets (Part III of this Report) as the “Lighting General Benefit —
City Funded”.
 

96



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 22

Assessment Methodology
To assess benefits equitably it is necessary to calculate each property’s relative share of the 
special benefits conferred by the funded improvements and service. The Equivalent Benefit Unit 
(EBU) method of assessment apportionment is utilized for this District and establishes a basic 
unit (base value) of benefit and then calculates the benefit derived by each assessed parcel as a 
multiple (or a fraction) of that basic unit. The EBU method of apportioning special benefits is 
typically seen as the most appropriate and equitable assessment methodology for assessment 
districts, as the benefit to each parcel from the improvements are apportioned as a function of 
comparable property characteristics which may include but is not limited to land use and property 
size. The method of apportionment originally developed for this District was based on an 
assessment formula appropriate for the various land uses, identifiable property characteristics 
and improvements within the District and utilizes the number of comparative dwelling units or 
dwelling spaces for other residential land uses and comparative lot sizes (acreage) for non-
residential and undeveloped properties.

For the District and the purposes of this Report, an EBU is the quantum of benefit derived from 
the various Zone improvements by a single family residential parcel. The single family residential 
parcel has been selected as the basic unit for calculation of assessments since it currently 
represents 100% of the parcels to be assessed in the District, although other land uses may be 
annexed to the District in the future. Thus, the "benchmark" property (the single family residential 
parcel) derives one EBU of benefit and is assigned 1.00 Equivalent Benefit Unit.

Land Use Classifications
Every parcel within the District is assigned a land use classification based on available parcel 
information obtained from the County Assessor’s Office. It has been determined that a parcel use 
and size are the appropriate factors necessary to identify and calculate the proportional special 
benefits conveyed to each property within the District for the cost of improvements associated 
with that property. The parcels currently within the District are identified as single family residential 
parcels or Exempt parcels and the following provides a description of those land use 
classifications. This method of apportionment and assignment of Equivalent Benefit Units may be 
expanded to include additional land use classifications as developments are annexed to the 
District in the future.

Residential Single-Family — This land use classification may include, but is not limited to all 
subdivided residential tract lots with a single residential unit on the parcel (individual Assessor’s 
Parcel Number) including attached and detached single-family residential units, condominiums or 
townhomes. As previously noted, the single family residential parcel has been selected as the 
basic unit for calculation of assessments and each is assigned 1.00 Equivalent Benefit Unit.

Residential Vacant Lot — This land use classification is defined as a fully subdivided residential 
parcel/lot within an approved Tract or subdivision for which the residential unit or units have not 
been constructed on the parcel (subdivided vacant lot). This land use classification is limited to 
fully subdivided residential parcels for which the number of residential units to be constructed on 
the parcel is four (4) units or less. This land use is assessed at 1.00 EBU per parcel.

Planned Residential Subdivision — This land use classification is defined as any property not 
fully subdivided, but a specific number of proposed lots and/or residential units to be developed 
on the parcel has been identified as part of an approved Tract Map or Tentative Tract Map. This 
land use type is assessed at 1.0 EBU per planned (proposed) lot and/or residential unit.

97



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 23

Vacant Undeveloped Property -- This land use classification includes undeveloped/vacant 
properties or primarily undeveloped properties that may have originally been identified as Planned 
Residential Subdivision parcels but have not yet been developed or subdivided. While many of 
the improvements within a Zone are considered shared improvements that collectively support 
the overall development of properties within a Zone to their full and best use and thus benefit 
each of the properties in the Zone including the vacant undeveloped properties, some 
improvements are constructed and accepted for maintenance only when the properties are 
subdivided and/or developed. Likewise, it is also recognized that some of the shared 
improvements within a Zone have a more direct and particular benefit to those developed 
properties directly adjacent to the improvements or in close proximity to those improvements than 
do the vacant undeveloped properties that are not actively being developed or are further from 
those shared improvements. Therefore, it has been determined that parcels identified as Vacant 
Undeveloped Property shall be assigned a proportional EBU that is 20% of that assigned to 
developed properties, which is 1.0 EBU per acre (20% of the 5.0 EBU per acre assigned to 
Developed Non-Residential property). (e.g., a Vacant Undeveloped Property which is 7.00-acres 
would be assigned 7.00 EBU [7.0 acres x 1.0 EBU/acre]).

Exempt — Exempt from District assessments are the areas of public streets, private streets and 
other roadways, dedicated public easements and open spaces, right of ways including public 
greenbelts and parkways or that portion of public property that is not developed and used for 
business purposes similar to private commercial, industrial and institutional activities. (These 
types of properties are not usually assigned an Assessor’s Parcel Number by the County). Also 
exempt from assessment are utility right of ways, common areas (such as in condominium 
complexes), landlocked parcels, small parcels vacated by the County, bifurcated lots, and any 
other property that cannot be developed or developed independent of an adjacent parcel. It has 
been determined that these types of properties receive no direct benefit from the improvements 
and receive no special benefit or general benefits from the operation and maintenance of the 
District improvements.

Special Case — In many assessment districts (particularly districts that have a wide range of 
land uses and property development) there may be one or more parcels that the standard land 
use classifications and proportionality identified above do not accurately identify the use and 
special benefit received from the improvements. Properties that are typically classified as Special 
Case Parcels usually involve some type of development or land restrictions whether those 
restrictions are temporary or permanent and affect the properties proportional special benefit. 
Examples of such restrictions may include situations where only a small percentage of the parcel’s 
total acreage can actually be developed. In such a case, the net usable acreage of the parcel
rather than the gross acreage of the parcel may be applied to calculate the parcel’s proportional 
special benefit. Each such parcel shall be addressed on a case-by-case basis by the assessment 
engineer and the EBU assigned to such parcels shall be based on the specific issues related to 
that parcel and its proportional special benefit compared to other properties that receive special 
benefits from the improvements.

98



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 24

A summary of the Equivalent Benefit Units (EBUs) that may be applied to land use classifications 
currently applicable to properties within the PFMD is shown in the following table: 

The following is a summary of the land use classifications and Equivalent Benefit Units applicable 
to Annexation No. 2023-1 (Zone No. 11) for establishment of the maximum assessments:

 
 

Land Use Classification

Residential Single-Family 1.00 EBU per Parcel/Lot
Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 EBU per Parcel/Lot
Planned Residential Subdivision 1.00 EBU per Planned Lot/Unit
Vacant Undeveloped Property 1.00 EBU per Acre
Exempt 0.00 EBU per Parcel
Special Case Varied EBU per Adjusted Acre or Planned Units

Equivalent Benefit Unit Formula

Land Use Classification
 Total 

Parcels 
 Assessed 
Parcels 

 Applied 
Acres/Units 

 Equivalent 
Benefit Units 

(EBU) 

Residential Vacant Lot 164 164 164.000 164.0000
Planned Residential Subdivision 4 4 196.000 196.0000
Exempt 4 - 1.521 -

Totals 172 168 361.521 360.0000

99



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 25

Part III — Estimate of Costs
Calculation of Assessments
An assessment amount per EBU in each Zone of the District including Zone No. 11 (Annexation 
Territory) is calculated by:

Taking the “Total Annual Expenses” (Total budgeted costs) and subtracting the “General Benefit 
Expenses (City Funded)”, to establish the “Total Eligible Special Benefit Expenses”; 

Total Annual Expenses – General Benefit Expenses = Total Eligible Special Benefit Expenses
To the resulting “Eligible Special Benefit Expenses”, various “Funding Adjustments/Contributions” 
may be applied that may include, but are not limited to:

“Unfunded Reserve Fund Collection”, represents an adjustment (reduction) in the amount 
to be collected for “Operational Reserve Funding” that was budgeted as part of the Total 
Annual Expenses.
“Unfunded Rehab-Renovation Funding”, represents an adjustment (reduction) in the 
amount to be collected for “Total Rehab-Renovation Funding” that was budgeted as part 
of the Total Annual Expenses. (This does not include the amount budgeted for Planned 
Capital Expenditures).
“Reserve Fund Transfer/Deduction”, represents an amount of available existing funds
from the “Operational Reserve Fund Balances” being applied to pay a portion of the 
Special Benefit Expenses for the fiscal year.
“Additional City Contribution and/or Service Reductions”, represents a further adjustment 
that addresses the funding gap between the amount budgeted to provide the
improvements and services (“Special Benefit Expenses”); and the amount that will be 
collected through the assessments. This funding gap may be addressed by an additional 
City contribution, reductions in service and service expenses, or a combination of the two.

These adjustments to the Special Benefit Expenses result in the net special benefit amount to be 
assessed “Balance to Levy”;

Eligible Special Benefit Expenses +/- Funding Adjustments/Contributions =Balance to Levy 
The amount identified as the “Balance to Levy” is divided by the total number of EBUs of parcels that 
benefit to establish the “Assessment Rate” or “Assessment per EBU”. This Rate is then applied back 
to each parcel’s individual EBU to calculate the parcel’s proportionate special benefit and assessment 
for the improvements. 

Balance to Levy / Total EBU = Assessment per EBU (Assessment Rate)
Assessment per EBU x Parcel EBU = Parcel Assessment Amount

100



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 26

Budgets & Assessment Zone No. 11 (Annexation No. 2023-1)
The budget and maximum assessment rate outlined on the following page for Zone No. 11
(Annexation No. 2023-1), are based on the City’s estimate of the expenses and related funding 
deemed appropriate and necessary to fully support the ongoing operation, maintenance and 
servicing of the improvements identified in Part I of this Report for PFMD Zone No. 11. Those 
improvements and/or costs determined to be of general benefit shall be funded by a City 
contribution. This budget establishes the maximum assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 to be 
approved by the property owner(s) of record within Annexation No. 2023-1 as part of the Ballot 
Proceeding.

Although the budget presented, establishes the maximum assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, 
it is anticipated that the improvements for Zone No. 11 will be maintained by the owner/developer 
of Tract No. 848 through the end of Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and therefore no assessment is 
proposed for Fiscal year 2023/2024. However, at the City Council’s discretion, the City Council 
may still authorize and approve an actual assessment to be levied and collected on the County 
Tax Rolls for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 as part of the annual assessment process and approval of 
the Fiscal year 2023/2024 Engineer’s Report for the entire PFMD. In no case, however, will the 
annual assessment for Fiscal Year 2023/2024, exceed the maximum assessment presented 
herein.

101



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 27

Zone No. 11 Maximum Assessment Budget

 
 
 

PFMD
Zone 11

Tract 848

Maximum
Assessment

Budget

ANNUAL OPERATION & MAINTENANCE EXPENSES
 Annual Lighting Operation & Maintenance Expenses 13,710$              
 Annual Landscaping Operation & Maintenance Expenses 48,939
Annual Street Operation & Maintenance Expenses 1,155

TOTAL ANNUAL OPERATION & MAINTENANCE EXPENSES 63,804$           

REHABILITATION/RENOVATION FUNDING & CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
Lighting Rehabilitation/Renovation Funding 686$                   
Landscape Improvement Rehabilitation/Renovation Funding 3,815
Street Rehabilitation/Renovation Funding 115,452

TOTAL REHABILITATION/RENOVATION FUNDING & CAPITAL EXPENDITUR 119,952$           
INCIDENTAL EXPENSES

Operational Reserves (Collection) 27,061$              
Annual Administration Expenses 13,504

TOTAL INCIDENTAL EXPENSES 40,565$              

TOTAL ANNUAL EXPENSES 224,322$        
-

GENERAL BENEFIT EXPENSES
Lighting General Benefit — City Funded (1,097)$               
Landscaping General Benefit — City Funded (2,250)
Street Paving General Benefit — City Funded -

TOTAL GENERAL BENEFIT EXPENSES (3,347)$               

TOTAL SPECIAL BENEFIT EXPENSES 220,975$        

BALANCE TO LEVY 220,975$     
DISTRICT STATISTICS

-
Total Parcels 172
Assessed Parcels 168
Equivalent Benefit Units (EBU) 360.00

Maximum Assessment Rate Per EBU $614.00

Balloted Maximum Assessment Rate Per EBU $614.0000

Balloted Amount 221,040.00$       

BUDGET ITEMS

102



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 28

Annual Inflationary Adjustment (Assessment Range Formula)
In order to assure continued adequacy of the financing of the improvement costs, when the District 
Zones were established (including Zone No. 11 being established herein), the assessments 
presented to the property owners included an annual inflationary adjustment (assessment range 
formula). This inflationary adjustment formula established that the Maximum Annual Assessment 
(maximum assessment rates) shall be comparably and automatically increased each fiscal year 
to cover the maintenance and replacement cost increases that naturally occur over time. The 
annual increase in the Maximum Annual Assessments shall be in accordance with the annual 
percentage increase (March to March) in the Employment Cost Index for Total Compensation for 
State and Local Government Workers (all Workers), published quarterly by the U.S. Bureau of 
Labor and Statistics (the “Index”). Increases in the Index will track comparably to increases in the 
costs of annual maintenance and periodic replacement of the described facilities and 
improvements, since the majority of the maintenance and replacement work is and will be done 
by City employees.

Each year, the percentage difference between the Index for March of the current year and the 
Index for the previous March shall be identified. This percentage difference shall then establish 
the range of increased assessments allowed based on the Index. If the percentage change from 
March to March is not available at the time the Engineer’s Report is prepared a similar time period 
may be utilized.

The Maximum Assessment Rates shall be calculated independent of the District’s annual budget 
and proposed assessments. Any proposed annual assessment (rate per EBU) less than or equal 
to the calculated (adjusted) Maximum Assessment Rates is not considered an increased 
assessment, even if the assessment for the fiscal year is significantly greater than the assessment 
applied in the prior fiscal year. 

The District is not required to adjust the assessments levied each year, nor does it restrict the 
assessments to the adjustment amount. If the budget and assessments for a given Zone does 
not require an increase or the increase is less than the allowed adjusted maximum assessment 
rate, then the budget and assessments shall be applied. If the budget and assessments for a 
given Zone require an increase greater than the allowed maximum assessment rate, then the 
proposed assessment is considered an increased assessment. In such cases, mailed notices and 
balloting to the property owners would be required pursuant to the provisions of the Article XIIID 
prior to the imposition of that assessment.

103



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 29 

Part IV — Annexation Diagram
The Fiscal Year 2022/2023 District Diagrams showing the boundaries of Zones 01 through 10
within for the Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1 are on file in the office of the 
City Public Works Department and the City Clerk, and by reference herein are made part of this 
Report. The parcels identified as Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848), and subsequently as 
Zone No. 11 are depicted on the following Annexation Diagram. All lots, parcels and subdivisions
of land within the boundaries of Zone No. 11 (Annexation No. 2023-1) as depicted by this diagram 
shall be dictated by the lines and dimensions of those lots, parcels and subdivisions of land shown 
on the Kings County Assessor’s parcel maps and by reference these maps are incorporated 
herein and made part of this Report, including all subsequent lot-line adjusts and/or parcel 
changes made thereto by the Kings County Assessor’s Office. This Annexation Diagram along 
with the Assessment Roll referenced in this Report constitute the PFMD Zone No. 11 Assessment 
Diagram for Fiscal Year 2023/2024 and the Annexation Diagram for Annexation No. 2023-1.

104



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

 
  

 Page 30 

Zone No. 11 (Annexation No. 2023-1) Diagram

 

105



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 31

Part V — Assessment Roll
The following Assessment Roll contained on the following pages identifies each lot or parcel 
within Annexation No. 2023-1 along with the Fiscal Year 2023/2024 maximum assessment 
amount (Balloted Assessment Amount). The parcel(s) listed on the Assessment Roll
corresponds to the Assessor’s Parcel Number(s) shown on the County Assessor's Roll and 
illustrated on the County Assessor’s Parcel Number Maps (APN maps) at the time this Report 
was prepared and shall incorporate all subsequent parcel changes, lot-line adjustments, and 
subdivisions of land identified by the Kings County Assessor’s Office. These records are, by 
reference, made part of this Report and shall govern for all details concerning the description of 
the lots or parcels. All assessments presented on the assessment roll are subject to change as 
a result of parcel changes made by the County including parcel splits, parcel merges or 
development changes that occur prior to the County Assessor's Office securing the final roll and 
generating tax bills each fiscal year.

106



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 32

 

 
 
 

Assessor Parcel
Balloted 

Maximum
Fiscal Year 
2023/2024

Number Address Zone Tract Lot No. Land Use  EBU Assessment Assessment

023-480-043 11 848 G Planned Residential Subdivision 78.00 $47,892.00 $0.00

023-510-070 11 848 G Planned Residential Subdivision 23.00 $14,122.00 $0.00

023-510-071 11 848 F Planned Residential Subdivision 44.00 $27,016.00 $0.00

023-510-072 11 848 C Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

023-510-073 11 848 E Planned Residential Subdivision 51.00 $31,314.00 $0.00

023-660-001 408 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 1 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-002 426 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 2 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-003 444 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 3 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-004 462 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 4 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-005 480 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 5 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-006 500 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 6 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-007 508 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 7 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-008 516 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 8 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-009 524 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 9 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-010 532 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 10 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-011 540 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 11 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-012 550 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 12 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-013 556 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 13 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-014 564 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 14 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-015 2343 Pepperdine Street 11 848 15 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-016 2353 Pepperdine Street 11 848 16 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-017 2365 Pepperdine Street 11 848 17 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-018 2375 Pepperdine Street 11 848 18 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-019 2387 Pepperdine Street 11 848 19 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-020 2409 Pepperdine Street 11 848 19 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-023 2431 Pepperdine Street 11 848 22 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-024 2441 Pepperdine Street 11 848 23 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-025 2451 Pepperdine Street 11 848 24 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-026 2461 Pepperdine Street 11 848 25 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-027 2471 Pepperdine Street 11 848 26 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-028 2481 Pepperdine Street 11 848 27 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-029 552 Harvard Drive 11 848 110 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-030 542 Harvard Drive 11 848 109 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-031 526 Harvard Drive 11 848 108 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-032 518 Harvard Drive 11 848 107 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-033 495 Baylor Drive 11 848 106 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-034 501 Baylor Drive 11 848 105 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-045 2450 Pepperdine Street 11 848 111 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-050 506 Baylor Drive 11 848 94 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-051 514 Baylor Drive 11 848 95 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

107



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 33

 

 
 
 

Assessor Parcel
Balloted 

Maximum
Fiscal Year 
2023/2024

Number Address Zone Tract Lot No. Land Use  EBU Assessment Assessment

023-660-052 522 Baylor Drive 11 848 96 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-053 530 Baylor Drive 11 848 97 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-054 538 Baylor Drive 11 848 98 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-055 546 Baylor Drive 11 848 99 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-056 554 Baylor Drive 11 848 100 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-057 551 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 82 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-058 543 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 83 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-059 527 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 84 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-060 517 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 85 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-061 503 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 86 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-062 483 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 87 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-063 459 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 88 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-064 441 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 89 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-065 421 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 90 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-066 405 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 91 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-067 11 848 B Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

023-660-068 2421 Pepperdine Street 11 848 21 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-069 509 Baylor Drive 11 848 104 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-070 519 Baylor Drive 11 848 103 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-071 535 Baylor Drive 11 848 102 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-072 549 Baylor Drive 11 848 101 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-073 2436 Pepperdine Street 11 848 112 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-074 490 Baylor Drive 11 848 92 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-660-075 498 Baylor Drive 11 848 93 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-011 368 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 164 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-014 425 Harvard Drive 11 848 124 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-015 443 Harvard Drive 11 848 123 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-016 461 Harvard Drive 11 848 122 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-017 479 Harvard Drive 11 848 121 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-018 497 Harvard Drive 11 848 120 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-019 505 Harvard Drive 11 848 119 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-020 513 Harvard Drive 11 848 118 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-021 521 Harvard Drive 11 848 117 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-022 529 Harvard Drive 11 848 116 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-023 537 Harvard Drive 11 848 115 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-024 545 Harvard Drive 11 848 114 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-025 555 Harvard Drive 11 848 113 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-026 556 University Drive 11 848 140 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-027 548 University Drive 11 848 139 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-028 536 University Drive 11 848 138 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

108



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 34

 

 
 
 

Assessor Parcel
Balloted 

Maximum
Fiscal Year 
2023/2024

Number Address Zone Tract Lot No. Land Use  EBU Assessment Assessment

023-670-029 528 University Drive 11 848 137 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-030 520 University Drive 11 848 136 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-031 504 University Drive 11 848 135 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-032 488 University Drive 11 848 134 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-033 470 University Drive 11 848 133 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-034 452 University Drive 11 848 132 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-035 432 University Drive 11 848 131 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-036 416 University Drive 11 848 130 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-037 398 University Drive 11 848 129 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-038 380 University Drive 11 848 128 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-039 362 University Drive 11 848 127 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-040 354 University Drive 11 848 126 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-041 331 University Drive 11 848 158 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-042 343 University Drive 11 848 157 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-043 353 University Drive 11 848 156 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-044 371 University Drive 11 848 155 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-045 389 University Drive 11 848 154 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-046 409 University Drive 11 848 153 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-047 423 University Drive 11 848 152 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-048 445 University Drive 11 848 151 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-049 463 University Drive 11 848 150 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-050 481 University Drive 11 848 149 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-051 499 University Drive 11 848 148 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-052 507 University Drive 11 848 147 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-053 515 University Drive 11 848 146 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-054 523 University Drive 11 848 145 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-055 531 University Drive 11 848 144 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-056 541 University Drive 11 848 143 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-057 547 University Drive 11 848 142 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-058 557 University Drive 11 848 141 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-059 300 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 159 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-060 312 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 160 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-061 324 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 161 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-062 336 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 162 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-063 352 Vanderbilt Drive 11 848 163 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-670-064 407 Harvard Drive 11 848 125 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-001 2649 Auburn Street 11 848 57 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-002 2641 Auburn Street 11 848 56 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-003 2633 Auburn Street 11 848 55 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-004 2625 Auburn Street 11 848 54 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

109



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 35

 

 
 
 

Assessor Parcel
Balloted 

Maximum
Fiscal Year 
2023/2024

Number Address Zone Tract Lot No. Land Use  EBU Assessment Assessment

023-680-005 2617 Auburn Street 11 848 53 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-006 2609 Auburn Street 11 848 52 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-007 2601 Auburn Street 11 848 51 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-008 2593 Auburn Street 11 848 50 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-009 2583 Auburn Street 11 848 49 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-010 2573 Auburn Street 11 848 48 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-011 2563 Auburn Street 11 848 47 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-012 2553 Auburn Street 11 848 46 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-013 2547 Auburn Street 11 848 45 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-014 650 Biola Way 11 848 44 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-015 644 Biola Way 11 848 43 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-016 11 848 D Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

023-680-017 645 Clemson Avenue 11 848 42 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-018 651 Clemson Avenue 11 848 41 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-019 657 Clemson Avenue 11 848 40 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-020 654 Clemson Avenue 11 848 39 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-021 640 Clemson Avenue 11 848 38 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-022 634 Clemson Avenue 11 848 37 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-023 630 Clemson Avenue 11 848 36 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-024 624 Clemson Avenue 11 848 35 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-025 614 Clemson Avenue 11 848 34 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-026 610 Clemson Avenue 11 848 33 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-027 2493 Pepperdine Street 11 848 28 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-028 2506 West Hills Way 11 848 32 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-029 2507 Pepperdine Street 11 848 29 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-030 2520 West Hills Way 11 848 30 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-031 2521 Pepperdine Street 11 848 31 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-032 2539 Pepperdine Street 11 848 81 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-033 2538 West Hills Way 11 848 80 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-034 2546 West Hills Way 11 848 79 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-035 2554 West Hills Way 11 848 78 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-036 613 Biola Way 11 848 77 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-037 623 Biola Way 11 848 76 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-038 627 Biola Way 11 848 75 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-039 633 Biola Way 11 848 74 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-040 637 Biola Way 11 848 73 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-041 643 Biola Way 11 848 72 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-042 647 Biola Way 11 848 71 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-043 2582 Auburn Street 11 848 70 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-044 2590 Auburn Street 11 848 69 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

110



Lemoore Public Facilities Maintenance District No. 1
Engineer’s Annexation Report, Annexation No. 2023-1 (Tract No. 848)

Fiscal Year 2023/2024

Page 36

 

 
 

Assessor Parcel
Balloted 

Maximum
Fiscal Year 
2023/2024

Number Address Zone Tract Lot No. Land Use  EBU Assessment Assessment

023-680-045 2598 Auburn Street 11 848 68 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-046 2606 Auburn Street 11 848 67 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-047 2614 Auburn Street 11 848 66 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-048 2622 Auburn Street 11 848 65 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-049 2630 Auburn Street 11 848 64 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-050 2638 Auburn Street 11 848 63 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-051 2646 Auburn Street 11 848 62 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-052 2654 Auburn Street 11 848 61 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-053 655 Northwestern Way 11 848 60 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-054 661 Northwestern Way 11 848 59 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-055 667 Northwestern Way 11 848 58 Residential Vacant Lot 1.00 $614.00 $0.00

023-680-056 11 848 A Exempt - $0.00 $0.00

Total  360.00 $221,040.00 $0.00

111



      
     City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report

    Item No: 6-1 
         

To: Lemoore City Council
From Steve Brandt, City Planner
Date: May 30, 2023 Meeting Date:    June 19, 2023
Subject: Resolution 2023-18 – Establishing Thresholds and Implementation 

Guidelines for Evaluating Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) in the 
Preparation of  California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Documents 
for when the City of Lemoore Acts as Lead Agency

Strategic Initiative: 
Safe & Vibrant Community Growing & Dynamic Economy 

Fiscally Sound Government Operational Excellence

Community & Neighborhood Livability Not Applicable 

Proposed Motion:
Adoption of Resolution No. 2023-18, establishing Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) 
Thresholds and Implementation Guidelines for use in preparing future CEQA documents 
for the City of Lemoore. 

Subject/Discussion:
The State adopted a new law (SB 743) that changed the way that the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) quantifies environmental impacts from vehicle traffic.  
Previously, traffic was evaluated by measuring the Level of Service (LOS) of major 
intersections near a proposed project to see if the new traffic from the proposed project 
would increase traffic congestion to an unacceptable level.  LOS was graded A through 
F, with A being totally unhindered traffic flow and F being complete traffic gridlock. The 
City has a threshold of D set in the General Plan.

However, with the new law, environmental impacts from traffic are now to be measured 
using a Vehicle Miles Traveled metric, or VMT. A project is considered to have an 
environmental effect if its estimated VMT is higher than the average VMT of all the other 
uses in the vicinity. This changes the nature of the impact analysis from looking at 
intersection congestion to looking at reducing individual vehicle trips and their associated 

112



air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions. Uses that produce lower VMT are going to 
have less of an impact. 
 
Since most individual vehicle trips are local, the location of the proposed development in 
relation to the rest of the city will have an effect on VMT. For example, a new development 
in the middle of Lemoore is going to have a lower VMT than a development on the 
outskirts of the city.  The EIR for the Lacey Ranch development determined that VMT 
from that development was clearly a significant environmental effect. However, just where 
the threshold is between not significant and significant was not known. It can be different 
for each city. This VMT Thresholds Study determines where the threshold can be 
reasonably set for Lemoore so that future CEQA documents can use that threshold when 
they evaluate projects. 
 
The document describes the methodology used to determine the threshold, and then sets 
the procedures for conducting the evaluation. Some smaller projects will be able to be 
“screened out” of having to conduct a more detailed study.  This document can be used 
by City staff to determine which projects can be screened out and which ones will need a 
more detailed analysis. 
 
The study was prepared by LSA, within funding from the City’s LEAP grant that it received.  
Staff has been meeting with LSA on video conferences for about 4 months to assist in the 
preparation of the study. 
 
Financial Consideration(s): 
Establishment of the VMT standards will likely have the effect of reducing the number of 
City-initiated and developer-initiated projects that would be required to prepare a full VMT 
analysis. 
 
Alternatives or Pros/Cons: 
If the proposed threshold is not established, the City can use the State recommended 
thresholds, which are harder to meet. 
 
Commission/Board Recommendation: 
The Planning Commission was briefed on the proposed guidelines at their April 14, 2023, 
meeting, but was not asked to make a formal recommendation. There were no concerns 
expressed. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
Staff recommends approval of Resolution 2023-18 – establishing Vehicle Miles Traveled 
(VMT) Thresholds and Implementation Guidelines for use in preparing future CEQA 
documents for the City of Lemoore. 
 
Attachments:   Review: Date: 

 Resolution: 2023-18   Asst. City Manager     
 Ordinance:    City Attorney 6/15/2023 
 Map    City Clerk 6/15/2023 
 Contract    City Manager 6/12/2023 
 Other     Finance 6/13/2023 

 List:  VMT Thresholds Study 

113



 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-18 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LEMOORE 

ESTABLISHING THRESHOLDS AND IMPLEMENTATION GUIDELINES FOR 
EVALUATING VEHICLE MILES TRAVELED (VMT) IN THE PREPARATION OF 

CALFORNIA ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ACT (CEQA) DOCUMENTS FOR 
WHEN THE CITY OF LEMOORE ACTS AS LEAD AGENCY 

 
WHEREAS, the State of California adopted a new law (SB 743) that changed the way that 

the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) quantifies environmental impacts from vehicle 
traffic, and 
 

WHEREAS, the new law requires that CEQA document evaluate impacts from a proposed 
project’s anticipated traffic using a metric of vehicle miles traveled instead of level of service; and 

 
WHEREAS, Section 15064.3 of the CEQA Guidelines gives lead agencies discretion to 

choose the most appropriate methodology to evaluate a proposed project’s VMT; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Lemoore hired LSA, a traffic consultant with experience 

evaluating vehicle miles traveled and preparing thresholds of significance for vehicles miles 
traveled to prepare a study specific to projects that would be evaluated by the City of Lemoore; 
and 
 

WHEREAS, the Lemoore City Council held a duly noticed public hearing at its June 19, 
2023, meeting to review the Study prepared by LSA. 
 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Lemoore 
hereby adopts the Study prepared by LSA and establishes VMT Thresholds and Implementation 
Guidelines for use in CEQA documents where the City of Lemoore is the lead agency. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Lemoore at a special 
meeting held on the 19th day of June 2023 by the following vote: 
 
 AYES: 

 NOES: 

 ABSENT: 

 ABSTAINING: 

 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED: 
 
 
             
Marisa Avalos      Patricia Matthews 
City Clerk      Mayor 

114



V M T  T H R E S H O L D S  A N D  I M P L E M E N T A T I O N  
G U I D E L I N E S  

 

115



This page intentionally left blank 

116



 

V M T  T H R E S H O L D S  A N D  I M P L E M E N T A T I O N  
G U I D E L I N E S  

 

 

 

Prepared for: 

City of Lemoore 
711 W. Cinnamon Drive 

Lemoore, California 93245 

Prepared by: 

LSA Associates, Inc. 
1500 Iowa Avenue, Suite 200 

Riverside, California 92507 
(951) 781-9310 

Project No. LMR2201 

117



This page intentionally left blank 

118



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Senate Bill (SB) 743, which became effective July 1, 2020, changes the way transportation impacts are 
determined in California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) documents. SB 743 replaces the metric for 
determining transportation impacts using motor vehicle delay and Level of Service (LOS) to Vehicle 
Miles Traveled (VMT) in CEQA traffic impact studies. As a result of the SB 743 final rulemaking, the 
City of Lemoore (City) is adopting a set of VMT thresholds to support the shift from a delay-based 
analysis to VMT. This document provides a detailed discussion on implementing the CEQA VMT metric 
as applicable to the City of Lemoore. Substantial evidence and explanation on establishing the 
“Region,” VMT screening criteria, and VMT analysis thresholds are also described.  

The following is a brief summary of the City’s VMT guidelines as adopted by the City. Each topic is 
discussed in more detail in this report. 

 Definition of ‘Region’: Based on Kings County Association of Governments (KCAG) Travel Demand 
Model (TDM), 95% of trips that start or end in the City of Lemoore are contained within Kings 
County. Therefore, Kings County has been established as the region for VMT analysis purposes. 

 Standardized Screening Methods: The guidelines provide multiple screening criteria for both land 
use and transportation projects. Screening criteria for land use projects include: 

o Local-serving retail projects up to 50,000 square feet (sf). 

o Projects that are consistent with the City’s General Plan and generate fewer than 1,000 daily 
trips or projects that are not consistent with the City’s General Plan but generate fewer than 
500 daily trips. 

o Residential, Office, Industrial, or mixed-use projects within low-VMT generating areas, and 

o Projects with 100 percent affordable housing units. 

Detailed description about the screening criteria for development projects and transportation 
projects are described in detail in the guidelines. 

 Appropriate VMT Significance Thresholds for Development Projects, and Community/General 
Plans: For all projects (except retail), a significance threshold of 87 percent of the existing regional 
average of the respective VMT metric will be the threshold. Therefore, 

o For residential projects, 87% of Kings County baseline VMT per capita will be the threshold. 

o For non-residential projects (except retail), 87% of Kings County baseline VMT per employee 
will be the threshold. 

o For retail projects, a significance threshold of no net increase in VMT will be the metric.  

o For mixed use projects, the VMT thresholds are based on the respective thresholds for the 
various land use components.  

o Finally, for land use plans, the existing Kings County average baseline VMT per capita, VMT 
per employee, and VMT per service population will be the thresholds of significance.  

119



 VMT Mitigation Strategies: A list of VMT mitigation measures, in the context of the City of 
Lemoore, have been provided that are applicable to development projects and land use plans that 
would have a significant VMT impact. Additionally, implementation of a future VMT mitigation 
bank, VMT mitigation exchange, and/or VMT impact fee are discussed as potential future regional 
VMT mitigation mechanisms.  

The City recommends using the KCAG TDM for VMT analysis purposes for most projects. The KCAG 
TDM is the regional travel demand model applicable to jurisdictions within Kings County including the 
City for evaluating project VMT. The appropriate use of the KCAG TDM for VMT calculations is further 
elaborated in subsequent chapters of this document. However, certain unique land uses may not be 
able to use KCAG TDM for evaluating a project’s VMT impact. For those project’s relevant empirical 
data from other sources should be utilized to evaluate the project VMT. The methodology for 
evaluating project’s VMT for such projects needs to be confirmed with City staff. 

120



This page intentionally left blank 

  

 

121



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 
TABLE OF CONTENTS .................................................................................................. iv 

FIGURES AND TABLES ................................................................................................. vi 
FIGURES ........................................................................................................................................ vi 
TABLES .......................................................................................................................................... vi 

ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS ............................................................................ viii 
1.0 INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................. 10 

2.0 DEFINITION OF REGION: VEHICLE MILES TRAVELED CONTEXT ............................ 12 

3.0 SCREENING CRITERIA ......................................................................................... 14 
3.1 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS .................................................................................................. 14 

3.1.1 Average Daily Trips (ADT) Threshold ................................................................................... 23 
3.2 SCREENING BY PROJECT TYPE: tRANSPORTATION pROJECTS ............................................ 26 

4.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS ............................... 28 
4.1 THRESHOLDS ....................................................................................................................... 28 
4.2 IMPACT ASSESSMENT ......................................................................................................... 30 

4.2.1 Agency Communication ....................................................................................................... 30 
4.2.2 Project Screening ................................................................................................................. 35 
4.2.3 VMT Identification ............................................................................................................... 35 

4.3 MITIGATION MEASURES ..................................................................................................... 36 
5.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR TRANSPORTATION PROJECTS .......................... 38 

6.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR LAND USE PLANS ............................................. 42 

7.0 MITIGATION STRATEGIES ................................................................................... 44 
7.1 DEFINITION OF MITIGATION ............................................................................................... 44 
7.2 MITIGATION MEASURES AND PROJECT ALTERNATIVES ..................................................... 46 
7.3 FUNDING MECHANISMS ..................................................................................................... 47 

 

 

122



This page intentionally left blank 

123



FIGURES AND TABLES 

FIGURES 
Figure 1: 2019 GHG Emissions in California by Economic Sector ......................................................... 11 
Figure 2: Percentage of Total Trips Having Origins/Destinations within the City of Lemoore 

and Terminating within the City of Lemoore, within Kings County, or outside the 
County .......................................................................................................................................... 13 

Figure 3: VMT per Capita Screening Map for City of Lemoore ............................................................. 17 
Figure 4: VMT per Employee Screening Map for City of Lemoore ....................................................... 19 
Figure 5: VMT per Service Population Screening Map for City of Lemoore ......................................... 21 
Figure 6: SB 375 Regional Plan Climate Targets for the 18 California MPOs ........................................ 29 
Figure 7: VMT Screening Methodology for Development Projects ...................................................... 31 
Figure 8-A: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Residential Projects ................................. 32 
Figure 8-B: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Non-Retail) 

Projects ........................................................................................................................................ 33 
Figure 8-C: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Retail) Projects ............. 34 
Figure 9: Induced Travel – VMT Attributable to Project ....................................................................... 39 
Figure 10: Caltrans Induced Travel Calculator ...................................................................................... 40 
Figure 11: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Bank ..................................................................................... 49 
Figure 12: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Exchange .............................................................................. 50 
Figure 13: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Impact Fee ........................................................................... 51 
 

TABLES 
Table A: Representative VMT and GHG Emissions from CalEEMod ..................................................... 23 
Table B: CO2e Emission Rates by Land Use Type .................................................................................. 24 
Table C: VMT Screening Thresholds for Sample Land Uses .................................................................. 25 
Table D: VMT Metrics for Land Use Projects ........................................................................................ 35 
Table E: Significance Thresholds for VMT Analysis ............................................................................... 36 
Table F: Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects ....................... 52 
 

124



This page intentionally left blank 

125



ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS 

ADT Average Daily Trips 
CalEEMod California Emissions Estimator Model 
Caltrans California Department of Transportation 
CAPCOA California Air Pollution Control Officers Association 
CARB California Air Resources Board 
CEQA California Environmental Quality Act 
City City of Lemoore 
County Kings County 
CO2e Carbon Dioxide Equivalent 
EIR Environmental Impact Report 
EO Executive Order 
GHG Greenhouse Gas 
GWP Global Warming Potential 
HOT High-Occupancy Toll 
HOV High-Occupancy Vehicle 
HQTA High-Quality Transit Area 
ITE Institute of Transportation Engineers 
KCAG Kings County Association of Governments 
LOS Level of Service 
MPO Metropolitan Planning Organization 
MT Metric Ton 
OPR Governor’s Office of Planning and Research 
PRC Public Resources Code 
RTP Regional Transportation Plan 
SB Senate Bill 
SCS Sustainable Communities Strategy 
sf Square foot/Feet 
SOC Statement of Overriding Considerations 
SOI Sphere of Influence 
TA Technical Advisory 
TDM Travel Demand Model 
TPA Transit Priority Area 
VMT Vehicle Miles Traveled 

126



This page intentionally left blank 

127



1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Senate Bill (SB) 743, which became effective July 1, 2020, changes the way transportation impact 
assessments are conducted in California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) documents. Most notably, 
rulemaking in support of SB 743 replaces motor vehicle delay, as measured by Level of Service (LOS), 
with Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT) as the metric for use in CEQA transportation impact assessments.  

In January 2019, the Natural Resources Agency and the Governor’s Office of Planning and Research 
(OPR) codified SB 743 into the Public Resources Code (PRC) and the State CEQA Guidelines. 

OPR published a Technical Advisory (TA) in December of 2018, as a resource to guide the assessment 
of the VMT metric, establish thresholds of significance, and recommends mitigation measures. The 
laws and rules governing the CEQA process are contained in the CEQA statute (PRC Section 21000 and 
following), the State CEQA Guidelines (California Code of Regulations, Title 14, Section 15000 and 
following), published court decisions interpreting CEQA, and locally adopted CEQA procedures. The 
TA is intended as a reference document; it does not have the weight of law. However, any decision to 
deviate from the TA recommendations must be supported by substantial evidence. 

The State of California is committed to reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and achieving long-
term climate change goals. As a means for achieving statewide sustainability and climate goals, 
California legislation is focused on reducing VMT to achieve statewide climate goals. Over the last 40 
years, across the state, VMT has far exceeded that of the state’s population increase during the same 
period. As shown in Figure 1, transportation is the single largest sector contributing to California’s 
GHG emissions. Approximately 41 percent of statewide GHG emissions are generated by the 
transportation sector, primarily passenger cars and light-duty trucks. State mandates pertaining to 
GHG emissions include reducing the number of single-occupancy vehicle trips and the length of 
vehicle trips. 

This report establishes the City of Lemoore’s (City) VMT thresholds of significance for use in CEQA 
transportation studies and provides substantial evidence to support those thresholds. The report is 
organized into the following seven chapters: 

 Chapter 1 – Introduction: This chapter establishes the purpose and objective of this report. 

 Chapter 2 – Definition of Region: This chapter describes the comparative geographic baseline of 
a region for analysis purposes.  

 Chapter 3 –Screening Criteria: OPR acknowledges that certain projects are either low VMT 
generators, or, by virtue of their location, would have a less than significant impact. This chapter 
provides the screening criteria to identify potentially exempt projects. 

 Chapter 4 –VMT Threshold Analysis for Development Projects: This chapter identifies the VMT 
thresholds of significance, which would result in a significant CEQA impact. The actual VMT 
metric (either an efficiency rate or total VMT) is described. The process of VMT analysis is also 
described in this chapter. 

 Chapter 5 – VMT Threshold Analysis for Transportation Projects: This chapter describes the 
methodology used to evaluate significant CEQA impacts associated with transportation projects 

128



in the City of Lemoore. Many non-capacity capital projects may be presumed to have a less than 
significant impact. Capacity-enhancing transportation projects may produce significant VMT
impacts and would therefore be subject to a comprehensive VMT analysis including an induced
travel assessment.

Chapter 6 – VMT Threshold Analysis for Land Use Plans: This chapter provides guidance and 
substantial evidence to support the City’s treatment of land use plans and their related CEQA 
transportation impact analysis requirements. 

Chapter 7 – VMT Mitigation Strategies: The discussion provided in this chapter is intended as a 
reference and guide for use in the identification of feasible VMT mitigation options that may be 
used to offset project-related VMT impacts. It should be noted that this discussion is not intended 
to represent a full list of VMT mitigation measures available or feasible to the City. As in previous 
CEQA practice, it is generally the lead agency who identifies mitigation measures to offset the 
specific project-related impacts identified in an environmental document.

Source: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/ghg-inventory-data  

Figure 1: 2019 GHG Emissions in California by Economic Sector

129



2.0 DEFINITION OF REGION: VEHICLE MILES TRAVELED CONTEXT 

To quantify a project’s impact related to the VMT metric, a geographic context must be established. 
In the motor vehicle delay-based (LOS) analyses, a project study area is the geographic context for 
measuring a project’s traffic impacts. A project study area is generally determined by the incremental 
increase in traffic generated by the project and the project’s potential to create travel delays in the 
area. This generally includes intersections and roadway segments where the project would add a 
prescribed number of peak-hour trips. Lead agencies typically limit the LOS-based project study area 
boundaries within their jurisdictions. 

Delay-based LOS analyses evaluate intersections or segments of roadways and so they consider 
portions of trips at specific locations and do not take into consideration the effect of entire trip length 
(from starting location to ending location). Hence, unlike delay-based LOS analyses, VMT produces a 
regional impact that is not limited by roadway, intersection, or jurisdictional boundaries. OPR 
acknowledges this in its TA (page 6), which states:  

“Lead agencies should not truncate any VMT analysis because of jurisdictional or 
other boundaries, for example, by failing to count the portion of a trip that falls 
outside the jurisdiction or by discounting the VMT from a trip that crosses a 
jurisdictional boundary.” 

On a daily basis, majority of trips are generated by the residents of the community or by residential 
land uses. Commute and school trips are typically considered mandatory trips for the residents. Also, 
based on 2010 – 2012 California Household Travel Surveys (CHTS), commute trips are the longest 
among trips by residents. Additionally based on CHTS, the majority of trips are commute and shopping 
trips occurring between residential, office, and retail uses. Therefore, pursuant to the OPR TA, the 
recommendations for VMT thresholds for the three primary land use types (residential, office, and 
retail) are based on a comparison to a regional average. OPR does not explicitly define the regional 
average, and instead, recommends: 

1. In cases where the region is substantially larger than the geography over which 
most workers would be expected to live, it might be appropriate to refer to a 
smaller geography, such as the county, that includes the area over which nearly 
all workers would be expected to live. (page 16) 

2. For residential projects in unincorporated county areas, the local agency can 
compare a residential project’s VMT to (1) the region’s VMT per capita, or (2) the 
aggregate population weighted VMT per capita of all cities in the region. 
(page 15) 

LSA surveyed other large urbanized areas around the state to identify what region has been established 
for VMT thresholds. In most cases, the county boundary has been identified as the region selected for 
VMT analysis. Mobility can be studied using a trip-based approach or a tour-based approach. The OPR 
TA states that “where available, tour-based assessment is ideal because it captures travel behavior more 
comprehensively. But where tour-based tools or data are not available for all components of an analysis, 
a trip-based assessment of VMT serves as a reasonable proxy.” A regional travel demand model, 

130



whether tour-based or trip-based, is one of the best available tools to estimate VMT. Given the current 
regional travel demand model is a trip-based model and as described before, project VMT evaluation 
shall be conducted using a relative comparison (project VMT metrics to the regional VMT metrics), the 
trip-based model serves as an appropriate tool for VMT evaluation.  

Since the Kings County Association of Governments’ (KCAG’s) Travel Demand Model (TDM) is a trip-
based model, a trip-based approach has been followed. LSA used the KCAG TDM to examine the trips 
into and out of Lemoore. As such, consistent with the OPR TA, only trips having origins or destinations 
or both within the City were considered. External pass-through trips were not considered.  

As illustrated in Figure 2, out of the total trips, about 65 percent trips are contained within the City 
and its sphere of influence (SOI). Another 30 percent of trips originate or are destined within other 
jurisdictions in Kings County (County). The remaining 5 percent trips either originate or are destined 
outside Kings County. Because the majority of the trips (95 percent) are contained within Kings 
County, the County will be used to define the region. 

 
Source: KCAG TDM (2015 Scenario) 

Figure 2: Percentage of Total Trips Having Origins/Destinations within the City of Lemoore and 
Terminating within the City of Lemoore, within Kings County, or outside the County 

The OPR guidance recommends consistency in approach; once a region is established, that region 
should be used for all subsequent traffic analyses. 

It should be recognized the use of the County as the region defines the comparative, or the 
denominator, in the identification of project-related impact. The numerator is the project’s VMT 
contribution.  

131



3.0 SCREENING CRITERIA 

The TA acknowledges that certain activities and projects may result in a reduction of VMT and GHG 
emissions and may therefore be assumed to produce a less than significant transportation impact. 
Due to a presumption of less than significant impact by meeting the following described criteria, a 
variety of projects may be screened out of SB 743-related VMT analysis requirements. 

3.1 DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 
For development projects, screening factors may include a project’s size, location, proximity to transit, 
and trip-making potential. One or more of the following project attributes may be presumed to 
produce a less than significant VMT impact: 

 The project is within 0.5 mile (mi) of a transit priority area or a high-quality transit area and is 
consistent with the Regional Transportation Plan (RTP)/ Sustainable Communities Strategy (SCS), 
has a floor area ratio (FAR) equal or greater than 0.75, does not provide more parking than what is 
required by the City’s Municipal Code, or does not reduce the number of affordable residential units. 
In accordance with SB 743, “transit priority areas” are defined as “an area within one-half mile of a 
major transit stop that is existing or planned, if the planned stop is scheduled to be completed within 
the planning horizon included in a Transportation Improvement Program. A “major transit stop” 
means: “a site containing an existing rail transit station, a ferry terminal served by either a bus or 
rail transit service, or the intersection of two or more major bus routes with a frequency of service 
of 15 minutes or less during the morning and afternoon peak commute periods.” A high-quality 
transit area or corridor is a corridor with fixed route bus service with service intervals no longer than 
15 minutes during peak commute hours. (See Pub. Resources Code, § 21099, subds. (a)(7), (b)(1).) 

Currently, the city does not have any high-quality transit area. However, if such areas are 
established at a future date, this screening criteria would be applicable to projects if they meet 
the requirements stated above. 

 The project includes local-serving retail with a combined area of less than 50,000 square feet (sf). 
Local-serving retail would include projects that serve the local community and visitors within the 
City. Local-serving retail projects would include projects such as grocery stores, restaurants, or 
any other commercial development. Whether a retail project is local-serving or not will be 
determined at the discretion of the City.  

 Redevelopment projects that result in an equal or net reduction in VMT can be considered to have 
less than significant VMT impact. A net reduction in VMT would occur if the land use proposed by 
the project would generate less VMT than the existing land use. 

 The project includes 100 percent affordable housing units. Affordable housing units consists of 
low-income households and research has shown that low-income households produce lower VMT 
compared to a market-rate housing unit1. 

1 “Income, Location, Efficiency, and VMT: Affordable Housing as a Climate Strategy” by Gregory L. Newmark 
Ph.D and Peter M. Hass Ph.D, Center for Neighborhood Technology. 

132



 A project consistent with the City’s General Plan can be successfully screened if the project would 
generate fewer than 1,000 average daily trips (ADT), while a project not consistent with the City’s 
General Plan can be screened if the project would generate fewer than 500 ADT. (See section 
3.1.1 below.). Consistency with the General Plan is required because the GHG and therefore VMT 
reduction targets for MPOs were established by CARB and are included in the RTPs. The RTP 
utilizes the latest version of City’s General Plan for analyzing GHG emissions. 

 Institutional/government and public service uses that support community health, safety and 
welfare may also be screened from subsequent CEQA VMT analysis. These facilities (e.g., police 
stations, fire stations, government offices, utilities, public libraries, community centers, and 
refuse stations) would be a part of the community and, as public services, the VMT would be 
accounted for within the community. A decision whether a particular project can be categorized 
as a public service facility will be determined at the discretion of the City. Similarly, any other 
similar use not included in the list can be approved on a case-by-case basis by the City as 
applicable. As such, these uses would result in reduction in total VMT due to the proximity of 
these services within the community. Additionally, many of these facilities would generate fewer 
than 1,000 ADT and/or use vehicles other than passenger-cars or light-duty trucks. These other 
vehicle fleets are subject to regulation outside of CEQA, such as the California Air Resources Board 
(CARB) and San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District. 

 Local parks, daycare centers, student housing projects on or adjacent to a college campus, local-
serving gas stations, banks, and K–12 public schools. 

 Projects located in areas with low VMT may be screened out from further CEQA analysis. The TA 
acknowledges that residential and office projects located in areas having a low VMT, (which 
incorporate features such as density, mix of uses, transit accessibility), tend to exhibit similarly 
low VMT. Also, areas that are mapped as low VMT areas do not need to prepare any additional 
VMT analysis. Therefore, residential, office, industrial, or mixed-use projects that are consistent 
with the City’s General Plan and located within low VMT areas (using the City of Lemoore VMT 
Screening Tool2 and applying appropriate thresholds) can be presumed to have similar low VMT 
profiles and could be screened out from the need for further VMT analysis. It should be noted 
that if a project constitutes a General Plan Amendment or Zone Change, such projects will be 
evaluated on a case-by-case basis. Figures 3, 4, and 5 illustrate the VMT per capita, VMT per 
employee, and VMT per service population screening maps for the City. 

 The 2022 State CEQA Guidelines Section 15007 (c) states that “if a document meets the content 
requirements in effect when the document is sent out for public review, the document shall not 
need to be revised to conform to any new content requirements in Guideline amendments taking 
effect before the document is finally approved.” Therefore, if a development/land use plan/
transportation project is already cleared by a certified Environmental Impact Report (EIR) or an 
adopted Negative Declaration/Mitigated Negative Declaration, then subsequent projects that are 
consistent with the approved project will not require a new VMT analysis unless mandated by 
another section of the CEQA Guidelines. 

  

2  City of Lemoore VMT Screening Tool: https://gis1.lsa.net/lvmt/(Link Forthcoming) 

133



This page intentionally left blank 

134



Figure 3: VMT per Capita Screening Map for City of Lemoore 

 

135



This page intentionally left blank 

  

136



Figure 4: VMT per Employee Screening Map for City of Lemoore 

 

137



This page intentionally left blank 

  

138



Figure 5: VMT per Service Population Screening Map for City of Lemoore 

 

139



This page intentionally left blank 

 

140



3.1.1 Average Daily Trips (ADT) Threshold 

Under Section 15301(e)(2) of the CEQA Guidelines, existing facilities, including additions to existing 
structures of up to 10,000 sf are exempt from CEQA review if the project is located in an area where 
public infrastructure is available to allow for maximum planned development and the project is not 
located in an environmentally sensitive area. 

The City’s trip screening threshold is based on reduction of GHG emissions as further described below. 

The California Emissions Estimator Model (CalEEMod) is a tool provided by CARB and is accepted as 
the statewide standard to evaluate air quality and GHG emission impacts for CEQA assessment. As 
such, CalEEMod was used to characterize the effect of changes in project-related ADT to the resulting 
GHG emissions. To account for geographical relevance to project location, LSA calculated trip lengths 
from the KCAG TDM as applicable for the City. The trip lengths were calculated for various trip 
purposes for single-family residential developments as example. Table A shows the resulting annual 
VMT and GHG emissions produced by incremental ADT for single-family residential projects. 

Table A: Representative VMT and GHG Emissions from CalEEMod 
Average Daily 

Trips (ADT) 
Annual Vehicle Miles 

Traveled (VMT) 
Vehicular GHG Emissions 

(Metric Tons of CO2e per year) 
Total Project GHG Emissions 

(Metric Tons of CO2e per year) 
100 1,796,375 799 1,133 
200 3,592,751 1,597 2,266 
300 5,389,126 2,395 3,398 
400 7,185,502 3,194 4,531 
500 8,981,877 3,992 5,664 
750 13,472,815 5,989 8,496 

1,000 17,963,754 7,985 11,328 
1,500 26,945,631 11,977 16,991 

Source: CalEEMod version 2022.1.0. 
CalEEMod = California Emissions Estimator Model; GHG = Greenhouse Gas; CO2e = carbon dioxide equivalent 

GHG emissions threshold under CEQA can vary between 3,000 metric tons (MT) of carbon dioxide 
equivalent3 (CO2e) per year (as recommended by South Coast Air Quality Management District 
(SCAQMD)) and 1,100 MT CO2e (as recommended by Sacramento Metropolitan Air Quality 
Management District). For purposes of this analysis, the threshold of 3,000 MT CO2e has been utilized. 
As shown in Table A, a project with an ADT lower than 1,500 would generally be expected to have a 
total project emission of less than 3,000 MT CO2e/year. LSA conducted this exercise for several other 
land uses to identify appropriate GHG screening thresholds. Table B shows the potential maximum 
GHG screening thresholds (up to 3,000 MT) for these land uses. 

3  CO2e is a concept developed to provide one metric that includes the effects of numerous GHGs. The global warming 
potential (GWP) of each GHG characterizes the ability of each GHG to trap heat in the atmosphere relative to another 
GHG. The GWPs of all GHGs are combined to derive the CO2e. 

141



Table B: CO2e Emission Rates by Land Use Type 
Land Use DU or TSF Total MTCO2e per year Annual MTCO2e per DU or TSF 
Single Family Residential 270 DU 2,998 11.10 
Low-Rise Multifamily Residential 385 DU 2,997 7.78 
Mid-Rise Multifamily Residential 513 DU 2,997 5.84 
Office 337 TSF 2,993 8.88 
Warehouse 426 TSF 2,996 7.03 
Light Industrial 507 TSF 2,998 5.91 
Hotel 382 Rooms 2,971 7.78 
Medical Office 142 TSF 2,993 21.08 
Hospital 197 Beds 2,989 15.17 
Shopping Plaza 82 TSF 2,993 36.50 
Strip Retail Plaza 137 TSF 2,994 21.85 
Source: California Emissions Estimator Model (CalEEMod) version 2022.1.0.  
DU = Dwelling Units; TSF = Thousand Square Feet; CO2e = carbon dioxide equivalent 

The 3,000 MTCO2e per year threshold developed by the SCAQMD is based on a 90 percent emission 
“capture” rate methodology. The 90 percent emissions capture approach was one of the options 
suggested by the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) in their CEQA & 
Climate Change white paper from 2008. A 90 percent emission capture rate means that unmitigated 
GHG emissions from the top 90 percent of all GHG-producing projects within a geographic area – the 
Air Basin in this instance – would be subject to a detailed analysis of potential environmental impacts 
from GHG emissions, while the bottom 10 percent of all GHG-producing projects would be excluded 
from detailed analysis. A GHG significance threshold based on a 90 percent emission capture rate is 
appropriate to address the long-term adverse impacts associated with global climate change because 
medium and large projects will be required to implement measures to reduce GHG emissions, while 
small projects, which are generally infill development projects that are not the focus of the State’s 
GHG reduction targets, are allowed to proceed. Further, a 90 percent emission capture rate sets the 
emission threshold low enough to capture a substantial proportion of future development projects 
and demonstrate that cumulative emissions reductions are being achieved while setting the emission 
threshold high enough to exclude small projects that will, in aggregate, contribute approximately 1 
percent of projected statewide GHG emissions in the Year 2050. SCAQMD’s selection of the threshold 
at 3,000 MTCO2e per year was based on OPR’s database of projects containing 798 projects and 
information about their GHG emissions.  87 very large projects were eliminated from calculation 
because they would skew emissions values too high, leaving 711 as the sample population to use in 
determining the 90th percentile capture rate. The 711 projects analyzed by SCAQMD consisted of 
commercial, residential, and mixed-use projects and included warehouses and other light industrial 
land uses but did not include industrial processes (i.e., oil refineries, heavy manufacturing, electric 
generating stations, mining operations). 4  SCAQMD calculated emissions from each project to 
provide a consistent method of emissions calculations across the sample population and from projects 
within the sample population. In calculating the emissions, the SCAQMD determined that the 90th 
percentile ranged between 2,983 to 3,143 MTCO2e per year. The SCAQMD set the significance 

4  South Coast Air Quality Management District – Draft Guidance Document – Interim CEQA Greenhouse Gas (GHG) 
Significance Threshold, October 2008. 

142



threshold at 3,000 MTCO2e per year to exclude small projects that are considered less than significant 
and do not need to provide further analysis. Substantial evidence supporting this emission level is 
provided in the 2008 document, Draft Guidance Document – Interim CEQA Greenhouse Gas 
Significance Threshold and the documentation from subsequent working group meetings. 

The GHG analysis above concludes that projects with up to 1,500 ADT may be screened out from VMT 
analysis. As a conservative approach, the City of Lemoore VMT Thresholds and Implementation 
Guidelines document adopts a daily trip threshold of 1,000 ADT be applied to projects that are 
consistent with the City’s General Plan. However, for projects that are not consistent with the City’s 
General Plan, a screening threshold of 500 ADT will be applied. Historically, the City required traffic 
studies (LOS analysis) for projects that generate 50 or more peak hour trips. Since 1 peak hour trip 
equates to approximately 10 ADT, 50 peak hour trips would equate to approximately 500 ADT. It is 
prudent to take a conservative approach, and important to be consistent with previous 
methodologies and past precedence. Therefore, 500 ADT has been determined as the screening 
criteria for development projects that are not consistent with City’s General Plan and takes 
precedence from previous transportation analysis procedures within the City. A sample list of size of 
projects generating fewer than 1,000 and 500 daily vehicle trips that are eligible for exemption from 
a VMT analysis are included in Table C. 

Table C: VMT Screening Thresholds for Sample Land Uses 

Land Use Size of Projects  
(Requiring a GPA) 

Size of Projects  
(Not Requiring a GPA) 

Single-Family Residential1 53 DU 106 DU 

Low-Rise Multifamily Residential2 74 DU 148 DU 

Mid-Rise Multifamily Residential3 110 DU 220 DU 

Office 46.125 TSF 92.250 TSF 

Warehouse 292.397 TSF 584.795 TSF 

Light Industrial 102.669 TSF 205.338 TSF 

Hotel 62 Rooms 125 Rooms 

Medical Office4 13.888 TSF 27.777 TSF 

Hospital 22 Beds 44 Beds 

Notes: DU = Dwelling Units; TSF = Thousand Square Feet 
Project sizes have been determined based on trip generation rates obtained from the ITE Trip Generation Manual (11th Edition). 
1 The project sizes have been provided for single-family detached residential only. 
2 The project sizes have been provided for low-rise multifamily residential (not close to rail transit) only. 
3 The project sizes have been provided for mid-rise multifamily residential (not close to rail transit) only. 
4 The project sizes have been provided for stand-alone medical office buildings only. 

 

143



3.2 SCREENING BY PROJECT TYPE: TRANSPORTATION PROJECTS 
Transportation projects refer to capital improvement projects that relate to roadway widening, 
roadway infrastructure improvements, active transportation projects or operational improvements. 
The primary attribute to consider with transportation projects is the potential to increase vehicle 
travel demand, also referred to as ‘induced travel.’ While the City has discretion to continue to use a 
delay-based LOS analysis for CEQA disclosure of transportation projects, changes in vehicle travel 
must be quantified. To comply with SB 743, the City of Lemoore will use VMT analysis, and may also 
require a LOS analysis for design, traffic operations, and safety purposes to comply with the City’s 
General Plan Circulation Element. The State identifies the types of transportation improvement 
projects that would not likely to lead to a measurable and substantial increase in VMT and which 
therefore generally should not require an induced travel analysis per OPR’s Technical Advisory. These 
include the following: 

 Rehabilitation, maintenance, replacement, safety, and repair projects designed to improve the 
condition of existing transportation assets (e.g., highways; roadways; bridges; culverts; 
Transportation Management System field elements such as cameras, message signs, detection, 
or signals; tunnels; transit systems; and assets that serve bicycle and pedestrian facilities) and that 
do not add additional motor vehicle capacity. 

 Roadside safety devices or hardware installation such as median barriers and guardrails. 

 Roadway shoulder enhancements to provide “breakdown space,” dedicated space for use only by 
transit vehicles, to provide bicycle access, or to otherwise improve safety, but which will not be 
used as automobile vehicle travel lanes. 

 Addition of an auxiliary lane of less than one mile in length designed to improve roadway safety. 

 Installation, removal, or reconfiguration of traffic lanes that are not for through traffic, such as 
left, right, and U-turn pockets, two-way left turn lanes, emergency truck pullovers, or emergency 
breakdown lanes that are not utilized as through lanes. 

 Addition of roadway capacity on local or collector streets provided the project also substantially 
improves conditions for pedestrians, cyclists, and, if applicable, transit. 

 Addition of a new lane that is permanently restricted to use only by transit vehicles. 

 Reduction in number of through lanes. 

 Grade separation to separate vehicles from rail, transit, pedestrians or bicycles, or to replace a 
lane in order to separate preferential vehicles (e.g., HOV, HOT, or trucks) from general vehicles. 

 Installation, removal, or reconfiguration of traffic control devices, including Transit Signal Priority 
(TSP) features. 

 Installation of traffic metering systems, detection systems, cameras, changeable message signs 
and other electronics designed to optimize vehicle, bicycle, or pedestrian flow. 

 Timing of signals to optimize vehicle, bicycle, or pedestrian flow. 

 Installation of roundabouts or traffic circles. 

 Installation or reconfiguration of traffic calming devices. 

144



 Initiation of new transit service. 

 Conversion of streets from one-way to two-way operation with no net increase in number of 
general purpose or continuous through traffic lanes. 

 Removal or relocation of off-street or on-street parking spaces. 

 Adoption or modification of on-street parking or loading restrictions (including meters, time 
limits, accessible spaces, and preferential/reserved parking permit programs). 

 Addition of traffic wayfinding signage. 

 Rehabilitation and maintenance projects that do not add motor vehicle capacity. 

 Addition of new or enhanced bike or pedestrian facilities on existing streets/highways or within 
existing public rights-of -way. 

 Addition of Class I bike paths, trails, multi-use paths, or other off-road facilities that serve non-
motorized travel. 

 Installation of publicly available alternative fuel/charging infrastructure. 

 Local and collector roads in rural areas that don’t include sidewalks where there would be no 
pedestrian traffic to use them. 

 Park and Ride facilities. 

 Truck size and weight inspection stations. 

 

While the above list is thorough, it is not necessarily comprehensive. There may be types of projects 
in addition to those listed that would not lead to a measurable and substantial increase in VMT. When 
concluding that a particular project may be screened out from further analysis, the practitioner should 
review and fully document the rationale supporting the conclusion that the respective project would 
not likely lead to a measurable and substantial increase in VMT.

145



4.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS 

4.1 THRESHOLDS 
The TA states that SB 743 and all CEQA VMT transportation analyses refer to automobiles. Here, the 
term automobile refers to on-road passenger vehicles, specifically cars and light duty trucks (page. 4). 
Heavy-duty trucks can be addressed in other CEQA sections (air quality, greenhouse gas, noise, and 
health risk assessment analysis) and are subject to regulation in a separate collection of rules under 
CARB jurisdiction. This approach was amplified by Chris Ganson, Senior Advisor for Transportation at 
OPR, in a presentation to the Fresno Council of Governments (October 23, 2019) and by Ellen 
Greenberg, the California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) Deputy Director for Sustainability, 
at the San Joaquin Valley Regional Planning Agencies’ Directors’ Committee meeting (January 9, 
2020). 

Trips in a travel demand model are categorized by trip purpose. Each trip has a starting and ending 
location. If either end of the trip (starting or ending locations) is the trip producer’s home, the trip is 
identified as a home-based trip. The OPR has identified the subject of the thresholds as the primary 
trips in the home-based typology: specifically, home-based work trips. This includes residential uses, 
office uses, and retail uses. The home-based work trip type is the primary trip type during the peak 
hours of commuter traffic in the morning and evening periods. 

The impact of transportation has shifted from congestion to climate change, and the purpose of the 
CEQA analysis is to disclose and ultimately reduce GHG emissions by reducing the number and length 
of automobile trips. As part of the SB 375 land use/transportation integration process and the GHG 
goal setting, the State and Regional Transportation Planning Agencies (RTPA) have agreed to reduce 
GHG through integrated land use and transportation planning by a statewide average of 
approximately 15 percent by 2035. Figure 6 illustrates the SB 375 regional GHG emission reduction 
targets for all 18 Metropolitan Planning Organizations (MPOs) in California that were established by 
the CARB in 2018. Furthermore, in its 2017 Scoping Plan-Identified VMT Reductions and Relationship 
to State Climate Goals, the CARB recommends total VMT per capita rates approximately 15 percent 
below existing conditions. 

The TA therefore recommends:  

 A proposed (residential) project exceeding a level of 15 percent below existing regional average 
VMT per capita may indicate a significant transportation impact. 

 A similar threshold would apply to office projects (15 percent below existing regional average VMT 
per employee). 

 VMT generated by retail projects would indicate a significant impact for any net increase in total 
VMT. 

146



Source: https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/sustainable-communities-program/regional-plan-targets

Figure 6: SB 375 Regional Plan Climate Targets for the 18 California MPOs

CARB establishes GHG targets for each of the 18 MPOs in the State, reviews the SCSs, and makes a 
determination of whether the SCSs would achieve GHG reduction targets if implemented. In the spring 
of 2018, CARB adopted new GHG targets for all the 18 MPOs in the State based on the 2017 Scoping 
Plan and other new data as illustrated in Figure 6. CARB established a 13 percent GHG reduction target 
for 2035 for Kings County. The State recognizes that Kings County’s contribution to the aggregate 15 
percent statewide GHG emission reduction is 13 percent. Other regions may achieve lower reductions 
to achieve the aggregate statewide goal.1 As such, reduction in GHG directly corresponds to reduction 
in VMT (VMT is the biggest contributor of GHG emissions as shown in Figure 1). To reach the statewide 
GHG reduction goal of 15 percent, the region (KCAG) must reduce GHG by 13 percent. The method of 
reducing GHG by 13 percent is to reduce VMT by 13 percent as well.

Therefore, the City has established a threshold for land use developments, specifically residential and 
office, of 87 percent of the existing regional average as indicative of a significant transportation 
impact. For retail projects, increase in total regional roadway VMT with the implementation of the 
project would indicate a significant transportation impact. In general, addition of new retail rediverts 
majority of trips from existing retail locations located further away. Given the potential redistribution 
of majority of trips rather than addition of trips, a comparison of total regional roadway VMT is 
appropriate to determine whether the retail project would benefit in overall reduction of regional 
VMT. Therefore, a net reduction in total VMT would be the appropriate metric to determine VMT 

1  The latest GHG targets by region can be found at https://ww2.arb.ca.gov/our-work/programs/
sustainable-communities-program/regional-plan-targets. 

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%
GH

G 
Em

iss
io

n 
Re

du
ct

io
n 

Ta
rg

et

2020 2035

147



impacts for such projects. Total roadway VMT needs to be calculated using the final roadway 
assignment outputs from the KCAG TDM. 

Other distinct land uses are not identified for threshold development in the OPR TA. For other non-
residential projects, a significance threshold of 87 percent of existing regional average VMT per 
employee has been established. The only exceptions would be hotels, hospitals, medical offices, and 
related projects. These land uses are service oriented facilities which includes both visitors and 
employees. Therefore, for such projects, VMT per service population (population/users + 
employment) has been established as the VMT metric. Any other similar use could be evaluated using 
the same metric subject to approval of the methodology by the City on a case-by-case basis. As such, 
a significance threshold of 87 percent of the existing regional average VMT per service population will 
be applied for these projects. 

Evaluation of mixed-use projects shall be for each land use component of the project using the most 
appropriate VMT metric. Credit for internal trip capture shall be made. Internal trip capture may be 
calculated using the latest edition of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation 
Manual, the KCAG TDM, or other applicable sources approved by the City. The appropriate 
methodology for calculating a project’s internal capture would be determined in consultation with 
the City’s Traffic Engineer. The significance threshold for these projects would be the respective VMT 
thresholds for its different land use components. 

4.2 IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
Figure 7 illustrates the VMT screening methodology for development entitlement projects. 
Additionally, Figures 8-A through 8-C illustrate the VMT analysis methodology for non-screened 
projects. Every development application is unique and may create alternative or modified steps 
through the process described in the aforementioned figures. Each step that diverges from this 
standard process shall be accompanied with substantial evidence demonstrating compliance with 
other climate change and GHG emission reduction laws and regulations. 

4.2.1 Agency Communication 

As part of the site plan review process, the applicant shall provide a detailed project description, 
including area/number of units and potential number of residents/employees added or created by 
the project, and the applicable VMT analysis methodology. Key elements include a description of the 
project in sufficient detail to generate trips and the potential catchment area (i.e., trip lengths if no 
modeling is undertaken), estimated project VMT, project design features that may reduce the VMT 
from the project development, and the project location and associated existing regional VMT 
percentages. Further, the applicant or their consultant shall prepare a transportation analysis scope 
of work for review and approval by the City. 

148



 

Figure 7: VMT Screening Methodology for Development Projects 

149



 

 

Figure 8-A: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Residential Projects 

150



 
Figure 8-B: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Non-Retail) Projects 

151



 
Figure 8-C: VMT Analysis Methodology for Non-Screened Non-Residential (Retail) Projects 

152



Projects that will influence Caltrans facilities may be subject to the Caltrans Local Development-
Intergovernmental Review program. As part of the program, Caltrans may review the VMT analysis 
methodology, findings, and mitigation measures to ensure consistency with statewide standards. 

4.2.2 Project Screening 

Once a development application is filed and determined to be complete for processing purposes, 
project screening may commence. If the project meets any one of the screening criteria, it may be 
presumed to have a less than significant transportation impact. No further VMT analysis would then 
be necessary, and a Notice of Exemption may be filed. The CEQA document shall enumerate the 
screening criteria and how the project meets or exceeds that applicable VMT threshold.  

If project screening does not apply, a VMT analysis will be required. The extent of this analysis may 
be a simple algebraic demonstration or a more sophisticated traffic modeling exercise. This distinction 
is addressed later in this report. 

4.2.3 VMT Identification 

The project land use type will determine the appropriate metric to use (i.e., VMT per capita, VMT per 
employee, VMT per service population, or total VMT). Appropriate VMT metrics for different land 
uses are stated in Table D. 

Table D: VMT Metrics for Land Use Projects 
Land Use VMT Metric 
Residential VMT per Capita 
Office VMT per Employee 
Retail Total VMT 
Hotel, Hospital, Medical Office Building, or any similar 
use with approval from the City VMT per Service Population 

Mixed-Use, Land Use Plan (General Plan/Specific Plan) Respective VMT metrics for its different 
land use components 

Other Land Uses VMT per Employee 
VMT = Vehicle Miles Traveled 

 
For all projects that require a VMT analysis, use of the KCAG TDM is required unless the project 
includes a special land use that is difficult to analyze using a travel demand model. For the latter, the 
City may require a qualitative analysis or an analysis using empirical data as applicable to the project. 

Next, the project generated VMT (per capita, per employee, per service population, or total) is 
compared to the appropriate significance threshold provided in Table E. If the project VMT metric is 
less than the significance threshold, the project is presumed to create a less than significant impact. 
No further VMT analysis for CEQA purposes would be required.  

153



Table E: Significance Thresholds for VMT Analysis 
VMT Metric Threshold Regional Average 
VMT per Capita 8.99 10.33 
VMT per Employee 16.95 19.48 
VMT per Service Population 21.84 25.10 
Source: KCAG TDM (2015 Scenario) 
VMT = Vehicle Miles Traveled 

 

 
Should project VMT metrics exceed the significance threshold, mitigation measures will be required. 
It should be noted that the thresholds identified in Table E are based on the current version of the 
KCAG TDM (provided by KCAG in October 2021). These thresholds are subject to change when a 
newer version of the KCAG TDM is available. 

4.3 MITIGATION MEASURES 
State law requires the project applicant to identify feasible offsets to mitigate significant VMT impacts 
generated by the proposed project. These can come from the mitigation strategies provided in this 
document (as described in Table F at the end of Chapter 7.0) or selected by the applicant based on 
their CEQA project experience and expertise. A proposed mitigation measure must be supported by 
substantial evidence illustrating that the measure will mitigate VMT impacts to less than significant. 
The City must approve and accept the final VMT mitigation program ascribed to the project and the 
related VMT percentage reduction. A detailed discussion about project-specific mitigations is included 
in Section 7.2. 

If it is determined that the selected VMT mitigation measures effectively reduce the project impact 
to less than the applicable threshold, the project is presumed to have an impact mitigated to a less 
than significant level for purposes of CEQA. No further VMT analysis is required in such case. If the 
project’s VMT impact cannot be mitigated to less than significant, the City may (1) request the project 
be redesigned to reduce the VMT impact, or (2) require the preparation of an EIR with a Statement of 
Overriding Considerations (SOC) for the transportation impacts associated with the project. All 
feasible mitigation measures must be assigned to and carried out by the project even if an EIR and 
SOC are prepared. 

154



This page intentionally left blank 

  

155



5.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR TRANSPORTATION PROJECTS 

A VMT assessment of a transportation project should disclose the VMT profile without the project 
and the difference in the VMT profile with the project. Any increase in VMT attributable to the 
proposed transportation project would result in a significant impact. A significant transportation 
project impact is presumed when VMT increases with the project as compared to the ‘No Project’ 
scenario. 

Capacity improvement projects have the potential of producing significant transportation impacts 
because they tend to induce new travel. The State describes induced travel as the additional motor 
vehicle travel that is generated by the newly available capacity on the roadway. Induced travel may 
include route switching, time-of-day change, mode shift to single occupancy vehicle, longer trips, new 
trips to existing destinations, and additional travel due to new development. Current traffic models 
have limited abilities to forecast new trips and new developments associated with roadway capacity 
improvements, as land use or socioeconomic databases are fixed to a specific horizon date. OPR refers 
to a limited number of published studies that seek to define travel demand elasticities. 

The most recent major study (Duranton & Turner 2011, p. 24) estimates an elasticity of 1.0, meaning 
that every one percent change in lane miles results in a one percent increase in VMT. 

One method to quantify induced growth is recommended by the State: 

To estimate VMT impacts from roadway expansion projects: 

1. Determine the total lane-miles over an area that fully captures travel behavior changes 
resulting from the project (generally the region, but for projects affecting interregional 
travel look at all affected regions). 

2. Determine the percent change in total lane miles that will result from the project. 

3. Determine the total existing VMT over that same area. 

4. Multiply the percentage increase in lane miles by the existing VMT, and then multiply 
that by the elasticity from the induced travel literature: 

[% increase in lane miles] × [existing VMT] × [elasticity] = [VMT resulting from the project] 

OPR assigns this induced growth to project-induced changes in land use; that is, new land uses that 
are not included in any approved general or area plan and not accounted for in any traffic-forecasting 
tool. 
 
Figure 9 provides a representative illustration of induced VMT attributable to a project. 

156



 
Source: Presentation: Caltrans Transportation Analysis under CEQA or TAC: Significance Determinations for 
Induced Travel Analysis (SHCC Pre-Release Session 2 Jeremy Ketchum, Division of Environmental Analysis, 
Caltrans; March 2, 2020) 

Figure 9: Induced Travel – VMT Attributable to Project 

Caltrans has identified a computerized tool to estimate VMT generation from transportation projects. 
The tool (https://travelcalculator.ncst.ucdavis.edu) was developed by the University of California, 
Davis and is based on travel demand elasticities and the relationship of lane mile additions with 
growth in VMT. It uses Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) definitions of facility type and ascribes 
VMT increases to each facility. Output data includes increases in million miles of VMT per year. 
Caltrans is investigating the use of this tool for all of its VMT analyses of capital projects on the State 
Highway System. Figure 10 provides an illustration of the tool. 

Because of limitations in applying the NCST calculator to roadways within the City, the City 
recommends using the KCAG model to determine VMT impacts associated with transportation 
projects in case the project is not eligible to be screened out from a VMT analysis. The screening 
criteria for transportation projects is included under Section 3.2 of this report. 

 

157



     Source: https://blinktag.com/induced-travel-calculator/index.html

Figure 10: Caltrans Induced Travel Calculator

158



This page intentionally left blank 

159



6.0 VMT THRESHOLD ANALYSIS FOR LAND USE PLANS 

The TA provides guidance on the treatment of CEQA traffic analyses for land use plans (General Plan, 
Specific Plan) as follows: 

 Analyze the VMT outcomes over the full area over which the plan may substantively affect travel 
patterns (the definition of region). 

 VMT shall be counted in full rather than split between origins and destinations (the full impact of 
the project VMT). 

Specifically, OPR states, “A general plan, area plan, or community plan may have a significant impact 
on transportation if proposed new residential, office or retail land uses would in aggregate exceed the 
respective thresholds recommended above.” (OPR TA page 18) This recommendation refers to a 
threshold of 15 percent lower than the existing regional average for residential and office uses and 
no net gain for retail land uses. 

To assess a land use plan, use of a traffic-forecasting tool shall be applied. The total VMT for the plan 
shall be identified for all trips and all potential VMT contributors within the plan area. Model runs 
shall be conducted for the existing base year and the horizon year (the future year scenario analyzed 
in the Circulation Element of the City’s General Plan) with project (plan).  

SB 375 establishes ambitious and achievable GHG reduction targets for the 18 Metropolitan Planning 
Organizations (MPOs) in the State. Achievement of these targets is to be accomplished through the 
improved integration of regional land use and transportation planning processes; not solely through 
the imposition of new regulation on passenger cars and light-duty trucks.  

CARB reviews the SCS that is produced as part of the RTP produced by each of the State’s MPOs. The 
SCS details the strategies and programs the regional agencies are planning to implement to achieve 
its designated GHG emission reduction targets. CARB approved the new GHG reduction targets for all 
18 MPOs in the State in the spring of 2018. The 2018 targets are applicable to the third SCSs for the 
MPOs. 

Other legislative mandates and State policies are also supportive of GHG reduction targets. A sample 
of these include: 

 Assembly Bill 32 (2006) requires statewide GHG emissions reductions to 1990 levels by 2020 and 
continued reductions beyond 2020. 

 SB 32 (2016) requires at least a 40 percent reduction in GHG emissions from 1990 levels by 2030. 

 Executive Order (EO) B-30-15 (2015) sets a GHG emissions reduction target of 40 percent below 
1990 levels by 2030. 

 EO S-3-05 (2005) sets a GHG emissions reduction target of 80 percent below 1990 levels by 2050. 

 EO B-16-12 (2012) specifies a GHG emissions reduction target of 80 percent below 1990 levels by 
2050 specifically for transportation. 

160



These mandates suggest that a land use plan consistent with the regional RTP/SCS would generally 
help achieve the target GHG reductions for the region.  

California PRC Section 15064.3(b)(4) states (in part) the following: 

A lead agency has discretion to choose the most appropriate methodology to evaluate a 
project’s vehicle miles traveled, including whether to express the change in absolute terms, 
per capita, per household, or in any other measure. 

Since VMT is the largest contributor to GHG emissions, a land use plan consistent with regional RTP/
SCS GHG reductions target does not constitute a significant VMT impact. Therefore, the methodology 
for conducting VMT assessments for land use plans shall be the comparison of existing VMT per capita, 
VMT per employee, and/or VMT per service population for the region with the respective expected 
horizon year VMT metrics for the different land use components (VMT per capita, VMT per employee, 
and/or VMT per service population) of the land use plan (project). If there is a net increase in the VMT 
metric under horizon year conditions, then the project will have a significant impact.  

161



7.0  MITIGATION STRATEGIES 

When a lead agency identifies a potentially significant CEQA VMT impact according to the thresholds 
described in this report, the agency must identify feasible mitigation measures to avoid or 
substantially reduce that impact. Unlike LOS impacts, which may be mitigated with location-specific 
motor vehicle delay improvements, VMT impacts typically require a more regional approach to 
mitigation, including the provision of incentives to effect changes in travel behavior. Enforcement of 
mitigation measures will still be subject to the mitigation monitoring requirements of CEQA, as well 
as the regular police powers of the agency. VMT mitigation measures may also be incorporated into 
the design of plans, policies, regulations, or projects. 

7.1 DEFINITION OF MITIGATION 
Section 15370 of the 2022 State CEQA Guidelines defines mitigations as follows: 

“Mitigation” includes: 

a. Avoiding the impact altogether by not taking a certain action or parts of an action. 

b. Minimizing impacts by limiting the degree or magnitude of the action and its 
implementation. 

c. Rectifying the impact by repairing, rehabilitating, or restoring the impacted environment. 

d. Reducing or eliminating the impact over time by preservation and maintenance 
operations during the life of the action. 

e. Compensating for the impact by replacing or providing substitute resources or 
environments, including through permanent protection of such resources in the form of 
conservation easements. 

Section 15097 of the CEQA Guidelines states that, “the public agency shall adopt a program for 
monitoring or reporting on the revisions which it has required in the project and the measures it has 
imposed to mitigate or avoid significant environmental effects. A public agency may delegate 
reporting or monitoring responsibilities to another public agency or to a private entity which accepts 
the delegation; however, until mitigation measures have been completed the lead agency remains 
responsible for ensuring that implementation of the mitigation measures occurs in accordance with 
the program.” 

VMT mitigations may not necessarily be physical improvements. Such improvements are complex in 
nature and will significantly depend on changes in traveler behavior. Therefore, it will be important 
that lead agencies develop an appropriate monitoring program to ensure the implementation of these 
mitigation measures throughout the life of a project, in compliance with CEQA. The City must also 
coordinate with other responsible agencies as part of the mitigation monitoring program to evaluate 
the ongoing feasibility and durability of the mitigations. 

Historically, mitigation measures for LOS-based transportation impacts have addressed either trip 
generation reductions or traffic-flow-capacity enhancements. LOS mitigation measures typically 

162



include physical infrastructure improvements adding capacity to intersections, roadways, ramps, and 
freeways. However, transportation demand management activities, active transportation amenities, 
and other measures designed to reduce the number of new single-occupancy vehicle trips are also 
potential LOS mitigation strategies. 

VMT mitigation measures are significantly different. Most VMT mitigations may seem feasible from a 
theoretical perspective, but practical implementation of these strategies as formal CEQA mitigation 
measures in perpetuity is yet to be tested. Several of these mitigations are contextual and behavioral 
in nature. Their success will depend on the size and location of the project as well as expected changes 
in travel behavior. For example, a project providing a bike share program does not necessarily 
guarantee a travel mode change among the project’s affected population; the level of improvement 
may be uncertain and subject to the travel preferences and attitudes of the population affected. 

LOS mitigations (such as addition of turn lanes) focus more on rectifying a physical CEQA impact 
(strategy “c” of State CEQA Guidelines Section 15370). On the contrary, the majority of VMT 
mitigations (such as commute trip-reduction programs) aim at reducing or eliminating an impact over 
time through preservation and monitoring over the life of the project (strategy “d” of State CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15370). Additionally, some VMT mitigations (such as those focused on land use/
location-based policies) aim at minimizing impacts by reducing the number of trips generated by the 
projects (strategy “b” of State CEQA Guidelines Section 15370). 

Furthermore, it may be determined that some VMT impacts are not able to be feasibly mitigated at 
the project level. Most VMT impacts occur within the context of a regional scale of analysis. The 
incremental change in VMT associated with a project in its particular locational setting might indicate 
a greater VMT increase than individual mitigation strategies can offset. Only a regional solution (e.g., 
completion of a transit system, purchase of more transit buses, or gap closure of a bicycle lane 
network) may offer the incremental change necessary to reduce the VMT impact to an appropriate 
level of significance. Also, VMT, as a proxy for GHG emissions, may not require locational specificity. 
A project does not necessarily need to reduce the VMT at the project site to provide regional or 
statewide VMT and GHG reduction benefits. Offsets in an area where the benefit would be greater 
will have a more effective reduction in VMT and GHG and contribute to achievement of regional and 
statewide climate goals. This regional perspective provides the basis for cap-and-trade style VMT 
mitigation strategies. 

The issues of regional scale, appropriate and timely fair share contributions from projects and/or local 
jurisdictions (partial versus comprehensive participation), and geographic ambiguity confound the 
certainty of the City’s identification of an effective VMT mitigation strategy. Section 15126.4 of the 
State CEQA Guidelines states, “Where several measures are available to mitigate an impact, each 
should be discussed and the basis for selecting a particular measure should be identified. Formulation 
of mitigation measures shall not be deferred until some future time.” [Emphasis added.] Regional 
VMT mitigation is considered the most effective method for large-scale VMT reduction, as cost and 
implementation barriers are often greater than one project may feasibly accommodate. However, 
regionally scaled VMT mitigation strategies may be provided in the form of mitigation banks, fees, 
and/or exchanges, with individual projects subject to contribute to these programs consistent with 
applicable provisions to ensure compliance and consistency with CEQA and other legal requirements. 

163



Section 21099 (b) (4) of the PRC states, “This subdivision [requiring a new transportation metric under 
CEQA] does not preclude the application of local general plan policies, zoning codes, conditions of 
approval, thresholds, or any other planning requirements pursuant to the police power or any other 
authority.” Hence, although automobile delay will no longer be considered a significant impact under 
CEQA, the City can still require projects to meet the LOS standards designated in its zoning code or 
general plan. Therefore, this report is not intended to supersede LOS assessment in the City’s 
evaluation of projects, and a project may still be required to propose LOS improvements for 
congestion relief in addition to the implementation of any VMT mitigation strategies as required by 
CEQA. 

7.2 MITIGATION MEASURES AND PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
Mitigations and project alternatives for VMT impacts have been suggested by the OPR. VMT 
mitigations can be extremely diverse and can be classified under several categories such as land use/
location, road pricing, transit improvements, commute trip reduction strategies, and parking pricing/
policy. However, the issue with VMT mitigations is the quantitative measurement of the relief 
provided by the strategies. How much VMT reduction does a transportation demand management 
program, a bike share program, a transit route, or one mile of sidewalk provide? Improvements 
related to VMT reduction strategies have been quantified in sources such as the California Air 
Pollution Control Officers Association (CAPCOA) report Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas 
Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health and Equity (CAPCOA 
Manual) Final Draft, December 2021, and by various resources provided by CARB. This information is 
generally presented with a wide range of potential VMT reduction percentages. This report does not, 
however, confirm the existence of substantial evidence supporting the application of any such 
mitigation measures to projects within the City. If a CAPCOA mitigation measure will be considered 
for a project, it must be determined, through substantial evidence, that the mitigation measure will 
result in VMT reduction in the manner suggested. For example, if a mitigation measure’s VMT 
reduction will be calculated by use of a mathematical formula, the formula, including each of its 
components, must be analyzed to confirm that they reflect the conditions existing in the City, and the 
analysis must be supported by substantial evidence. In other words, a mitigation measure, which is 
reliant upon a formula developed utilizing data from and conditions in a locale that is dissimilar to the 
City, may be inapplicable to a project within the City. Similarly, any mitigation measure suggested by 
CAPCOA that depends on cited reports or studies must be assessed to determine whether substantial 
evidence confirms that such reports and studies apply to the conditions under which a proposed 
project will be developed within the City. Mitigation measures will not be utilized merely because they 
are suggested by CAPCOA or another organization. 

Table F provides a summary of various potential VMT mitigation measures and project alternatives 
presented in the CAPCOA Manual (only those strategies directly attributed to transportation) for 
development projects. For any VMT mitigation measure, the project applicant will be required to 
provide substantial evidence while identifying a project-specific value.  

Additionally, the mitigation measures listed under Table F were compared with the City’s General Plan 
goals and policies. Mitigation measures that would be consistent with the City’s General Plan goals 
and policies have been noted in the table.  

164



As for land use plans, the OPR TA does not specifically identify any VMT mitigations. The potential 
VMT mitigation measures for community/general plans are similar to those available for development 
projects, with certain modifications. Therefore, the mitigation measures provided in Table F can be 
used as appropriate. Additional measures may also be applied with substantial evidence. 

It must be noted that Table F provides only summaries of the VMT mitigations provided in the sources 
indicated above. The reader shall refer to the original source for further details and for subsequent 
updates to the mitigation measures. Also, Table F does not provide an exhaustive list of VMT 
mitigation measures for offsetting CEQA transportation impacts. Other measures can also be 
accepted by the City based on the provision of substantial evidence. 

As additional mitigation measures are evaluated to offset VMT impacts in the future for the State 
CEQA Guidelines process, linkages between a specific strategy and its quantified incremental VMT 
reduction effect must be established. This process may be based on the observations and 
measurements provided by other sources or by the City’s experience in these practices. The key to 
effective VMT mitigation is to base its efficacy on real and substantial evidence. 

7.3 FUNDING MECHANISMS 
The change in methodology used for the assessment of CEQA transportation impacts from LOS to 
VMT will lead to a shift in and the scale of mitigation efforts from local and project-specific, to a more 
regional approach. OPR acknowledges the regional nature of VMT impacts and states that regional 
VMT reduction programs and fee programs (in-lieu fees and development impact fees) may be 
appropriate forms of mitigation. Fee programs are particularly useful to address cumulative impacts. 
It is very important for the City to coordinate with KCAG to develop such mitigation programs that 
may be used to fund new transit service or develop applicable active transportation plans or other 
regionally scaled VMT mitigation activities. These programs are regional in nature and best suited for 
administration by a regional agency. Projects may be able to pay into the fee program to offset project 
VMT impact. Regional agencies may also wish to coordinate with appropriate stakeholders, including 
participating local jurisdictions, developers, and other interests while conducting nexus studies and 
checking for rough proportionality and compliance with CEQA. 

Most of the VMT mitigations included in Table F are applicable in urban areas. They are less effective in 
suburban and rural contexts, where traditional transportation demand management strategies are less 
feasible. Thus, site-specific strategies are more suitable in more densely urbanized areas, whereas 
program-level strategies may be more appropriate for some projects located in suburban or rural areas. 
In the latter approach, the cumulative VMT mitigation contributions provided in support of individual 
developments may be used to fund regional VMT reduction strategies that would not be feasible or 
cost-effective at the individual project scale. Apart from fee programs, program-based mitigation 
strategies may include VMT mitigation exchanges and/or VMT mitigation banks. The VMT mitigation 
exchange concept requires a developer to select and implement mitigation project(s) from a 
predetermined list of projects that would serve to reduce the excess new VMT generated by the 
proposed project. On the other hand, a mitigation banking program would assign monetary values for 
VMT reductions that would allow developers to purchase the applicable number of VMT reduction 
credits. These credits would be used to fund larger, regionally scaled VMT mitigation projects 
throughout the affected region. 

165



As previously discussed, VMT impacts are regional in scope. Hence, there may at times be mitigation 
requirements that extend beyond the control of the City, and without the ability of the City to manage 
these mitigations, the impacts might remain significant and unaddressed. Additionally, the 
identification and management of regionally scaled improvements where developers contribute their 
fair share to mitigate impacts might prove to be difficult. Therefore, the City may choose to work 
collaboratively with other jurisdictions within the region to ultimately establish VMT mitigation fee 
programs, mitigation banks, or exchanges to establish a regional mitigation pathway where 
developers contribute to a regionally administered VMT mitigation funding pool in a manner 
commensurate to the impact of their individual project. Procedural flow charts for VMT mitigation 
banks, exchanges, and impact fees are illustrated in Figures 11, 12, and 13, respectively. 

166



 
Figure 11: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Bank 

Source: VMT Mitigation Through Banks and Exchanges: Understanding New Mitigation 
Approaches. A White Paper by Fehr & Peers (January 2020). 

167



 
Figure 12: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Exchange 

Source: VMT Mitigation Through Banks and Exchanges: Understanding New Mitigation 
Approaches. A White Paper by Fehr & Peers (January 2020). 

168



 
Figure 13: Procedural Flow Chart – VMT Impact Fee 

Source: Understanding New Mitigation Approaches. A White Paper by 
Fehr & Peers (January 2020). 

169



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

1 T 1 Increase Residential Density

This measure accounts for the vehicle miles traveled (VMT) reduction achieved by a project
that is designed with a higher density of dwelling units (DU) compared to the average
residential density in the U.S. Increased densities affect the distance people travel and provide
greater options for the mode of travel they choose. Increasing residential density results in
shorter and fewer trips by single occupancy vehicles and thus a reduction in GHG emissions.
This measure is best quantified when applied to larger developments and developments where
the density is somewhat similar to the surrounding area due to the underlying research being
founded in data from the neighborhood level.

Urban, Suburban Project/Site This measure is most accurately quantified when applied to larger developments and/or
developments where the density is somewhat similar to the surrounding neighborhood.

When paired with Measure T 2, Increase Job Density, the
cumulative densification from these measures can result in a
highly walkable and bikeable area, yielding increased co
benefits in VMT reductions, improved public health, and
social equity.

Refer to California Air Pollution Control
Officers Association (CAPCOA) report
Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas
Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate
Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health
and Equity (CAPCOA Manual), Final
Draft, December 2021, page 71.

Up to 30.0 percent project VMT in
the study area

2 T 2 Increase Job Density

This measure accounts for the VMT reduction achieved by a project that is designed with a
higher density of jobs compared to the average job density in the U.S. Increased densities
affect the distance people travel and provide greater options for the mode of travel they
choose. Increasing job density results in shorter and fewer trips by single occupancy vehicles
and thus a reduction in GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site This measure is most accurately quantified when applied to larger developments and/or
developments where the density is somewhat similar to the surrounding neighborhood.

When paired with Measure T 1, Increase Residential Density,
the cumulative densification from these measures can result
in a highly walkable and bikeable area, yielding increased co
benefits in VMT reductions, improved public health, and
social equity.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 74. Up to 30.0 percent project VMT in
the study area

3 T 3 Provide Transit Oriented
Development

This measure would reduce project VMT in the study area relative to the same project sited in
a non transit oriented development (TOD) location. TOD refers to projects built in compact,
walkable areas that have easy access to public transit, ideally in a location with a mix of uses,
including housing, retail offices, and community facilities. Project site residents, employees,
and visitors would have easy access to high quality public transit, thereby encouraging transit
ridership and reducing the number of single occupancy vehicle trips and associated GHG
emissions.

Urban, suburban. Rural only if
adjacent to commuter rail station
with convenient rail service to a
major employment center.

Project/Site

To qualify as a TOD, the development must be a residential or office project that is
within a 10 minute walk (0.5 mile) of a high frequency transit station (either rail, or bus
rapid transit with headways less than 15 minutes). Ideally, the distance should be no
more than 0.25 to 0.3 of a mile but could be up to 0.5 mile if the walking route to
station can be accessed by pedestrian friendly routes. Users should confirm
“unmitigated” or “baseline” VMT does not already account for reductions from transit
proximity.

When building TOD, a best practice is to incorporate bike
and pedestrian access into the larger network to increase the
likelihood of transit use.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 77. Up to 31.0 percent project VMT in
the study area

4 T 4 Integrate Affordable and Below
Market Rate Housing

This measure requires below market rate (BMR) housing. BMR housing provides greater
opportunity for lower income families to live closer to job centers and achieve a jobs/housing
match near transit. It is also an important strategy to address the limited availability of
affordable housing that might force residents to live far away from jobs or school, requiring
longer commutes. The quantification method for this measure accounts for VMT reductions
achieved for multifamily residential projects that are deed restricted or otherwise permanently
dedicated as affordable housing.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

Multifamily residential units must be permanently dedicated as affordable for lower
income families. The California Department of Housing and Community Development
(2021) defines lower income as 80 percent of area median income or below, and
affordable housing as costing 30 percent of gross household income or less.

Pair with Measure T 1, Increase Residential Density, and
Measure T 2, Increase Job Density, to achieve greater
population and employment diversity.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 81. Up to 28.6 percent project/site
multifamily residential VMT

5 T 5 Implement Commute Trip
Reduction Program (Voluntary)

This measure will implement a voluntary commute trip reduction (CTR) program with
employers. CTR programs discourage single occupancy vehicle trips and encourage alternative
modes of transportation such as carpooling, taking transit, walking, and biking, thereby
reducing VMT and GHG emissions. Voluntary implementation elements are described in this
measure.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

Voluntary CTR programs must include the following elements to apply the VMT
reductions reported in literature.
Employer provided services, infrastructure, and incentives for alternative modes such

as ridesharing (Measure T 8), discounted transit (Measure T 9), bicycling (Measure T
10), vanpool (Measure T 11), and guaranteed ride home.
Information, coordination, and marketing for said services, infrastructure, and

incentives (Measure T 7).

Other strategies may also be included as part of a voluntary
CTR program, though they are not included in the VMT
reductions reported by literature and thus are not
incorporated in the VMT reductions for this measure. This
program typically serves as a complement to the more
effective workplace CTR measures such as pricing workplace
parking (Measure T 12) or implementing employee parking
“cash out” (Measure T 13).

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 84. Up to 4.0 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

6 T 6
Implement Commute Trip
Reduction Program (Mandatory
Implementation and Monitoring)

This measure will implement a mandatory CTR program with employers. CTR programs
discourage single occupancy vehicle trips and encourage alternative modes of transportation
such as carpooling, taking transit, walking, and biking, thereby reducing VMT and GHG
emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

The mandatory CTR program must include all other elements (i.e., Measures T 7
through T 11) described for the voluntary program (Measure T 5) plus include
mandatory trip reduction requirements (including penalties for non compliance) and
regular monitoring and reporting to ensure the calculated VMT reduction matches the
observed VMT reduction.

This program typically serves as a complement to the more
effective workplace CTR measures, such as pricing workplace
parking (Measure T 12) or implementing employee parking
“cash out” (Measure T 13).

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 87. Up to 26.0 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

7 T 7 Implement Commute Trip
Reduction Marketing

This measure will implement a marketing strategy to promote the project site employer’s CTR
program. Information sharing and marketing promote and educate employees about their
travel choices to the employment location beyond driving such as carpooling, taking transit,
walking, and biking, thereby reducing VMT and GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

The following features (or similar alternatives) of the marketing strategy are essential
for effectiveness.
Onsite or online commuter information services.
Employee transportation coordinators.
Onsite or online transit pass sales.
Guaranteed ride home service.

This measure could be packaged with other commute trip
reduction measures (Measures T 8 through T 13) as a
comprehensive CTR program (Measure T 5 or T 6).

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 90. Up to 4.0 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
170



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

8 T 8 Provide Ridesharing Program

This measure will implement a ridesharing program and establish a permanent transportation
management association with funding requirements for employers. Ridesharing encourages
carpooled vehicle trips in place of single occupied vehicle trips, thereby reducing the number
of trips, VMT, and GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

Ridesharing must be promoted through a multifaceted approach. Examples include the
following.
Designating a certain percentage of desirable parking spaces for ridesharing vehicles.
Designating adequate passenger loading and unloading and waiting areas for

ridesharing vehicles.
Providing an app or website for coordinating rides.

When providing a ridesharing program, a best practice is to
establish funding by a non revocable funding mechanism for
employer provided subsidies. In addition, encourage use of
low emission ridesharing vehicles (e.g., shared Uber Green).
This measure could be paired with any combination of the
other commute trip reduction strategies (Measures T 7
through T 13) for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 93. Up to 8.0 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

9 T 9 Implement Subsidized or
Discounted Transit Program

This measure will provide subsidized or discounted, or free transit passes for employees
and/or residents. Reducing the out of pocket cost for choosing transit improves the
competitiveness of transit against driving, increasing the total number of transit trips and
decreasing vehicle trips. This decrease in vehicle trips results in reduced VMT and thus a
reduction in GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

The project should be accessible either within 1 mile of high quality transit service (rail
or bus with headways of less than 15 minutes), 0.5 mile of local or less frequent transit
service, or along a designated shuttle route providing last mile connections to rail
service. If a well established bikeshare service (Measure T 22 A) is available, the site
may be located up to 2 miles from a high quality transit service.
If more than one transit agency serves the site, subsidies should be provided that can be
applied to each of the services available. If subsidies are applied for only one service, all
variable inputs below should also pertain only to the service that is subsidized.

This measure could be paired with any combination of the
other commute trip reduction strategies (Measures T 7
through T 13) for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 96.
Up to 5.5 percent from
employee/resident vehicles
accessing the site

10 T 10 Provide End of Trip Bicycle
Facilities

This measure will install and maintain end of trip facilities for employee use. End of trip
facilities include bike parking, bike lockers, showers, and personal lockers. The provision and
maintenance of secure bike parking and related facilities encourages commuting by bicycle,
thereby reducing VMT and GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site End of trip facilities should be installed at a size proportional to the number of
commuting bicyclists and regularly maintained.

Best practice is to include an onsite bicycle repair station and
post signage on or near secure parking and personal lockers
with information about how to reserve or obtain access to
these amenities.
This measure could be paired with any combination of the
other commute trip reduction strategies (Measures T 7
through T 13) for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 101. Up to 4.4 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

11 T 11 Provide Employer Sponsored
Vanpool

This measure will implement an employer sponsored vanpool service. Vanpooling is a flexible
form of public transportation that provides groups of 5 to 15 people with a cost effective and
convenient rideshare option for commuting. The mode shift from long distance, single
occupied vehicles to shared vehicles reduces overall commute VMT, thereby reducing GHG
emissions.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site Vanpool programs are more appropriate for the building occupant or tenant (i.e.,
employer) to implement and monitor than the building owner or developer.

When implementing a vanpool service, best practice is to
subsidize the cost for employees that have a similar origin
and destination and provide priority parking for employees
that vanpool.
This measure could be paired with any combination of the
other commute trip reduction strategies (Measures T 7
through T 13) for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 105. Up to 20.4 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

12 T 12 Price Workplace Parking

This measure will price onsite parking at workplaces. Because free employee parking is a
common benefit, charging employees to park onsite increases the cost of choosing to drive to
work. This is expected to reduce single occupancy vehicle commute trips, resulting in
decreased VMT, thereby reducing associated GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

Implementation may include the following.
Explicitly charging for employee parking.
Implementing above market rate pricing.
Validating parking only for invited guests (or not providing parking validation at all).
Not providing employee parking and transportation allowances.

In addition, this measure should include marketing and education regarding available
alternatives to driving.

Best practice is to ensure that other transportation options
are available, convenient, and have competitive travel times
(i.e., transit service near the project site, shuttle service, or a
complete active transportation network serving the site and
surrounding community), and that there is not alternative
free parking available nearby (such as on street). This
measure is substantially less effective in environments that
do not have other modes available or where unrestricted
street parking or other offsite parking is available nearby and
has adequate capacity to accommodate project related
vehicle parking demand.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 110. Up to 20.0 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

13 T 13 Implement Employee Parking
Cash Out

This measure will require project employers to offer employee parking cash out. Cash out is
when employers provide employees with a choice of forgoing their current subsidized/free
parking for a cash payment equivalent to or greater than the cost of the parking space. This
encourages employees to use other modes of travel instead of single occupancy vehicles. This
mode shift results in people driving less and thereby reduces VMT and GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Project/Site
To prevent spill over parking and continued use of single occupancy vehicles, residential
parking in the surrounding area must be permitted, and public on street parking must
be market rate.

This measure could be paired with many other commute trip
reduction strategies (Measures T 7 through T 11) for
increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 114. Up to 12.0 percent project/site
employee commute VMT

14 T 14 Provide Electric Vehicle Charging
Infrastructure

Install onsite electric vehicle chargers in an amount beyond what is required by the 2019
California Green Building Standards (CALGreen) at buildings with designated parking areas
(e.g., commercial, educational, retail, multifamily). This will enable drivers of plug in hybrid
electric vehicles (PHEVs) to drive a larger share of miles in electric mode (eVMT), as opposed to
gasoline powered mode, thereby displacing GHG emissions from gasoline consumption with a
lesser amount of indirect emissions from electricity. Most PHEVs owners charge their vehicles
at home overnight. When making trips during the day, the vehicle will switch to gasoline mode
if/when it reaches its maximum all electric range.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site Parking at the chargers must be limited to electric vehicles.

In addition to increasing the percentage of electric miles for
PHEVs, the increased availability of chargers from
implementation of this measure could mitigate consumer
“range anxiety” concerns and increase the adoption and use
of battery electric vehicles (BEVs), but this potential effect is
not included in the calculations as a conservative
assumption. Expanded mitigation could include
quantification of the effect of this measure on BEV use.

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
171



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

15 T 15 Limit Residential Parking Supply

This measure will reduce the total parking supply available at a residential project or site.
Limiting the amount of parking available creates scarcity and adds additional time and
inconvenience to trips made by private auto, thus disincentivizing driving as a mode of travel.
Reducing the convenience of driving results in a shift to other modes and decreased VMT and
thus a reduction in GHG emissions. Evidence of the effects of reduced parking supply is
strongest for residential developments.

Urban, suburban Project/Site
This measure is ineffective in locations where unrestricted street parking or other offsite
parking is available nearby and has adequate capacity to accommodate project related
vehicle parking demand.

When limiting parking supply, a best practice is to do so at
sites that are located near high quality alternative modes of
travel (such as a rail station, frequent bus line, or in a higher
density area with multiple walkable locations nearby).
Limiting parking supply may also allow for more active uses
on any given lot, which may support Measures T 1 and T 2
by allowing for higher density construction.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 123. Up to 13.7 percent from resident
vehicles accessing the site

16 T 16 Unbundle Residential Parking
Costs from Property Cost

This measure will unbundle, or separate, a residential project’s parking costs from property
costs, requiring those who wish to purchase parking spaces to do so at an additional cost. On
the assumption that parking costs are passed through to the vehicle owners/drivers utilizing
the parking spaces, this measure results in decreased vehicle ownership and, therefore, a
reduction in VMT and GHG emissions. Unbundling may not be available to all residential
developments, depending on funding sources.

Urban, suburban Project/Site Parking costs must be passed through to the vehicle owners/drivers utilizing the parking
spaces for this measure to result in decreased vehicle ownership.

Pair with Measure T 19 A or T 19 B to ensure that residents
who eliminate their vehicle and shift to a bicycle can safely
access the area’s bikeway network.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 127. Up to 15.7 percent project VMT in
the study area

17 T 17 Improve Street Connectivity

This measure accounts for the VMT reduction achieved by a project that is designed with a
higher density of vehicle intersections compared to the average intersection density in the U.S.
Increased vehicle intersection density is a proxy for street connectivity improvements, which
help to facilitate a greater number of shorter trips and thus a reduction in GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community
Projects that increase intersection density would be building a new street network in a
subdivision or retrofitting an existing street network to improve connectivity (e.g.,
converting cul de sacs or dead end streets to grid streets).

Pair with Measure T 18, Provide Pedestrian Network
Improvement, to best support use of the local pedestrian
network.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 131. Up to 30.0 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

18 T 18 Provide Pedestrian Network
Improvement

This measure will increase the sidewalk coverage to improve pedestrian access. Providing
sidewalks and an enhanced pedestrian network encourages people to walk instead of drive.
This mode shift results in a reduction in VMT and GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban, rural Plan/Community

The GHG reduction of this measure is based on the VMT reduction associated with
expansion of sidewalk coverage expansion, which includes not only building of new
sidewalks but also improving degraded or substandard sidewalk (e.g., damaged from
street tree roots). However, pedestrian network enhancements with non quantifiable
GHG reductions are encouraged to be implemented, as discussed under Expanded
Mitigation Options.

When improving sidewalks, a best practice is to ensure they
are contiguous and link externally with existing and planned
pedestrian facilities. Barriers to pedestrian access and
interconnectivity, such as walls, landscaping buffers, slopes,
and unprotected crossings should be minimized. Other best
practice features could include high visibility crosswalks,
pedestrian hybrid beacons, and other pedestrian signals, mid
block crossing walks, pedestrian refuge islands, speed tables,
bulb outs (curb extensions), curb ramps, signage, pavement
markings, pedestrian only connections and districts,
landscaping, and other improvements to pedestrian safety
(see Measure T 35, Provide Traffic Calming Measures).

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 134. Up to 6.4 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

19 T 19 A Construct or Improve Bike Facility

This measure will construct or improve a single bicycle lane facility (only Class I, II, or IV) that
connects to a larger existing bikeway network. Providing bicycle infrastructure helps to
improve biking conditions within an area. This encourages a mode shift on the roadway
parallel to the bicycle facility from vehicles to bicycles, displacing VMT and thus reducing GHG
emissions. When constructing or improving a bicycle facility, a best practice is to consider local
or state bike lane width standards. A variation of this measure is provided as T 19 B, Construct
or Improve Bike Boulevard.

Urban, suburban

Plan/Community. This
measure reduces VMT on
the roadway segment
parallel to the bicycle
facility (i.e., the corridor).
An adjustment factor is
included in the formula to
scale the VMT reduction
from the corridor level to
the plan/community level.

The bicycle lane facility must be either Class I, II, or IV. Class I bike paths are physically
separated from motor vehicle traffic. Class IV bikeways are protected on street
bikeways, also called cycle tracks. Class II bike lanes are striped bicycle lanes that
provide exclusive use to bicycles on a roadway.

Implement alongside Measures T 22 A, T 22 B, and/or T 22
C to ensure that micromobility users can ride safely along
bicycle lane facilities and not have to ride along pedestrian
infrastructure, which is a risk to pedestrian safety.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 138. Up to 0.8 percent from vehicles
on parallel roadways

20 T 19 B Construct or Improve Bike
Boulevard

Construct or improve a single bicycle boulevard that connects to a larger existing bikeway
network. Bicycle boulevards are a designation within Class III Bikeway that create safe, low
stress connections for people biking and walking on streets. This encourages a mode shift from
vehicles to bicycles, displacing VMT and thus reducing GHG emissions. A variation of this
measure is provided as T 19 A, Construct or Improve Bike Facility, which is for Class I, II, or IV
bicycle infrastructure.

Urban, suburban

Plan/Community. This
measure reduces VMT on
the roadway segment
parallel to the bicycle
facility (i.e., the corridor).
An adjustment factor is
included in the formula to
scale the VMT reduction
from the corridor level to
the plan/community level.

The following roadway conditions must be met.
Functional classification: local and collector if there is no more than a single general

purpose travel lane in each direction.
Design speed: <= 25 miles per hour.
Design volume <= 5,000 average daily traffic.
Treatments at major intersections: both directions have traffic signals (or an effective

control device that prioritizes pedestrian and bicycle access such as rapid flashing
beacons, pedestrian hybrid beacons, high intensity activated crosswalks, TOUCANs),
bike route signs, “sharrowed” roadway markings, and pedestrian crosswalks.

Construct boulevards with forced turns for vehicles every
few blocks to minimize through traffic while ensuring that
speed and volume metrics are met. Implement alongside
Measures T 22 A, T 22 B, and/or T 22 C to ensure that
micromobility users can ride safely along bicycle lane
facilities and not pedestrian infrastructure, which is a risk to
pedestrian safety.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 143. Up to 0.2 percent from vehicles
on roadways

21 T 20 Expand Bikeway Network

This measure will increase the length of a city or community bikeway network. A bicycle
network is an interconnected system of bike lanes, bike paths, bike routes, and cycle tracks.
Providing bicycle infrastructure with markings and signage on appropriately sized roads with
vehicle traffic traveling at safe speeds helps to improve biking conditions (e.g., safety and
convenience). In addition, expanded bikeway networks can increase access to and from transit
hubs, thereby expanding the “catchment area” of the transit stop or station and increasing
ridership. This encourages a mode shift from vehicles to bicycles, displacing VMT and thus
reducing GHG emissions. When expanding a bicycle network, a best practice is to consider bike
lane width standards from local agencies, state agencies, or the National Association of City
Transportation Officials’ Urban Bikeway Design Guide.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community The bikeway network must consist of either Class I, II, or IV infrastructure.

As networks expand, ensure safe, secure, and weather
protected bicycle parking facilities at origins and
destinations. Also, implement alongside T 22 A, T 22 B,
and/or T 22 C to ensure that micromobility options can ride
safely along bicycle lane facilities and not have to ride along
pedestrian infrastructure, which is a risk to pedestrian
safety.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 147. Up to 0.5 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
172



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

22 T 21 A Implement Conventional
Carshare Program

This measure will increase carshare access in the user’s community by deploying conventional
carshare vehicles. Carsharing offers people convenient access to a vehicle for personal or
commuting purposes. This helps encourage transportation alternatives and reduces vehicle
ownership, thereby avoiding VMT and associated GHG emissions. A variation of this measure,
electric carsharing, is described in Measure T 21 B, Implement Electric Carshare Program.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community

The GHG mitigation potential is based, in part, on literature analyzing one way
carsharing service with a free floating operational model. This measure should be
applied with caution if using a different form of carsharing (e.g., roundtrip, peer to
peer, fractional).

When implementing a carshare program, best practice is to
discount carshare membership and provide priority parking
for carshare vehicles to encourage use of the service.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 151. Up to 0.15 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

23 T 21 B Implement Electric Carshare
Program

This measure will increase carshare access in the user’s community by deploying electric
carshare vehicles. Carsharing offers people convenient access to a vehicle for personal or
commuting purposes. This helps encourage transportation alternatives and reduces vehicle
ownership, thereby avoiding VMT and associated GHG emissions. This also encourages a mode
shift from internal combustion engine vehicles to electric vehicles, displacing the emissions
intensive fossil fuel energy with less emissions intensive electricity. Electric carshare vehicles
require more staffing support compared to conventional carshare programs for shuttling
electric vehicles to and from charging points. A variation of this measure, conventional
carsharing, is described in Measure T 21 A, Implement Conventional Carshare Program.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community

The GHG mitigation potential is based, in part, on literature analyzing one way
carsharing service with a free floating operational model. This measure should be
applied with caution if using a different form of carsharing (e.g., roundtrip, peer to
peer, fractional).

When implementing a carshare program, best practice is to
discount carshare membership and provide priority parking
for carshare vehicles to encourage use of the service.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 158.

Up to 0.18 percent GHG
reduction from vehicle travel in
the plan/community. Please refer
to VMT reduction formula on
CAPCOA Manual, page 158.

24 T 22 A Implement Pedal (Non Electric)
Bikeshare Program

This measure will establish a bikeshare program. Bikeshare programs provide users with on
demand access to bikes for short term rentals. This encourages a mode shift from vehicles to
bicycles, displacing VMT and thus reducing GHG emissions. Variations of this measure are
described in Measure T 22 B, Implement Electric Bikeshare Program, and Measure T 22 C,
Implement Scootershare Program.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community
The GHG mitigation potential is based, in part, on literature analyzing docked (i.e.,
station based) bikeshare programs. This measure should be applied with caution if
using dockless (free floating) bikeshare.

Best practice is to discount bikeshare membership and
dedicate bikeshare parking to encourage use of the service.
Also consider including space on the vehicle to store
personal items while traveling, such as a basket.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 160. Up to 0.02 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

25 T 22 B Implement Electric Bikeshare
Program

This measure will establish an electric bikeshare program. Electric bikeshare programs provide
users with on demand access to electric pedal assist bikes for short term rentals. This
encourages a mode shift from vehicles to electric bicycles, displacing VMT and reducing GHG
emissions. Variations of this measure are described in Measure T 22 A, Implement Pedal (Non
Electric) Bikeshare Program, and Measure T 22 C, Implement Scootershare Program.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community
The GHG mitigation potential is based, in part, on literature analyzing docked (i.e.,
station based) bikeshare programs. This measure should be applied with caution if
using dockless (free floating) bikeshare.

Best practice is to discount electric bikeshare membership
and dedicate electric bikeshare parking to encourage use of
the service. Consider also including space on the vehicle to
store personal items while traveling, such as a basket.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 164.

Up to 0.06 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community.
This quantification methodology
does not account for the miles
traveled from vehicle travel of
program employees picking up
and dropping off bikes.

26 T 22 C Implement Scootershare Program

This measure will establish a scootershare program. Scootershare programs provide users with
on demand access to electric scooters for short term rentals. This encourages a mode shift
from vehicles to scooters, displacing VMT and thus reducing GHG emissions. Variations of this
measure are described in Measure T 22 A, Implement Pedal (Non Electric) Bikeshare Program,
and Measure T 22 B, Implement Electric Bikeshare Program.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community
The GHG mitigation potential is based, in part, on literature analyzing docked (i.e.,
station based) bikeshare programs. This measure should be applied with caution given
the likely higher popularity of scootershare compared to bikeshare.

Best practice is to discount scootershare membership and
dedicate scootershare parking to encourage use of the
service. Consider also including space on the vehicle to store
personal items while traveling, such as a basket.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 168.

Up to 0.07 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community.
This quantification methodology
does not account for the miles
traveled from vehicle travel of
program employees picking up
and dropping off scooters.

27 T 23 Provide Community Based Travel
Planning

This measure will target residences in the plan/community with community based travel
planning (CBTP). CBTP is a residential based approach to outreach that provides households
with customized information, incentives, and support to encourage the use of transportation
alternatives in place of single occupancy vehicles, thereby reducing household VMT and
associated GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community

CBTP involves teams of trained travel advisors visiting all households within a targeted
geographic area, having tailored conversations about residents’ travel needs, and
educating residents about the various transportation options available to them. Due to
the personalized outreach method, communities are typically targeted in phases.

Pair with any of the Measures from T 17 through T 22 C to
ensure that residents that are targeted by CBTP who want to
use alternative transportation have the infrastructure and
technology to do so.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 172. Up to 2.3 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

28 T 24 Implement Market Price Public
Parking (On Street)

This measure will price all on street parking in a given community, with a focus on parking
near central business districts, employment centers, and retail centers. Increasing the cost of
parking increases the total cost of driving to a location, incentivizing shifts to other modes and
thus decreasing total VMT to and from the priced areas. This VMT reduction results in a
corresponding reduction in GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community

When pricing on street parking, best practice is to allow for dynamic adjustment of
prices to ensure approximately 85 percent occupancy, which helps prevent induced
VMT due to circling behaviors as individuals search for a vacant parking space. In
addition, this method should primarily be implemented in areas with available
alternatives to driving, such as transit availability within 0.5. mile or areas of high
residential density nearby (allowing for increased walking/biking). If the measure is
implemented in a small area, residential parking permit programs should be considered
to prevent parking intrusion on nearby streets in residential areas without priced
parking.

Pricing on street parking also helps support individual
projects with priced onsite parking by removing potential
alternative parking locations.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 175. Up to 30.0 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
173



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

29 T 25 Extend Transit Network Coverage
or Hours

This measure will expand the local transit network by either adding or modifying existing
transit service or extending the operation hours to enhance the service near the project site.
Starting services earlier in the morning and/or extending services to late night hours can
accommodate the commuting times of alternative shift workers. This will encourage the use of
transit and therefore reduce VMT and associated GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community
There are two primary means of expanding the transit network: by increasing the
frequency of service, thereby reducing average wait times and increasing convenience,
or by extending service to cover new areas and times.

This measure is focused on providing additional transit
network coverage, with no changes to transit frequency. This
measure can be paired with Measure T 26, Increase Transit
Service Frequency, which is focused on increasing transit
service frequency, for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 179. Up to 4.6 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

30 T 26 Increase Transit Service
Frequency

This measure will increase transit frequency on one or more transit lines serving the
plan/community. Increased transit frequency reduces waiting and overall travel times, which
improves the user experience and increases the attractiveness of transit service. This results in
a mode shift from single occupancy vehicles to transit, which reduces VMT and associated
GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community Refer to measure description.

This measure is focused on providing increased transit
frequency, with no changes to transit network coverage. This
measure can be paired with Measure T 25, Extend Transit
Network Coverage or Hours, which is focused on increasing
transit network coverage, for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 185.

Up to 11.3 percent GHG
reduction from vehicle travel in
the plan/community. Please refer
to VMT reduction formula on
CAPCOA Manual, page 185.

31 T 27 Implement Transit Supportive
Roadway Treatments

This measure will implement transit supportive treatments on the transit routes serving the
plan/community. Transit supportive treatments incorporate a mix of roadway infrastructure
improvements and/or traffic signal modifications to improve transit travel times and reliability.
This results in a mode shift from single occupancy vehicles to transit, which reduces VMT and
the associated GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community Treatments can include transit signal priority, bus only signal phases, queue jumps, curb
extensions to speed passenger loading, and dedicated bus lanes.

This measure could be paired with other Transit subsector
strategies (Measure T 25 and Measure T 29) for increased
reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 189. Up to 0.6 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

32 T 28 Provide Bus Rapid Transit

This measure will convert an existing bus route to a bus rapid transit (BRT) system. BRT
includes the following additional components, compared to traditional bus service: exclusive
right of way (e.g., busways, queue jumping lanes) at congested intersections, increased limited
stop service (e.g., express service), intelligent transportation technology (e.g., transit signal
priority, automatic vehicle location systems), advanced technology vehicles (e.g., articulated
buses, low floor buses), enhanced station design, efficient fare payment smart cards or
smartphone apps, branding of the system, and use of vehicle guidance systems. BRT can
increase the transit mode share in a community due to improved travel times, service
frequencies, and the unique components of the BRT system. This mode shift reduces VMT and
the associated GHG emissions.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community

The measure quantification methodology accounts for the increase in ridership from (1)
improved travel times from transit signal prioritization, (2) increased service frequency,
and (3) the unique ridership increase associated with a full featured BRT service
operating on a fully segregated running way with specialized (or stylized) vehicles,
attractive stations, and efficient fare collection practices. To take credit for the
estimated emissions reduction, the user should implement, at minimum, these
components.

This measure could be paired with Measure T 25, Extend
Transit Network Coverage or Hours, and Measure T 29,
Reduce Transit Fares, for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 193.

Up to 13.8 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community.
Please refer to VMT reduction
formula on CAPCOA Manual,
page 195.

33 T 29 Reduce Transit Fares

This measure will reduce transit fares on the transit lines serving the plan/community. A
reduction in transit fares creates incentives to shift travel to transit from single occupancy
vehicles and other traveling modes, which reduces VMT and associated GHG emissions. This
measure differs from Measure T 8, Implement Subsidized or Discounted Transit Program,
which can be offered through employer based benefits programs in which the employer fully
or partially pays the employee’s cost of transit.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community Transit fare reductions can be implemented systemwide or in specific fare free or
reduced fare zones.

This measure could be paired with other Transit subsector
strategies (Measure T 25, Extend Transit Network Coverage
or Hours, and Measure T 26, Increase Transit Service
Frequency) for increased reductions.

Refer to CAPCOA Manual, page 200. Up to 1.2 percent from vehicle
travel in the plan/community

34 T 30 Use Cleaner Fuel Vehicles

This measure requires use of cleaner fuel vehicles in lieu of similar vehicles powered by
gasoline or diesel fuel. Cleaner fuel vehicles addressed in this measure include electric
vehicles, natural gas and propane vehicles, and vehicles powered by biofuels such as
composite diesel (blend of renewable diesel, biodiesel, and conventional fossil diesel), ethanol,
and renewable natural gas.
The full GHG emissions impact of cleaner fuels depends on the emissions from the vehicle’s
tailpipe as well as the emissions associated with production of the fuel (sometimes termed
“upstream” emissions). For example, tailpipe GHG emissions from renewable natural gas are
identical to tailpipe GHG emissions from conventional natural gas; the GHG benefits of
renewable natural gas come from the fact that it is produced from biomass. Similarly, BEVs
have zero tailpipe emissions, but properly accounting for their GHG impacts requires
quantifying the emissions associated with the electricity generation needed to charge the
vehicle’s batteries.

Not applicable Project/Site or
Plan/Community

If using electric vehicles, pair with Measure T 14 to ensure
that electric vehicles have sufficient access to charging
infrastructure.

35 T 31 A Locate Project in Area with High
Destination Accessibility

The measure requires development in an area with high accessibility to destinations.
Destination accessibility is measured in terms of the number of jobs or other attractions (e.g.,
schools, supermarkets, and health care services) that are reachable within a given travel time
or travel distance, and tends to be highest at central locations and lowest at peripheral ones.
When destinations are nearby, the travel time between them is less, thus increasing the
potential for people to walk and bike to those destinations and, therefore, reducing the VMT
and associated GHG emissions. As an implementation consideration, projects should consider
accessibility by people of all functional abilities and incorporate design principles such as
Universal Design.

Urban, suburban Project/Site This is a variation of measure T 31 B.

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
174



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

36 T 31 B Improve Destination Accessibility
in Undeserved Areas

This measure accounts for the VMT reduction that would be achieved by constructing job
centers or other attractions (e.g., schools, supermarkets, and health care services) for
residents in underserved areas (e.g., food deserts). When destinations are nearby, the travel
time between them is less, thus increasing the potential for people to walk and bike to those
destinations, reducing VMT and associated GHG emissions. As an implementation
consideration, projects should consider accessibility by people of all functional abilities and
incorporate design principles such as Universal Design.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community This is a variation of measure T 31 A.

37 T 32 Orient Project Toward Transit,
Bicycle, or Pedestrian Facility

This measure requires projects to minimize setback distance between the project and planned
or existing transit, bicycle, or pedestrian corridors. A project that is designed around an
existing or planned transit, bicycle, or pedestrian corridor encourages sustainable mode use.
As an implementation consideration, projects should consider accessibility by people of all
functional abilities and incorporate design principles such as Universal Design.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site

38 T 33 Locate Project near Bike
Path/Bike Lane

This measure requires projects to be located within 0.5 mile bicycling distance to an existing
Class I or IV path or Class II bike lane. A project that is designed around an existing or planned
bicycle facility encourages sustainable mode use. The project design should include a
comparable network that connects the project uses to the existing off site facilities that
connect to work/retail destinations. As an implementation consideration, projects should
provide sufficient and convenient bicycle parking and long term storage, ideally near the bike
lane itself, for residents, employees, and visitors, and a bicycle repair station with tools and
equipment.

Urban, suburban Project/Site This measure can be implemented with Measure T 9.

39 T 34 Provide Bike Parking

This measure requires projects provide short term and long term bicycle parking facilities to
meet peak season maximum demand. Parking can be provided in designated areas or added
within rights of way, including by replacing parking spaces with bike parking corrals. Ensure
that bike parking can be accessed by all, not just project employees or residents.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site or
Plan/Community

40 T 35 Provide Traffic Calming Measures

This measure requires projects to include pedestrian/bicycle safety and traffic calming
measures above jurisdictional requirements. Roadways should also be designed to reduce
motor vehicle speeds and encourage pedestrian and bicycle trips with traffic calming features.
Traffic calming features may include marked crosswalks, count down signal timers, curb
extensions, speed tables, raised crosswalks, raised intersections, median islands, tight corner
radii, roundabouts or mini circles, on street parking, planter strips with street trees,
chicanes/chokers, and others. Providing traffic calming measures encourages people to walk
or bike instead of using a vehicle. This mode shift will result in a decrease in vehicle miles
traveled. Traffic calming also promotes active transportation, which improves physical health.

Urban, suburban, rural Plan/Community

41 T 36 Create Urban Non Motorized
Zones

The measure requires projects to convert a percentage of its roadway miles to transit malls,
linear parks, or other non motorized zones. These features encourage non motorized travel
and thus a reduction in vehicle miles traveled. This measure is only applicable to projects
located in urban environments. Consider access issues for paratransit users and those with
mobility impairments.

Urban Plan/Community

42 T 37 Dedicate Land for Bike Trails

This measure requires projects to provide for, contribute to, or dedicate land for the provision
of off site bicycle trails linking the project to designated bicycle commuting routes in
accordance with an adopted citywide or countywide bikeway plan. Existing desire paths can
make good locations, as it represents a community identified transportation need.

Urban, suburban, rural Plan/Community

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
175



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

43 T 38 Provide First and Last Mile TNC
Incentives

This measure requires a first last mile partnership between a municipality/transit agency and a
transportation network company (TNC) for subsidized, shared TNC rides to or from the local
transit station within a specific geographic area. This measure encourages a shift to transit
mode for longer trips. Consider providing inclusive mechanisms so people without bank
accounts, credit cards, or smart phones can access the incentives.

Urban, suburban, rural (only if the
project is adjacent to a commuter
rail station with convenient rail
service to a major employment
center)

Plan/Community

44 T 39 Implement Preferential Parking
Permit Program

This measure requires projects provide preferential parking in terms of free or reduced parking
fees, priority parking, or reserved parking in convenient locations (such as near public
transportation or building entrances) for commuters who carpool, vanpool, ride share or use
sustainably fueled vehicles. Projects should also provide wide parking spaces to accommodate
vanpool vehicles. Commercial preferential parking can accommodate workers who work non
standard hours by providing opportunities to participate. Residential preferential parking can
consider an equitable distribution of permits, giving priority to owners of sustainably fueled
vehicles.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

45 T 40 Implement School Bus Program

This measure will provide school bus service transporting students to a school project. A school
bus service can reduce the number of private vehicle trips to drop off or pick up students,
thereby reducing VMT and associated GHG emissions, as well as onsite air pollution emissions,
especially if the bus is zero emissions. Best practices include concentrating service for students
who live further away from schools, providing service both before and after school, and
encouraging parents to utilize the service. This measure is more effective at schools that draw
students from a larger enrollment area, such as high schools or private schools.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site

46 T 41 Implement a School Pool Program

This measure requires projects create a ridesharing program for school children. Most school
districts provide bussing services to public schools only. School pool helps match parents to
transport students to private schools, or to schools where students cannot walk or bike but do
not meet the requirements for bussing. A school pool program can help reduce onsite air
pollutant emissions at the school by reducing private vehicle trips, especially if the pool vehicle
is zero emissions.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site

47 T 42
Implement Telecommute and/or
Alternative Work Schedule
Program

This measure requires projects to permit employee telecommuting and/or alternative work
schedules and monitor employee involvement to ensure forecasted participation matches
observed participation. While this measure certainly reduces commute related VMT, recent
research has shown that total VMT from telecommuters can exceed VMT from non
telecommuters. In addition, telecommuting affects commercial and residential electricity use,
complicating the calculation of the net effect and attribution of emissions. More specifically,
an office with fewer employees could result in a decrease in the project’s energy used to
operate equipment and provide space heating and air conditioning. Conversely, an increase in
telecommuters using their private homes as workspaces could result in a residential increase
in energy for those same end uses and appliances. While this measure is currently not
quantified and, according to some studies, could result in total VMT increases and other
disbenefits, it is recommended that users review the most recent literature at the time of their
project initiation to see if new findings more conclusively support a quantifiable emissions
reduction.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site

48 T 43 Provide Real Time Transit
Information

This measure requires projects provide real time bus/train/ferry arrival time, travel time,
alternative routings, or other transit information via electronic message signs, dedicated
monitor or interactive electronic displays, websites, or mobile apps. This makes transit service
more convenient and may result in a mode shift from auto to transit, which reduces VMT.

Urban, suburban, rural Plan/Community

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
176



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

49 T 44 Provide Shuttles (Gas or Electric)

This measure will provide local shuttle service through coordination with the local transit
operator or private contractor. The shuttles will provide service to and from commercial
centers to nearby transit centers to help with first and last mile connectivity, thereby
incentivizing a shift from private vehicles to transit, reducing associated GHG emissions.
Electric shuttle vehicles provide a marginally more effective reduction to GHG emissions
compared to gas or diesel fueled shuttles due to their use of less emissions intensive electric
power. Shuttles that serve only the project residents and/or employees may be seen as
increasing gentrification and exclusionary. Consider allowing all people to use the shuttle,
regardless of status. Note that this measure can also be implemented at the Project/Site scale
by a large employer as part of a Trip Reduction Program.

Urban, suburban Project/Site

50 T 45 Provide On Demand Microtransit

This measure will provide small scale, on demand public transit services that can offer fixed
routes and schedules or flexible routes and on demand scheduling (e.g., Metro Micro) through
coordination with the local transit operator or private contractor. Microtransit aims to offer
shorter wait times and improved reliability compared to the bus and rail system to further
incentivize alternative transportation modes that are less emissions intensive than private
vehicle trips. On demand rides can be booked using smartphone applications or call centers.
Note that this measure may also be applicable at the Project/Site scale for a large employer
(e.g., Google’s Via2G pilot) as part of a Trip Reduction Program.

Urban, suburban Project/Site or
Plan/Community

51 T 46 Improve Transit Access, Safety,
and Comfort

This measure requires projects improve transit access and safety through sidewalk/crosswalk
safety enhancements, bus shelter improvements, improved lighting, and other features. Work
with the community to determine barriers to use, most desired improvements, and other
access challenges.

Urban, suburban, rural (only if the
project is adjacent to a commuter
rail station with convenient rail
service to a major employment
center, or if there is available
transit and the project is close to
jobs/services)

Plan/Community

52 T 47 Provide Bike Parking Near Transit

This measure requires the project to provide short term and long term bicycle parking near rail
stations, transit stops, and freeway access points where there are commuter or rapid bus lines.
Include locations for shared micromobility devices as well as higher security parking for
personal bicycles.

Urban, suburban Plan/Community

53 T 48 Implement Area or Cordon Pricing

This measure requires projects implement a cordon pricing scheme. The pricing scheme will
set a cordon (boundary) around a specified area to charge a toll to enter the area by vehicle.
The cordon location is usually the boundary of a central business district or urban center but
could also apply to substantial development projects with limited points of access. The toll
price can be based on a fixed schedule or be dynamic, responding to real time congestion
levels. It is critical to have an existing, high quality transit infrastructure for the
implementation of this strategy to reach a significant level of effectiveness. The pricing signals
will only cause mode shifts if alternative modes of travel are available and reliable. This
measure should provide an exception for low income residents or workers within the pricing
zone.

Urban Plan/Community

54 T 49 Replace Traffic Controls with
Roundabout

This measure requires projects install a roundabout as a traffic control device to smooth traffic
flow, reduce idling, eliminate bottlenecks, and manage speed. In some cases, roundabouts can
improve traffic flow and reduce emissions. The emission reduction depends heavily on what
the roundabout is compared to (e.g., uncontrolled intersection, stop sign, traffic signal). Design
roundabout so cyclists have the option to join traffic or bypass the roundabout with an
adjacent path.

Urban, suburban, rural Plan/Community

55 T 50
Required Project Contributions to
Transportation Infrastructure
Improvement

This measure requires projects contribute to traffic flow improvements or other multi modal
infrastructure projects that reduce emissions and are not considered as substantially growth
inducing. The local transportation agency should be consulted for specific needs. Larger
projects may be required to contribute a proportionate share to the development and/or
continuation of a regional transit system. Contributions may consist of dedicated right of way,
capital improvements, or easements. Ensure the jurisdictional fee system does not
disadvantage infill projects over greenfield projects.

Urban, suburban, rural Plan/Community

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
177



No.
CAPCOA
Mitigation

Measure No.
Mitigation Measure Measure Description Locational Context Scale of Application Implementation Requirements Expanded Mitigation Options Formula VMT Reduction

Table F Vehicle Miles Traveled Mitigation Measures for Land Development Projects

56 T 51 Install Park and Ride Lots

This measure requires projects install park and ride lots near transit stops and high occupancy
vehicle lanes. Park and ride lots also facilitate car and vanpooling. Parking lots can also
incorporate cool pavements, tree canopy, or solar photovoltaic shade canopies to reduce the
urban heat island effect as well as evaporative emissions from parked vehicles and dedicated
electric vehicle parking spots and/or charging infrastructure.

Suburban, rural Plan/Community

57 T 52 Designate Zero Emissions Delivery
Zones

This measure requires the municipality to designate certain curbside locations as commercial
loading zones exclusively available for zero emission commercial delivery vehicles. Doing so
replaces tailpipe diesel emissions from last mile delivery vehicles as well as heavy duty drayage
trucks moving goods with less emissions intensive electric vehicles and potentially
micromobility for food and parcel delivery. Locations should be prioritized based on land use
density and existing exposure from air pollution.

Urban Plan/Community

58 T 53 Electrify Loading Docks

This measure will require that Transport Refrigeration Units and auxiliary power units (APUs)
be plugged into the electric grid at the loading dock instead of running on diesel. The indirect
GHG emission from electricity generation can partially offset the emissions reduction from fuel
reductions. Electrifying loading docks can reduce exposure to air pollutants for workers and
drivers.

Urban, suburban, rural Project/Site

59 T 54 Install Hydrogen Fueling
Infrastructure

The measure requires projects to implement accessible hydrogen fuel cell fueling
infrastructure. Drivers of fuel cell electric vehicles (FCEV), from individual passenger vehicles to
haul truck fleets, will be able to refuel using this infrastructure. The expansion of hydrogen
fueling locations indirectly supports the uptake of FCEV in place of the typical internal
combustion engine vehicle fueled by carbon emitting gasoline and diesel.

Project/Site or
Plan/Community

Source: Handbook for Analyzing Greenhouse Gas Emission Reductions, Assessing Climate Vulnerabilities, and Advancing Health and Equity, Final Draft, by the California Air Pollution Control Officers Association, December 2021.

P:\LMR2201 Lemoore VMT Guidelines\Report\Table F VMT Mitigations_City of Lemoore.xlsx\Land Dev Proj (3/15/2023)
178



      
City of

LEMOORE
CALIFORNIA 

711 West Cinnamon Drive Lemoore, California 93245 (559) 924-6744  

Staff Report
                 

To: Lemoore City Council
From: Marisa Avalos, City Clerk
Date: June 15, 2023 Meeting Date: June 19, 2023 
Subject: Activity Update
Strategic 
Initiative:

Safe & Vibrant Community
Fiscally Sound Government  
Community & Neighborhood       

L   Livability

Growing & Dynamic Economy
Operational Excellence
Not Applicable 

Reports

Warrant Register – FY 22/23 May 19, 2023
Warrant Register – FY 22/23 May 26, 2023
Warrant Register – FY 22/23 June 2, 2023
Warrant Register – FY 22/23 June 9, 2023

179



180



181



182



183



184



185



186



187



188



189



190



191



192



193



194



195



196



197



198



199



200



201



202



203



204



205



206



207



208



209



210



211



212



213



214



215



216



217



218



219



220



221



222



223



224



225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289


